
City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3 

City of Belton, Texas 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 26, 2019 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room, Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 

Councilmember David K. Leigh will participate in the meeting 
via video conference from Mammoth Lakes, California. 

Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Boy Scout 
Troop 177. 

Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Boy Scout 
Troop 177. 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Jeff Miller, Pastor of First United Methodist 
Church. 

1. Call to order.

2. Public Comments.

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your
name and address for the record, and limit your comments to three minutes.
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1)
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda.

Consent Agenda 

Items 3-6 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3 
 
 

3. Consider minutes of February 12, 2019, City Council meeting. 
 

4. Consider approval of a revised employment agreement for the City Manager. 
 
5. Consider a resolution authorizing the submission of an application for Community 

Development Block Grant funds that proposes to replace the water line on N. East 
Street and E. 5th Street. 

 
6. Consider authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Fadil Thaqi, 112 East Central 

Avenue. 
 
Planning and Zoning 
 
7. Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Multi Family 

District on 2.24 acres comprising Lot 2, Block 1, Brentham Addition, located at 406 
N. Loop 121, near the northeast corner of W. 2nd Avenue and N. Loop 121.   
 

8. Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Commercial-1 to Planned 
Development Office-2 District with a Specific Use Permit for the operation of a bail 
bond business on a 0.18 acre tract located at 795 E. Central Avenue, at the 
southeast corner of E. Central Avenue and S. Birdwell Street.   

 
9. Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VI, a 65.05 acre tract located generally 

east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the south side of an extension of Three 
Creeks Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
10. Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VII, a 21.56 acre tract located generally 

east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the north side of an extension of Three 
Creeks Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
11. Consider a final plat of Eagles Bend Subdivision, comprising 23.186 acres, located 

along the north side of Sparta Road, beginning approximately 300’ east of Sparta 
Lane, and along the south side of Eagle Point West, beginning approximately 200’ 
west of Summit Circle, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
12. Consider a final plat of Sherwood Shores IX, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, 

Camelot Section, Lots 591 and 592, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and 
west of FM 1670, on the north side of Goodrich Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in 
Belton’s ETJ. 

 
13. Consider a final plat of Lopez Addition, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, Camelot 

Section, Lots 567 and 568, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of 
FM 1670, on the south side of Kimberly Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s 
ETJ. 

 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3 
 
 

Miscellaneous  
 
14. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance on second and final reading 

granting a franchise to Atmos Energy.  
 

15. Consider the following: 
 

A. Authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel, 106 West Central Avenue 
(North façade); and 

B. An appeal to the City Council by Jo Mapel regarding the decision of the Historic 
Preservation Commission to disapprove the Certificate of Appropriateness 
application for the South façade (front) of the building at 106 W. Central Avenue. 
 

16. Consider an amendment to the professional services agreement with Halff 
Associates to allow for additional survey work for the South Belton Sewer Phase II. 
 

17. Consider a request to settle outstanding liens on 915 South Pearl Street, Belton, TX 
(BellCad Property ID 37060) 

 
18. Consider a resolution supporting 2019 Texas Legislative Priorities. 
 
 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time 
regarding any issue on this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 
 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
City Council Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 26, 2019 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room, Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 
 

 
OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 

 
Councilmember David K. Leigh will participate in the meeting 

via video conference from Mammoth Lakes, California. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Boy Scout 
Troop 177. 
 
Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by Boy Scout 
Troop 177. 
 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

 
Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Jeff Miller, Pastor of First United Methodist 
Church. 
 
1. Call to order. 
 
2. Public Comments. 
 

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do 
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the 
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your 
name and address for the record, and limit your comments to three minutes. 
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your 
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1) 
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual 
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than 
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 3-6 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
3. Consider minutes of February 12, 2019, City Council meeting. 
 

A copy of the minutes is attached. Recommend approval. 
 
4. Consider approval of a revised employment agreement for the City Manager. 
 

A copy of the revised agreement is attached. Recommend approval. 
 
5. Consider a resolution authorizing the submission of an application for 

Community Development Block Grant funds that proposes to replace the 
water line on N. East Street and E. 5th Street. 

 
See Staff Report from Grants and Special Projects Coordinator Bob van Til. 
Recommend approval of the resolution in support of the grant application. 

 
6. Consider authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Fadil Thaqi, 112 East 

Central Avenue. 
 

See Staff Report from Planner Kelly Atkinson. The Historic Preservation 
Commission met on February 7, 2019, and unanimously recommended approval. 
Staff concurs with their recommendation. 

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
7. Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Multi 

Family District on 2.24 acres comprising Lot 2, Block 1, Brentham Addition, 
located at 406 N. Loop 121, near the northeast corner of W. 2nd Avenue and N. 
Loop 121.   
 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and recommended approval. Staff 
concurs with their recommendation. 
 

8. Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Commercial-1 to 
Planned Development Office-2 District with a Specific Use Permit for the 
operation of a bail bond business on a 0.18 acre tract located at 795 E. Central 
Avenue, at the southeast corner of E. Central Avenue and S. Birdwell Street.   

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and recommended disapproval. 
Staff concurs with their recommendation. Since the P&ZC recommendation was for 
denial, a ¾ majority vote (6 votes) of the Council is required for approval. 
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

9. Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VI, a 65.05 acre tract located 
generally east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the south side of an 
extension of Three Creeks Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and unanimously recommended 
approval. Staff concurs with their recommendation. 

 
10. Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VII, a 21.56 acre tract located 

generally east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the north side of an 
extension of Three Creeks Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 
 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and unanimously recommended 
approval. Staff concurs with their recommendation. 
 

11. Consider a final plat of Eagles Bend Subdivision, comprising 23.186 acres, 
located along the north side of Sparta Road, beginning approximately 300’ 
east of Sparta Lane, and along the south side of Eagle Point West, beginning 
approximately 200’ west of Summit Circle, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and unanimously recommended 
approval. Staff concurs with their recommendation. 

 
12. Consider a final plat of Sherwood Shores IX, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, 

Camelot Section, Lots 591 and 592, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-
14 and west of FM 1670, on the north side of Goodrich Drive, west of Swanson 
Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and unanimously recommended 
approval. Staff concurs with their recommendation. 

 
13. Consider a final plat of Lopez Addition, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, 

Camelot Section, Lots 567 and 568, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-
14 and west of FM 1670, on the south side of Kimberly Drive, west of Swanson 
Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. The Planning and 
Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and unanimously recommended 
approval. Staff concurs with their recommendation. 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
February 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

Miscellaneous  
 
14. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance on second and final reading 

granting a franchise to Atmos Energy.  
 
See Staff Report from City Clerk Amy Casey. Recommend holding the public 
hearing and adopting the ordinance on second and final reading as presented. 
 

15. Consider the following: 
 

A. Authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel, 106 West Central 
Avenue (North façade); and 

B. An appeal to the City Council by Jo Mapel regarding the decision of the 
Historic Preservation Commission to disapprove the Certificate of 
Appropriateness application for the South façade (front) of the building at 
106 W. Central Avenue. 
 

See Staff Reports from Planner Kelly Atkinson.  
 
A. Recommend approval of the North façade Façade Improvement Grant as 

presented.  
B. Recommend denial of the appeal by Jo Mapel, upholding the decision by the 

Historic Preservation Commission regarding the South façade. 
 

16. Consider an amendment to the professional services agreement with Halff 
Associates to allow for additional survey work for the South Belton Sewer 
Phase II. 
 
See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Angellia Points. Recommend 
approval of the amendment as recommended. 
 

17. Consider a request to settle outstanding liens on 915 South Pearl Street, 
Belton, TX (BellCad Property ID 37060) 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Finance Brandon Bozon. Recommend authorizing 
Staff to settle the liens for not less than the City’s hard costs. 

 
18. Consider a resolution supporting 2019 Texas Legislative Priorities. 
 

See Staff Report from City Manager Sam Listi. Recommend adoption of the 
resolution as presented. 

 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time 
regarding any issue on this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – 5:30 P.M. 

 
The Belton City Council met in regular session in the Wright Room at the Harris 
Community Center with the following members present: Mayor Marion Grayson, Mayor 
Pro Tem Craig Pearson and Councilmembers David K. Leigh, Dan Kirkley, Guy 
O’Banion, John R. Holmes, Sr. and Wayne Carpenter. Staff present included Sam Listi, 
Gene Ellis, John Messer, Amy Casey, Brandon Bozon, Chris Brown, Matt Bates, Paul 
Romer, Bob van Til, Bruce Pritchard, Kim Kroll, Judy Garrett, Angellia Points and Cheryl 
Maxwell, and Cynthia Hernandez. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag and the Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas 
Flag were led by Cub Scout Troop #117, and the Invocation was given by Matt 
Thrasher, Pastor of Crossroads Church. 
 
1. Call to order. Mayor Grayson called the meeting to order at 5:32 p.m.  
 

Mayor Grayson recognized Councilmember David K. Leigh for obtaining his 
doctorate from the University of Texas. His dissertation is titled, “Improved Process 
Stability and Ductility in Laser Sintered Polyamide.” 
 

2. Public Comments. There were none. 
 
3. Presentation of Police Department Annual Report including Annual Racial 

Profiling Report. 
 
Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police Gene Ellis presented the Police Department 
Annual Report, including the Racial Profiling Report for 2018. Councilmember Leigh 
asked how “incidents” are defined. Chief Ellis replied that it includes thefts, criminal 
mischief, alcohol offenses and drug offenses among other Part 1 UCR crimes as the 
FBI defines them. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Pearson asked how many officers were injured in the line of duty in 
2018. Chief Ellis said that he has that information, but he does not have it with him. 
He said there were a few, mainly knees and elbows, and the latest was a car 
accident. 
 
Chief Ellis concluded by thanking the Council for their support. No action was 
required by the Council. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 4-8 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 2 
 

  

4. Consider minutes of previous meetings: 
 

A. January 22, 2019, City Council Meeting 
B. January 31, 2019, City Council Special Called Meeting 

 
5. Receive a report on the annual review of the City’s Ethics Ordinance, No. 2018-

03, by the Ethics Commission. 
 
6. Consider a resolution ordering the General Election to be held on May 4, 2019. 
 
7. Consider a resolution authorizing the submittal of a grant application to the 

US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance, for an Edward Byrne 
Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG). 

 
8. Consider an ordinance on first reading granting a franchise to Atmos Energy, 

and set a public hearing and second reading for February 26, 2019. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes and a second by Councilmember Carpenter, 
the Consent Agenda, including the following captioned resolutions and ordinance, was 
unanimously approved by a vote of 7-0. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-05-R 
 
A RESOLUTION CALLING AND ORDERING A GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD 
ON MAY 4, 2019, AND ESTABLISHING PROCEDURES THEREOF. 
 

RESOLUCIÓN NO. 2019-05-R 
 
RESOLUCIÓN CONVOCANDO ELECCIONES GENERALES A REALIZARSE EL 4 
DE MAYO DEL 2019 Y LOS PROCESOS A CUMPLIRSE. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-06-R 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
APPROVING THE SUBMITTAL OF A GRANT APPLICATION TO THE US 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, BUREAU OF JUSTICE ASSISTANCE, FOR AN 
EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT, DESIG-NATING AN 
AUTHOIZED OFFICIAL. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-13 
 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING TO ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION, A TEXAS AND 
VIRGINIA CORPORATION, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, A FRANCHISE TO 
CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN, AND OPERATE PIPELINES AND EQUIPMENT IN THE 
CITY OF BELTON, BELL COUNTY, TEXAS, FOR THE TRANSPORTATION, 
DELIVERY, SALE, AND DISTRIBUTION OF GAS IN, OUT OF, AND THROUGH SAID 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 3 
 

  

CITY FOR ALL PURPOSES; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF A FEE OR 
CHARGE FOR THE USE OF THE PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAYS; AND PROVIDING 
THAT SUCH FEE SHALL BE IN LIEU OF OTHER FEES AND CHARGES, 
EXCEPTING AD VALOREM TAXES; AND REPEALING ALL PREVIOUS GAS 
FRANCHISE ORDINANCES. 
 
Miscellaneous  
 
9. Hold a public hearing regarding an application for Community Development 

Block Grant funds that proposes to replace the water line on N. East Street 
and E. 5th Street. 
 
Grants and Special Projects Coordinator Bob van Til thanked several Staff members 
for their help in compiling the data for this project. He explained that Staff is in the 
process of applying for a grant from the Texas Department of Agriculture (TDA) to 
replace a 6-inch diameter deteriorated water line with an 8-inch diameter water line 
that will run from E. 2nd Street north on N. East Street, east on E. 5th Street, and 
ending at the east side of N. Penelope Street. He said the grant source is the Texas 
Community Development Block Grant (TxCDBG) Program, and the funding 
originates from the US Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 
 
Mr. van Til explained that, as part of the application process, the City must conduct a 
public hearing to allow the public adequate opportunity to comment on the pending 
application as well as provide comment on overall community needs. 
 
Mayor Grayson opened the public hearing. Seeing no one wishing to speak, she 
closed the public hearing. There was no other action required of the Council as the 
resolution of support will be presented at the meeting on February 26, 2019. 
 

10. Hold a public hearing and consider ordinances on second and final reading 
granting one year extensions to commercial solid waste collection franchises 
with the following companies:  

 
A. Waste Management, Inc. 
B. Waste Connections (formerly IESI and Progressive Waste Solutions) 
C. Eagle Disposal 
D. Temple Iron & Metal 

 
City Clerk Amy Casey said that in January 2016, Council authorized commercial 
solid waste franchises with Waste Management, Progressive Waste Solutions (now 
Waste Connections), Eagle Disposal and Temple Iron & Metal. The original term of 
the franchises expired on January 26, 2019. The four service providers desire an 
extension to the franchise agreement which is allowed under the original terms of 
the agreements. The original term of the agreements is for three years with two (2) 
optional one-year extensions. The City currently has commercial solid waste 
franchise agreements with these four service providers, as well as Sunbright 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 4 
 

  

Disposal Services. She added that the Sunbright franchise will be up for renewal 
later in the year. 
 
Casey explained that the City receives 5% of the companies’ total gross receipts 
from customers as a franchise fee. FY2019 Budget for this franchise fee is $110,900 
from all commercial haulers.  
 
Mrs. Casey stated that franchises require two readings of the ordinance, as well as a 
public hearing.  
 
Mayor Grayson opened the public hearing. Seeing no one wishing to speak, she 
closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilmember Leigh asked when the City’s bulky waste collections are held. 
Director of Public Works Angellia Points replied that they are held quarterly, and the 
last one was held this past Saturday. Mr. Leigh recommended that this information 
be published for the citizens’ benefit. 
 
Upon a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Pearson, and a second by Councilmember 
Holmes, Item #10, including the following captioned ordinances, was unanimously 
approved on second reading by a vote of 7-0. 

 
ORDINANCE NO.  2019-04 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING A FRANCHISE AGREEMENT WITH WASTE 
MANAGEMENT INC., TO PROVIDE COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 
SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF BELTON; AND MAKING OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  2019-05 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING A FRANCHISE AGREEMENT WITH WASTE 
CONNECTIONS (FORMERLY PROGRESSIVE WASTE SOLUTIONS), TO 
PROVIDE COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SERVICES WITHIN THE 
CITY OF BELTON; AND MAKING OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  2019-06 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING A FRANCHISE AGREEMENT WITH EAGLE 
DISPOSAL, TO PROVIDE COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 
SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF BELTON; AND MAKING OTHER PROVISIONS. 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  2019-07 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING A FRANCHISE AGREEMENT WITH TEMPLE IRON 
& METAL, TO PROVIDE COMMERCIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 
SERVICES WITHIN THE CITY OF BELTON; AND MAKING OTHER PROVISIONS. 

 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 5 
 

  

11. Hold a public hearing and consider adopting the City of Belton’s Drought 
Contingency and Water Conservation Plan. 
 
Director of Public Works Angellia Points explained that in 2004, TCEQ required 
potable water providers to develop and adopt a Drought Contingency Plan. In 2007, 
the 80th Texas Legislature amended the Texas Water Code to require each retail 
public utility that provides potable water service to 3,300 or more connections to 
submit a water conservation plan to the State for review and acceptance. Therefore, 
she said a 2009 combined Drought Contingency and Water Conservation Plan was 
developed and adopted by the City of Belton. The code also requires the plan to be 
reviewed and updated once every five years thereafter, and for the entity to report 
annually on the progress of program implementation. The current 2014 – 2019 
Drought Contingency and Water Conservation Plan needs to be updated and a new 
2019 – 2023 Plan needs to be adopted. 
 
Mrs. Points explained that Staff has updated the Plan to meet the current TCEQ and 
TWDB requirements. The significant changes to the updated 2019-2023 Plan 
including the following: 
 
1. Modified layout of the Plan to have Drought Stage information in one location. 

The Drought Stage triggers, goals, best management practices for supply 
management, water use restrictions, and termination requirements are all under 
each Stage.  

2. Removed references for the City to provide wholesale of water. These sections 
did not apply.  

3. The best management practices for supply management will always be one 
Stage ahead of the general public’s Drought Stage.  

4. Lessened the burden on master meters and multi-family water users by 
increasing the base water rationing amount to match the City’s base rate 
allocation.  

5. Changed the water rationing amounts to be the same for residents inside and 
outside of the City limits. The only difference will be the volumetric rate charge, 
which is 1.25 times more for those outside of the City limits.  

6. Updated the water rates to match the City’s current fee schedule.  
7. Updated the Water Conservation Plan to include population, water use, sewer 

flow, water loss, and water supply data.  
8. A new enforcement paragraph was added to allow for violators of the Plan to 

appear in municipal court. Failure to appear in court may result in a warrant for 
arrest. A summons to appear may be issued in lieu of an arrest warrant.   

9. Included the updated Fee and Rate Schedule.  
 
She added that the deadline to submit the Plan to TCEQ is May 1, 2019.  
 
Mayor Grayson opened the public hearing. Seeing no one wishing to speak, she 
closed the public hearing. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 6 
 

  

Councilmember Kirkley said that Belton has had problems in the past with water, so 
this is very important plan. He thanked Mrs. Points and her Staff for their work on 
updating the Plan. Mayor Grayson agreed, and said she only remembers once 
during her tenure on the City Council that the Plan had to be implemented. 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember 
Kirkley, Item #11, including the following captioned ordinance, was unanimously 
approved by a vote of 7-0. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-12 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
AMENDING THE CITY’S DROUGHT CONTINGENCY AND WATER 
CONSERVATION PLAN WHICH ESTABLISHES CRITERIA FOR THE INITIATION 
AND TERMINATION OF DROUGHT REPSONSES STAGES; RESTRICTIONS ON 
CERTAIN WATER USES; PENALTIES FOR THE VIOLATIONS OF AND 
PROVISIONS FOR ENFORCEMENT OF THESE RESTRICTIONS; PROCEDURES 
FOR GRANTING VARIANCES; AND PROVIDING SERVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

12. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract with Bell 
Contractors for construction of the North Belton 16-inch Transmission Main 
project, and any change orders associated with the contract, not to exceed the 
amount authorized under state law. 

 
Director of Public Works Angellia Points stated that on October 11, 2016, the City 
Council awarded a professional services contract to Kasberg, Patrick and 
Associates (KPA) to design Belton’s third elevated storage tank and corresponding 
waterline to supply water to the proposed tank. The driver for the project was to 
address the City’s required storage capacity per TCEQ requirements.  
 
While the project was being evaluated and designed, the property for the tank site 
was acquired. The alignment for the waterline was also negotiated with the affected 
property owners.  
 
Mrs. Points said that on May 8, 2018, the City Council authorized the City Manager 
to execute a Second Amendment with Bell County Water Control Improvement 
District No. 1 (BCWCID No. 1) to allow the City of Belton to count 95% of the water 
stored in the 3 million gallon tank owned and maintained by BCWCID No. 1. This 
contractual agreement boosted the City’s storage capacity, meeting the TCEQ 
requirements as stated in the previous triennial inspection. However, the need for 
the tank still remains, though the need is not as immediate. Although the tank 
requirement can be delayed a few years, the need for the supply waterline is still a 
priority in order to boost pressures in the Dawson Ranch/Highland Estates 
subdivisions. Staff continued to work on the alignment of the waterline in order to 
prepare for the future third elevated storage tank.  
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 7 
 

  

On November 13, 2018, Staff presented a non-annexation development agreement 
for the Dickson Ranch properties. The request for a non-annexation development 
agreement was a condition for providing a waterline easement to the City of Belton 
for the waterline project that will connect the proposed third elevated storage tank to 
the transmission line from BCWCID No. 1, which lies in an easement on the Dickson 
Ranch properties. The agreement was approved at the November 13, 2018 Council 
meeting, and the easement for the waterline was subsequently provided.  
 
Points said that another driver for the water transmission project was the stipulation 
in the utility easement agreements on the Dickson Ranch properties. The following 
are the timelines agreed upon with the granting of the easement agreements. 

 
• If the pipeline is not constructed by January 1, 2021, the easement shall 

terminate.  
• Once construction commences, the installation of the water pipeline shall be 

completed within 183 calendar days.  
• If the City ceases to use the easement for water pipeline purposes for a period of 

24 consecutive months, the easement shall terminate and any pipeline installed 
shall be removed.  

• The City shall restore the property to pre-construction conditions within 30 days 
of finishing the waterline construction.  

 
Mrs. Points explained that the waterline is planned to be a 16-inch ductile iron pipe, 
connecting to the 21-inch transmission line. The new 16-inch waterline is shown to 
be placed in the utility easement on the Dickson Ranch property and the dedicated, 
recorded, right-of-way for Dawson Ridge. The line would also extend to the property 
proposed for the third elevated water storage tank. The waterline plans also include 
a connection to the existing 8-inch waterline along Chisolm Trail Parkway that 
serves the Dawson Ranch subdivision.  
 
Dawson Ridge is currently under construction. Mrs. Points explained that the bid did 
account for boring under the new Dawson Ridge roadways, if the construction of the 
subdivision was farther along. However, that bid alternative will not be needed as the 
construction in Dawson Ridge will allow the City’s contractor to open cut the 
waterline before the roads are constructed.  
 
Also, the contract documents were developed to show the price difference between 
plastic pipe (PVC) and ductile iron pipe. For a 16-inch waterline under such 
pressures, ductile iron is the preferred and recommended pipe material. However, 
the documents were developed to give the City as much flexibility as possible, 
knowing the timeline requirements and funding considerations for this waterline. 
Between the eleven (11) qualified bids received for the PVC and ductile iron prices, 
Staff recommends proceeding with the ductile iron pipe. To compare, the 16-inch 
waterline in the Lake-to-Lake ROW is ductile iron, and ductile iron is known to be 
more durable than PVC. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 8 
 

  

Mayor Grayson asked if we typically use ductile iron on waterlines. Mrs. Points said 
that larger waterlines are usually ductile iron pipe. 
 
KPA completed the design in December 2018, and bids were opened on January 
22, 2019. Eleven (11) qualified bids were received for the project for the 16-inch 
ductile iron pipe. The Director of Public Works/City Engineer, the Assistant Director 
of Public Works, and the Project Engineer at KPA evaluated the bids received. The 
low bidder, Bell Contractors of Belton, has successfully worked with the City of 
Belton in the past on projects such as the Nolan Creek Trunk Sewer Project.  
 
Points added that the construction is anticipated to take approximately 8 months at a 
cost of $804,121.75. The funding for the project is the 2016 Water and Sewer Bond 
Fund.  

 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Leigh, and a second by Councilmember 
Carpenter, Item #12 was unanimously approved by a vote of 7-0. 

 
13. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 

agreement with Kasberg, Patrick and Associates for Construction 
Administration services for the North Belton 16-inch Transmission Main 
project. 

 
Director of Public Works Angellia Points explained that Kasberg, Patrick and 
Associates (KPA) is the design engineer for the third elevated storage tank and 
corresponding waterline to supply water to the proposed tank. The scope awarded to 
KPA in October 2016 included the design and bid phases for the waterline and tank 
project, but it did not include construction administration services. Staff recommends 
awarding a contract to KPA for construction administration services on the North 
Belton Waterline Project. The scope includes review of submittals, attending and 
coordinating monthly progress meetings, reviewing and approving pay applications, 
general site visits, every other week construction staking, and development of the 
record drawings.  

 
The cost for these construction administration services is $35,120, which is to be 
funded by the 2016 Water and Sewer Bond Fund. 

 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember Leigh, 
Item #12 was unanimously approved by a vote of 7-0. 

 
Executive Session 

 
At 6:15 p.m., the Mayor announced the Council would move to the Smith Room and go 
into Executive Session for the following item: 
 
14. Executive Session pursuant to the provision of the Open Meetings Law, 

Chapter 551, Govt. Code, Vernon's Texas Codes Annotated, in accordance 



Belton City Council Meeting 
February 12, 2019 – Page 9 
 

  

with the authority contained in Section 551.074, Personnel - conduct an 
evaluation of the City Manager’s performance. 

 
The Mayor reopened the meeting at 7:55 p.m., and there being no further business, the 
meeting was adjourned. 
 

 
 
_____________________________  
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



CITY MANAGER AGREEMENT 
 

City of Belton, Texas 
City Manager Agreement 

 
THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

 §  KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
COUNTY OF BELL   § 
 

This Agreement, superseding the Agreement entered into on February 27, 2018, 
by the following parties, is made and entered into on this 26th day of February, 2019, by 
and between the City of Belton, Texas, a municipal corporation, (hereinafter called 
“City”) and Sam Anthony Listi, (hereinafter called “Manager”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton (the “Council”) and the 
Manager believe that an employment agreement negotiated between the Council, on 
behalf of the City, and the Manager can be mutually beneficial to the City, the Manager, 
and the community they serve; 
 

WHEREAS, when appropriately structured, the Council and the Manager believe 
an employment agreement can strengthen the Council-Manager relationship by 
enhancing the excellence and continuity of the management of the City for the benefit of 
its citizens; 
 

WHEREAS, the Council, on behalf of the City, desires to employ the services of 
the Manager, as the City Manager of the City ("City Manager"), pursuant to the terms, 
conditions and provisions of this Agreement; 
 

WHEREAS, the Manager has agreed to accept employment as the City 
Manager, and to serve at the pleasure of the City Council, subject to the terms, 
conditions and provisions of this Agreement. 
   
NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Manager, for and in consideration of the terms, 
conditions and provisions hereinafter established have agreed, and do hereby agree as 
follows:  
 



 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Section 1: Term        P. 1 
Section 2:  Duties and Authority     P. 1 
Section 3:  Compensation      P. 1 
Section 4:  Health, Dental and Life Insurance Benefits  P. 1 
Section 5:  Vacation and Sick Leave     P. 1 
Section 6:  Vehicle Allowance      P. 2 
Section 7:  Retirement       P. 2 
Section 8:  General Business Expenses    P. 2 
Section 9:  Termination       P. 3 
Section 10:  Severance       P. 3 
Section 11:  Resignation       P. 4   
Section 12:  Performance Evaluation     P. 4 
Section 13:  Hours of Work      P. 4 
Section 14:  Outside Activities      P. 4 
Section 15:  Residency       P. 5 
Section 16:  Indemnification       P. 5 
Section 17:  Bonding       P. 5 
Section 18:  Other Terms and Conditions of Employment  P. 5  
Section 19:  Notices       P. 5 
Section 20:  General Provisions     P. 6 



 

1 

Section 1: Term 
 
This Agreement shall be indefinite and remain in full force in effect from the Effective 
Date, until terminated by the City or the Manager as provided in Section 9, 10 or 11 of 
this agreement. 
 
Section 2:  Duties and Authority 
 
City agrees to employ Sam Anthony Listi as City Manager to perform the functions and 
duties specified in the Charter and Ordinances of the City of Belton, and to perform 
such other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as authorized and 
directed by the Council.  
 
Section 3: Compensation 
 
A. Base Salary: City agrees to pay Manager an annual base salary of $159,135, 
payable in installments in accordance with the City’s usual payroll schedule. 
 
B. Consideration shall be given on an annual basis to an increase in compensation, and 
increases in compensation shall be dependent upon the results of a performance 
evaluation conducted pursuant to the provisions of Section 12 of this Agreement. 
Increased compensation may take the form of a salary increase and/or an increase in 
fringe benefits. 
 
C. This Agreement shall be automatically amended to reflect any salary adjustments 
that are authorized by the Council.  
  
Section 4:  Health, Disability and Life Insurance Benefits 
 
A. The City agrees to provide for medical insurance benefits for the Manager equal to 
that which is provided to all other employees of the City.  
 
B. The City agrees to provide for life insurance benefits for the Manager equal to that 
which is provided to all other employees of the City.  
 
C. The Manager may elect to submit once per calendar year to a complete physical 
examination, including a cardiovascular examination, by a qualified physician selected 
by the Manager, the cost of which shall be paid by the City.  
 
D. The Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard benefits available to 
employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 5:  Vacation and Sick Leave 
 
A. The Manager shall accrue vacation and sick leave in accordance with other non-civil 
service employees.  



2 

 
B. The Manager shall accrue five days of vacation leave per year in addition to the 
vacation leave provided by section 5A.  
C. The Manager is entitled to accrue unused sick and vacation leave up to the 
maximum accruals set forth in the City’s personnel policy. 
 
D. Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard leave available to non-civil 
service employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of 
this contract. 
 
Section 6:  Vehicle Allowance 
 
The City agrees to pay to the Manager, during the term of this Agreement and in 
addition to other salary and benefits herein provided, the sum of $7,500 per year as a 
vehicle allowance to be used to purchase, lease, or own, operate and maintain a 
personal vehicle. The vehicle allowance shall be paid in equal payments on a monthly 
basis. The Manager shall be responsible for paying for liability, property damage, and 
comprehensive insurance coverage upon such vehicle and shall further be responsible 
for gas, oil and all expenses attendant to the purchase, operation, maintenance, repair, 
and regular replacement of said vehicle. The City shall reimburse the Manager at the 
established mileage rate for any business use of the vehicle beyond 140 round-trip 
miles.  
 
Section 7:  Retirement 
 
A. The City agrees to maintain the Manager’s enrollment in the Texas Municipal 
Retirement System (TMRS), and to make all the appropriate City contributions on the 
Manager’s behalf.  
 
B. In addition to the City’s payment to the state retirement system referenced above, 
City agrees to execute all necessary agreements provided by the ICMA Retirement 
Corporation (ICMA-RC) deferred compensation plan for Manager’s continued 
participation in said supplementary retirement plan and, in addition to the base salary 
paid by the City to Manager, City agrees to pay an amount equal to eight percent (8%) 
of Manager’s base annual salary, in equal proportionate amounts each pay period.  
 
C. Manager is automatically entitled to any other standard retirement benefits available 
to employees of the City as may now exist or be made available during the term of this 
contract. 
 
Section 8:  General Business Expenses   
 
A. City agrees to pay for professional dues and subscriptions of the Manager necessary 
for full participation in national, regional, state and local associations and organizations 
necessary for the Manager’s continued professional growth and advancement, and for 
the good of the City. 
 



3 

B.  City agrees to pay for travel and subsistence expenses of Manager for professional 
and official travel, meetings, and occasions to adequately continue the professional 
development of Manager and to pursue necessary official functions for City, including 
but not limited to conferences hosted by ICMA, American Planning Association, and 
such other national, regional, state, and local governmental groups and committees in 
which Manager serves as a member. 
 
C. City agrees to pay for tuition, registration fees, and travel and subsistence expenses 
of Manager for short courses, institutes, and seminars that are necessary for the 
Manager’s professional development and for the good of the City.  
 
D. City acknowledges the value of having Manager participate and be directly involved 
in local civic clubs and organizations. Accordingly, City agrees to pay for the reasonable 
membership fees and/or dues to enable the Manager to become an active member in 
local/regional civic clubs and organizations.  
 
E. Technology: The City shall provide Manager with the use of a computer and a cell 
phone required for the Manager to perform the job and to maintain communication with 
the Council and City staff.  
 
Section 9: Termination   
 
For the purpose of this agreement, termination shall occur if:  
 
A. A majority of the governing body votes to terminate the Manager at a duly authorized 
public meeting.  
 
B. The Manager resigns following a request to resign made by representatives of the 
majority of the Council.  
 
C. The City, citizens or state legislature acts to amend any provisions of the Charter of 
the City of Belton or Belton Codified Ordinances pertaining to the role, powers, duties, 
authority, or responsibilities of the Manager’s position that substantially changes the 
form of government. 
 
D. The City reduces the base salary, compensation or any other financial benefit of the 
Manager, unless it is applied in no greater percentage than the average reduction of all 
department heads.  
 
E. Breach of contract is declared by either party with a 30-day cure period for either 
Manager or City. Written notice of a breach of contract shall be provided in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 19.  
 
Section 10:  Severance 
 
Severance shall be paid to the Manager when employment is terminated as defined in 
Section 9.  



4 

If the Manager is terminated, the City shall provide a minimum severance payment 
equal to twelve months’ salary at the current rate of pay. This severance shall be paid in 
a lump sum unless otherwise agreed to by the City and the Manager.  
 
The Manager shall also be compensated for accrued earned vacation time and all paid 
holidays.  
 
For a period of three months following the date of termination, the City shall pay the 
costs to continue the following benefits: 
 

1. Health insurance for the Manager as provided in Section 4A; 
2. Life insurance as provided in Section 4B;  
3. Car allowance as provided in Section 6;  
4. Any other standard benefits available to employees of the City as provided in 

Section 4D. 
 

If the Manager is terminated because of a conviction of a misdemeanor involving moral 
turpitude or personal gain or a felony, then the City is not obligated to pay severance 
under this section.  
 
Section 11: Resignation 
 
In the event that the Manager voluntarily resigns his position with the City, the Manager 
shall provide the City with not less than 30 days’ advance written notice of his 
resignation, unless the parties agree otherwise.  
 
Section 12:  Performance Evaluation 
 
City shall annually review the performance of the Manager following the conclusion of 
the City’s fiscal year. The evaluation process, at a minimum, shall include the 
opportunity for both parties to: (1) prepare a written evaluation, (2) meet and discuss the 
evaluation, (3) present a written summary of the evaluation results, and (4) conduct a 
goal setting session. The final written evaluation should be completed and delivered to 
the Manager within 30 days of the evaluation meeting.  
 
Adjustments to the Manager’s compensation package based on the results of the 
performance evaluation shall be effective on the first day of the fiscal year following the 
review period. Illustrated: Manager is reviewed by the Council on February 15, 20X2 for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 20X1. Therefore, any adjustments to the 
Manager’s compensation will be effective as of October 1, 20X1.  
 
Section 13:  Hours of Work 
 
It is expected that the Manager will typically work during normal City Hall office hours. 
However, it is recognized that the Manager must devote a great deal of time outside 
those normal office hours on business for the City. Accordingly, and to that end, 



5 

Manager may establish his own work schedule, subject to reasonable direction by City. 
Manager is not eligible for overtime nor will be paid compensatory hours.  
 
Section 14:  Outside Activities 
 
The employment provided for by this Agreement shall be the Manager’s sole 
employment. Recognizing that certain outside consulting or teaching opportunities 
provide indirect benefits to the City and the community, the Manager may elect to 
accept limited teaching, consulting or other business opportunities as long as such 
arrangements do not interfere with, or cause a conflict of interest with, Manager’s 
responsibilities pursuant to this Agreement.  
 
Section 15:  Residency 
 
Manager agrees to maintain his residence within the corporate boundaries of the City 
during his employment with the City.  
 
Section 16:  Indemnification   
 
City shall defend, save harmless and indemnify Manager against any tort, professional 
liability claim or demand or other legal action, whether groundless or otherwise, arising 
out of an alleged act or omission occurring in the performance of and arising out of the 
course and scope of Manager’s duties as City Manager, or resulting from the exercise 
of judgment or discretion in connection with the performance of the duties or 
responsibilities of the City Manager, unless the act or omission involved willful or 
wanton conduct. Legal representation, provided by City for Manager, shall extend until a 
final determination of the legal action including any appeals brought by either party. The 
City shall indemnify Manager against any and all losses, damages, judgments, interest, 
settlements, fines, court costs and other reasonable costs and expenses of legal 
proceedings including attorneys fees, and any other liabilities incurred by, imposed 
upon, or suffered by such Manager in connection with or resulting from any claim, 
action, suit, or proceeding, actual or threatened, arising out of or in connection with the 
performance of his duties and occurring within the course and scope of his employment. 
Any settlement of any claim must be made with prior approval of the City in order for 
indemnification, as provided in this Section, to be available.  
 
City agrees to pay Manager’s reasonable litigation expenses, including travel expense, 
throughout the pendency of any litigation to which the Manager is a party or witness. 
Such expense payments shall continue beyond Manager's service to the City as long as 
the litigation is pending.  
 
Section 17:  Bonding 
 
City shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of the Manager under 
any law or ordinance, and professional liability insurance. 
 



6 

Section 18:  Other Terms and Conditions of Employment 
 
The City, upon agreement with Manager, may provide for such other terms and 
conditions of employment as it may determine from time to time relating to the 
performance and duties of the Manager, provided such terms and conditions are not 
inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement, the Charter of the 
City of Belton, or applicable law.  
 
Section 19:  Notices 
 
Notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by depositing in the custody of the 
United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
CITY:       MANAGER:   
City of Belton     Sam Anthony Listi 
PO Box 120, 333 Water Street  311 Oak Street 
Belton, TX 76513    Belton, TX 76513 
 

Alternatively, notice required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in 
the same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given 
as of the date of personal service or as the date of deposit of such written notice in the 
course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 
 
Section 20:  General Provisions 
 
A. Integration. This Agreement sets forth and establishes the entire understanding 
between the City and the Manager relating to the employment of the Manager by the 
City. Any prior discussions or representations by or between the parties are merged into 
and rendered null and void by this Agreement. The parties by mutual written agreement 
may amend any provision of this agreement during the life of the agreement. Such 
amendments shall be incorporated and made a part of this agreement.  
 
B. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on the City and the Manager as well 
as his heirs, assigns, executors, personal representatives and successors in interest. 
 
C. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective on October 1, 2017.  
 
D. Severability. The invalidity of any portion of this Agreement will not affect the validity 
of any other provision. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held to be 
invalid, the remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect as if they 
have been executed by both parties subsequent to the expungement or judicial 
modification of the invalid provision. 
 
 
 
 
 



7 

Adopted and approved by the Belton City Council on this 26th day of February, 2019. 
 
CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS   ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________  ____________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor    Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
    
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_________________________ 
John Messer, City Attorney 
 
 
AGREED AND ACCEPTED this 26th day of February 2019 
 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Sam Anthony Listi, City Manager 
 



Addendum to 
CITY MANAGER AGREEMENT 

between 
The City of Belton, Texas 

and 
Sam Anthony Listi 

The City of Belton (hereinafter called "City") wishes to resolve the balance of vacation 
hours duly earned and accrued by Sam Anthony Listi (hereinafter called "Manager'') 
which are in excess of the allowable carryover amount set forth in Section 322 of the 
City's Personnel Policy. 

The Manager agrees to forgo all leave in excess of the allowable carryover amount by 
the Manager as of March 1, 2018. Further, the Manager agrees that carryover leave in 
excess of the amount set forth in the City's Personnel Policy will be allowable only with 
the consent of the City Council. 

In exchange for the forgoing of the aforementioned leave, the City will compensate the 
Manager for the value of excess leave. The calculation of the compensation shall be 
based on the Manager's hourly rate as of March 1, 2018 multiplied by the vacation 
accrued in excess of the allowable carryover amount on that date. The City will deposit 
the calculated compensation into the Manager's ICMA Retirement Corporation account 
in equal amounts over seventy-two, biweekly payrolls, beginning with the first payroll 
following March 1, 2018. 

Should the Employment Agreement between the City and the Manager end as a result 
of Termination or Resignation as defined by Sections 9 or 11 of the Manager's 
Employment Agreement executed February 27, 2018 or any successor employment 
agreement, prior to the payment of all compensation owed under this Addendum, any 
unpaid balance under this Addendum will be paid to the Manager within 30 days of the 
Manager's final date of employment with the City. Should the Manager become 
deceased prior to the payment of all compensation owed under this Addendum, any 
unpaid balance under this Addendum will be paid to the Manager's estate. 

Adopted and approved by the Belton City Council on this 27th day of February, 2018. 

CITV OF BEL TON, TEXAS ATTEST: 

M 



APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED this 27th day of February 2018 

Sam Anthony Listi , City Manager 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #5 
 
Consider a resolution approving the submittal of an application to the Texas Department of 
Agriculture for a Texas Community Development Block Grant (TxCDBG).    
 
Originating Department 
 
Public Works/Engineering – Angellia Points, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
Administration – Bob van Til, Grants and Special Projects Coordinator 
 
Summary Information 
 
Staff is in the process of applying for a grant from the Texas Department of Agriculture 
(TDA) to replace a six-inch diameter deteriorated water line with an eight-inch diameter 
water line that will run from E. 2nd Street north on N. East Street, east on E. 5th Street, and 
ending at the east side of N. Penelope Street. The grant source is the Texas Community 
Development Block Grant (TxCDBG) Program. The funding originates from the US Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD).  
 
As part of the application process, the City held a public hearing on February 12, 2019. The 
purpose of the public hearing was to allow the public adequate opportunity to comment on 
the pending application as well as provide comment on overall community needs. 
 
During the public hearing, Staff accomplished three objectives: 
 
1. A review of the background and scope of the project; 

  
2. Discussed the mandatory topics outlined by the State, including: 
 

• The development of housing and community development needs. 
• The amount of funding available. 
• All eligible activities under the TxCDBG Program 
• The applicant’s past use of TxCDBG contract funds, if applicable. 
• The estimated amount of funds proposed for activities that will meet the national 

objective of benefit to low-to-moderate income persons. 
• The plans of the locality to minimize displacement of persons and to assist persons 

actually displaced as a result of activities assisted with TxCDBG funds, if applicable.  
 

3.  Received public input on the application. A sign in and survey instrument was available 
to fill out prior to the meeting. Only two people signed the survey and noted that 
affordable housing is a priority to them. 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

In accordance with Federal and State criteria, as well as the City’s Citizen Participation 
Plan, Staff published a notice in the Temple Daily Telegram prior to the public hearing. Staff 
also posted notices at the Library, City Hall, and other locations such as the Central Texas 
Housing Consortium (Belton Housing Authority), Department of Aging and Disability 
Services, Central Texas Council of Governments, Belton ISD, US Post Office, USDA 
Regional Office, Workforce Solutions, etc. 
 
The TxCDBG program reflects the Federal National Planning Objectives (NPO). The NPO’s 
focus on three objectives: 
 
1. Principally benefit low to moderate income (LMI) persons,  
2. Eliminate or prevent slums and blight, or 
3. Address imminent health and safety problems (i.e. disasters). 
 
The TxCDBG CD grant must address one of the three National Planning Objectives. 
Belton’s current application focused on the low-to-moderate income objective. This was 
confirmed by completing a door-to-door survey. In the area there are 98 beneficiaries, 75% 
of whom are low to moderate income (LMI), meaning they earn less than 80% of the Area 
median income. 
 
Proposed improvements include the replacement of approximately 1,430 linear feet of 6-
inch diameter deteriorated asbestos cement and cast iron water line with an 8-inch diameter 
water line (C-900 SDR 18 pipe) and service lines. Following the installation of the new water 
line, the pipe trench will be backfilled, compacted, and the entire street will be milled and 
overlaid with a minimum 2-inch thick Type “D” or “C” hot mix asphalt concrete (HMAC). The 
two old fire hydrants will be removed and five new hydrants will be installed at the 
appropriate intervals, expanding fire protection capabilities. 
 
The estimated project cost is $451,365. The pending application will request $275,000 from 
the TxCDBG program. The remaining $176,365 will come from the City’s Capital Utility 
Projects Fund. 
 
The existing water line is at least 50 years old and is a 6-inch diameter asbestos cement 
and cast-iron line. The line is undersized and often lacks adequate volume and pressure. 
The existing 6-inch diameter water line has deteriorated significantly and the neighborhood 
has experienced a minimum of four substantial breaks per year over the last three to four 
years. These line breaks have left the residents without water, and required them to boil 
water when necessary to avoid the possibility of ingesting contaminated water. The water 
line has been patched and repaired so many times, it is difficult to place a repair clamp on it 
any more. Water outages in the area can last from two hours up to 12 hours at a time, 
depending on the nature and extent of the repair and the number of cracks in the pipeline 
and service lines. The most common repair is a pipe clamp to seal a crack in a pipe or 
replacing 5-foot segments of pipe each time. The second most common type of leak is on 
the water service lines between the water meter and the City’s waterline. The service lines 
are older, shallow, and are made of brittle, non-flexible pipe. Due to the nature and condition 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

of this waterline, the City is reluctant to allow any more water service taps from the water 
main. Any new taps may cause the pipe to break more often. This prevents new or even re-
development in the neighborhood. 
 
There are only two fire hydrants on these portions of N. East Street and E. 5th Street. The 
hydrants on this waterline are also almost 50 years old. They need to be replaced in order 
to achieve current fire flow requirements. The existing fire hydrants and their spacing fail to 
provide adequate fire protection for homes and businesses in the neighborhood. At least 
four fire hydrants are needed in this area to meet the minimum fire hydrant spacing and fire 
safety requirements. The average age of the homes in the service area is approximately 80 
years. The construction methods and fire resistant technologies were not as good as they 
are today placing them at greater risk if the additional fire hydrants are not installed. The fire 
protection aspect of the project is as critical to the neighborhood as is reliable and safe 
drinking water. 
 
Next Step: 
March 13, 2019 – submittal due date for the application. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Amount:  
Budgeted:   Yes    No  Capital Utility Project Funds 
 
If not budgeted:   Budget Transfer     Contingency     Amendment Needed     
 
Local Funding Source(s):  City’s Capital Utility Projects Fund 
   
Recommendation 
 
Approve the Resolution 
 
Attachments 
 
Resolution 



RESOLUTION 2019-07-R 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, BELL COUNTY, 
TEXAS AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A TEXAS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM APPLICATION TO THE TEXAS 
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE FOR THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND; 
AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACT AS THE CITY’S EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER AND AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE IN ALL MATTERS PERTAINING 
TO THE CITY’S PARTICIPATION IN THE TEXAS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton, Bell County, Texas desires to develop 
a viable community, including decent housing and a suitable living environment and 
expanding economic opportunities, principally for persons of low-to-moderate income, 
and 
 
WHEREAS, certain conditions exist which represent a threat to the public health and 
safety; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interest of the City of Belton, Bell County, 
Texas to apply for funding under the Texas Community Development Block Grant 
Program; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BELTON, BELL COUNTY, TEXAS: 
 

1. That the Texas Community Development Block Grant Program application for the 
Community Development Fund is hereby authorized to be filed on behalf of the 
City with the Texas Department of Agriculture. 
 

2. That the City’s application be placed in competition for funding under the 
Community Development Fund. 
 

3. That the City Council conducted a public hearing in accordance with the 
requirements of the grant application on February 12, 2019. 
 

4. That the application be for $275,000 of grant funds to provide for a water line 
replacement on N. East and E. 5th Streets. 
 

5. That the City Council directs and designates the City Manager as the City’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Authorized Representative to act in all matters in connection 
with this application and the City’s participation in the Texas Community 
Development Block Grant Program. 
 

6. That all funds will be used in accordance with all applicable federal, state, local 
and programmatic requirements including but not limited to procurement, 



environmental review, labor standards, real property acquisition, and civil rights 
requirements. 

 
7. That it further be stated that the City of Belton is committing $176,365 from its 

Capital Utility Projects Fund as a cash contribution toward the administration, 
engineering, and construction activities of this water line replacement project. 

 
Passed and approved this 26th day of February, 2019. 
 
 
 

__________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor 
City of Belton, Texas 

 
Attest: 
 
 
________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
City of Belton, Texas 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 

 
Date:  February 26, 2019

 Case No.: H-19-02 
        Request: FIG 
        Address: 112 E. Central Avenue 
        Applicant: Fadil Thaqi/Spiro Vasili 
 
Agenda Item #6 
     
Consider authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Fadil Thaqi, 112 East Central Avenue. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Kelly T. Atkinson, Planner/HPO 
 
Historic District     
 
Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District 
 
Background 
 
This present building at 112 East Central Avenue was built in 1900 with alterations in 1955 
and is located in the Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District. The Downtown Belton 
Commercial Historic District contains an excellent range of buildings constructed between 
1870 and 1959. Forty-six percent of the buildings in this district are Contributing historic 
structures. Most of the buildings that are Non-Contributing have been classified that way due 
to inappropriate alterations that have covered or removed historic building materials and 
details. The 2012 City of Belton Historic Resources Survey states that the architectural style 
associated with this structure is two-part commercial block originally constructed for a 
pharmacy. This building is listed as a low priority due to major and inappropriate alterations 
to the main façade. 
 
Summary Information 
 
Fadil Thaqi has submitted a Façade Improvement Grant (FIG) application to install a 
balcony, new windows and doors, and apply brick, stone and stucco to the front façade of 
the building, proposed as the future location of Italian Garden Restaurant with a separate 
game room on the first floor and apartments on the second floor, located at 112 East Central 
Avenue. 
 
The proposal involves the following items, also included in the attached summary proposal 
from Park Cities Contractors, LTD: 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

• Balcony – Install a balcony to extend over the sidewalk, uniform with balconies on 
Central. 

• Doors and Windows – Install all new doors and windows. 
• Stone, Brick and Stucco façade – Austin stone, beige stucco and red brick. 

 
This building was previously occupied by Britt Drug Pharmacy and briefly by Patriot Coney 
Island. Mr. Thaqi has purchased this building and is completing significant interior 
renovations to open a proposed restaurant and multi-family residential. The upper level of 
the building is under renovation and will have seven apartments available for rent. The 
addition of the balcony will serve the two apartments facing south and located at the front of 
the building. 112 East Central Avenue is currently configured as one large building. The 
applicant is reconfiguring the layout to restore the arrangement back to two separate 
buildings, serving two separate businesses, with living units upstairs of both buildings, which 
qualifies this project for two façades on the application for a maximum total of $20,000 in 
grant funds. 
   
Exterior work is scheduled to occur upon approval of the grant request. This would represent 
another excellent example of the value of targeted public investment in Downtown Belton 
funded by the TIRZ. Other examples of TIRZ funded façade improvement grants in the 
vicinity include Bold Republic Brewing Company, Main Street Bridal, and the project 
underway at 204 North Penelope (Gunter Financial Building). 
     
Fiscal Impact 
 
Total projected cost on the application is $82,750. The FIG application requests the 
maximum match amount of $20,000, for two facades, which is consistent with application 
guidelines. 
 
Amount:   $20,000 
 
Budgeted:       Yes    No       
 
If not budgeted:     Budget Transfer     Contingency     Amendment Needed     
Capital Project Funds 
 
Funding Source(s):  $50,000 was included in the TIRZ FY2019 budget for FIG funding. To 
date, no other Façade Improvement Grants have been funded in FY2019. 

 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of proposed work outlined in the COA application and the Façade 
Improvement Grant to Fadil Thaqi for renovations at 112 East Central Avenue, for a total 
grant award of $20,000, for two facades. 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Attachments 
 
FIG Applications 
Certificate of Appropriateness application 
Location Map 
Proposal – Park Cities Contractors, LTD 
Renderings of proposed façade and floorplan  
HPC Minutes Excerpt 















S E
AS

T S
T

S M
AI

N S
T

N M
AIN

 ST

W CENTRAL AVE

E CENTRAL AVE

WATER ST

N E
AS

T S
T

S P
EN

EL
OP

E S
T

W 1ST AVE

E 1ST AVE

WATER ST

N P
EN

EL
OP

E S
T

N 
PE

AR
L S

T

NOLAN CREEK

51
25

9

2 0
4 0

8

3823323
06

56

20409

6 6 4 5 3

30891

40
59

5

5 44 6 0

0

0

8 0 36
56

7 0
1

20
06

6

5 0 0 6

17
99

8027
11

78
30

16304

69 7 8 0

25
21

0

2 4
0 1

0 8

56
86

2

8533

8 028

50961

7 5 4 4 9

0

104911

16
30

5

56
70

2

1 6 3 0 6

94597

5 3 7 66

1 30 5 5

9 91 9

2865

105351

432973

20
40

7

7545 0

94596

8522

43
97

8 8

1 6 9 9

13
28

3 3 08 8 9

1 0 14 4

Legend
200' Property Owner
Notification Area
H_19_02
Tax Appraisal Parcels

Historic District
Downtown Belton
Commercial Historic
District

0 80 16040
FeetMap Date: 1/2/2019 Aerial Imagery Date: 2018

Path: E:\City of Belton Projects Folders\Maps and Data\Zoning Cases\2019\!Historic Cases!\H-19-02\H-19-02.m
xd

Author: Anthony Notgrass, City of Belton

Maps and data are for informational purposes and may not have been prepared for
or be suitable for legal, engineering or surveying purposes. They do not represent
an on-the-ground survey and represent only the approximate relative location of property 
boundaries. No warranty is made by the City of Belton regarding specific accuracy or completeness.

200' Property Owner
Notification Area

HPC CASE #   H-19-02

Ë

BELTON ORIGINAL, 
BLOCK 008, LOT PT 5, 6, 
(E 1/2 OF 5 & W 25' OF 6), 
ACRES .174

112 EAST CENTRAL AVE.

FT RENTAL LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

ADDRESS/LOCATION:

PROPERTY OWNER:

Request
EXTERIOR RENOVATION
ADDITION OF BALCONY



Company Name

Phone

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

CUSTOMER 2 trash containers $475.00 $950.00

italian garden 2 steel materials $4,750.00 $9,500.00

ESTIMATE NO 2 brick flats $2,800.00 $5,600.00

A003 2 stucco trim and supply $2,450.00 $4,900.00

DATE 1 double front door for the restaurant main enrance $2,475.00 $2,475.00

01/24/2019 1 single front door door for the suite B $1,850.00 $1,850.00

ADDRESS 1 apartment front entrance $1,280.00 $1,280.00

112 east central ave 2 windows for downstairs suite A $790.00 $1,580.00

CITY/STATE/ZIP 1 window for the downstairs suite B $475.00 $475.00

belton  tx 2 stone flats $1,650.00 $3,300.00

PHONE 2 balcony rails $1,250.00 $2,500.00

214-727-9947 2 balcony covers R panels $2,350.00 $4,700.00

E-MAIL 2 balcony decking $765.00 $1,530.00

advasili@yahoo.com 2 upstairs balcony doors $380.00 $760.00

SALESPERSON 4 upstairs windows $220.00 $880.00

spiro vasili 2 framing studs $725.00 $1,450.00

PROJECT 2 insulation $175.00 $350.00

Façade improvement 2 exterior lights $550.00 $1,100.00

PREPARED BY: 2 rain guiters $475.00 $950.00

spiro vasili 2 concrete and mortar $650.00 $1,300.00

ATTENTION

italian garden 

PAYMENT TERMS

DUE DATE

up on completion

SUBTOTAL $47,430.00

TAX RATE 8.25%

SALES TAX $3,912.98

OTHER $31,408.00

TOTAL $82,750.98

DateAuthorized Rep

214 7279947

park cities contractors 
material and labor cost for the façade







Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

1 
 

Minutes of the  
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Thursday, February 7, 2019                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
 

The Historic Preservation Commission met at 5:00 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Sheila Donahue, Dorothy Coppin, Barrett 
Covington, Tammie Baggerly and Ann Carpenter. The following staff members were present: Director 
of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, Planner and HPC Officer Kelly Atkinson, Director of IT Chris Brown and 
Planning Clerk Laura Livingston.  
 
 
3. H-19-02   Consider a request for a Façade Improvement Grant to Fadil Thaqui for 

renovations to the primary façade at 112 East Central Avenue, located in Downtown Belton 
Commercial Historic District, on the north side of East Central Avenue, east of North Main 
Street, and west of North East Street.   

 
Ms. Atkinson presented the staff report (Exhibit A). 
 
Chair Donahue asked if anyone wants to speak on this item.  
 
Spiro Vasili, the contractor working on 112 East Central Avenue, said if there were any concerns, 
he would answer to the best of his ability.  
 
Ms. Baggerly asked about lighting. She did not see any fixtures on the exterior plan. Mr. Vasili said 
there will be wall sconces on the sides of the doors and below the balcony will be recessed can 
lights. Ms. Baggerly asked for examples of what the sconces will look like. Mr. Vasili said it will 
just be the cylinder commercial LED that lights up and down and is weatherproofed so this way the 
entire wall is lit. They have not purchased the sconces; they have just looked at them. He said they 
are basic, commercial grade sconces - the type you see in shopping centers. Ms. Baggerly asked if 
those sconces would fit within the guidelines of historic preservation? Ms. Atkinson said usually 
she would have all of that information available and the HPC gets to review that information. At 
the staff level they make sure it is appropriate for the architecture and it can be approved 
administratively. That will be listed in your next packet, Ms. Atkinson said. Ms. Atkinson said she 
can bring a sample then.  
 
Mr. Vasili said if that is a problem for the downstairs for the walkway, we would not use those 
sconces, and the lighting from the balcony would suffice. Ms. Baggerly said no, she didn’t think 
there was a problem with having sconces, but that typically we see them, then staff makes a 
recommendation and then we approve it. If (Ms. Atkinson) can approve it administratively, then 
that is fine, Ms. Baggerly said.  
 
Chair Donahue said her question, in the same vein, is about the choice of doors for the apartments 
leading out to the balcony and asked, is that the door? Yes, Mr. Vasili said. He said those are very 
common because he has French style windows and they will not be white. We are going to have to 
paint it and most likely it is going to be painted black. Chair Donahue asked if Ms. Atkinson will 



Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

2 
 

monitor that. Mr. Vasili said they will have a metal rail that will be black, and the door will be black, 
and the trim around it black.  
 
Ms. Baggerly asked if the balcony will be the same height as Sarsaparilla (next door)? No, he said, 
their balcony is lower than the balcony next door. Ms. Baggerly asked, is that OK? Ms. Atkinson 
said it looks a little lower because it’s two buildings so to make it look even on the front, they have 
had to do some adjustments. Mr. Vasili said their balcony looks as if it is all one elevation. Between 
one balcony and the other it is a 13-inch drop but it will not be visible to the public. It’s not a 
problem, he said, because those two balconies are going to be privately separated with a divider in 
the middle so there’s not going to be a safety issue of people falling down or anything like that. Ms. 
Baggerly asked if there will be a ladder from that balcony like other buildings use, for fire escape? 
Ms. Atkinson said no, not on this development. This already went through fire code review, she 
said, and the Fire Marshal approved the exits that they do have. She referred to an image and said 
the stairwell is coming down from the apartment units with a landing and a door that swings inside. 
The 3-foot setback on those storefronts is intended for inside swinging doors instead of a door 
swinging outward to the sidewalk and hitting a pedestrian, Ms. Atkinson said. The access to the 
apartments meets fire code with an occupancy of fewer than 50 people, she added.  
 
Mr. Covington asked if there was any signage plan for the two businesses? Mr. Vasili said he did 
not know what kind of criteria they require here, if they allow lit signs in the Downtown Belton 
Commercial Historic District. I don’t know, Mr. Vasili said, and he doesn’t do signs so (the owner) 
has to deal with a sign contractor. Ms. Atkinson said again, this is an item that is a deferred submittal. 
That is something our Sign Ordinance addresses in the downtown areas, so we will make sure their 
sign is within the requirements. Mr. Vasili said whomever the sign maker is, will have to go through 
the City for approval and then they will have recommendations and so he has to follow those.  
 
Ms. Baggerly asked if this building was approved and awarded a Façade Improvement Grant years 
ago? Ms. Atkinson said it was, and the grant was for minor renovations to the storefront. Ms. 
Atkinson said she thinks they changed out a window and put in a new commercial door, which is 
the aluminum door that is there right now. Ms. Atkinson said because it’s a new building owner and 
it’s been three years, it meets the criteria for eligibility for a FIG.  
 
Chair Donahue entertained a motion. Ms. Baggerly made a motion to approve H-19-02. Ms. Coppin 
seconded the motion. The item was approved with 5 ayes, 0 nays.   



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
         
       Date:          February 26, 2019  
       Case No.:  Z-19-03 

Request:    Agricultural to Multi Family 
District 

Owner/Applicant:  Shine Branch, LLC/ 
David K. Leigh 

Agenda Item #7 
     
Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Multi Family District 
on 2.24 acres comprising Lot 2, Block 1, Brentham Addition, located at 406 N. Loop 121, near 
the northeast corner of W. 2nd Avenue and N. Loop 121.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Current Zoning     Proposed Zoning  
     
Agricultural District     Multi Family (Zoning Ordinance Section 15) 
 
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation: Commercial Center at intersection with 
Residential farther out from intersection  
 
Design Standards Type Area: 8 - Projected growth for this area is single family residential 
with various multi-family housing located within this area.   
 
Case Summary 
 
There are currently two duplex units on this property. The applicant wishes to construct covered 
carports for each unit and has requested a building permit. Upon review of the requested 
permit, it became apparent that the current Agricultural Zoning District does not allow the 
existing duplexes. Therefore, the purpose of this zoning change is to bring the property and 
use into compliance with the Zoning Ordinance and allow the carports. This property is part of 
a three lot subdivision (Brentham Addition) that was platted in 1993. Access to these duplexes 
is via the adjacent lot to the south. The applicant has indicated there is an agreement with this 
property owner regarding access. 
 
The adjacent property to the south is currently undeveloped and zoned Retail District. Adjacent 
properties to the east and north are zoned Agricultural District and are either used residentially 
or undeveloped. Properties on the west side of Loop 121 are zoned Retail at the intersection 
with FM 93/West 2nd Avenue and Agricultural District along the Loop 121 frontage. These tracts 
are also used residentially or are undeveloped.  



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
The requested Multi Family Zoning District allows the proposed duplex use, as well as a 
traditional apartment complex. The applicant has indicated there are no plans to expand either 
duplexes or to build apartments on this lot at this time. 
 
Area requirements for the requested Multi Family Zoning District are listed below: 
 

Minimum Lot Area: 2,420 sq. ft/dwelling unit or 10,000 sq. ft. 
Minimum Lot Width: 80’ Minimum Lot Depth: 120’ 
Minimum Front Yard: 25’ Minimum Side Yard: 8’; 15’ between buildings with openings 
Minimum Rear Yard: 20’ 
Maximum density of 18 dwelling units per acre Maximum Lot Coverage: 40% 
Parking Requirement: 2 spaces per unit 

 
All area requirements are satisfied. 
 
The FLUM identifies a Commercial Center at the intersection of Loop 121 and W. 2nd Avenue. 
The Commercial Center allows for commercial and retail uses as well as multi family. 
Therefore, the requested Multi Family Zoning District is consistent with the FLUM. Residential 
uses are projected north of this site along the Loop 121 frontage, which is consistent with 
current use. The requested Multi Family zoning and duplex use will provide a transition between 
the residential uses to the north and the commercial uses anticipated at the Loop 121/W. 2nd 
Avenue intersection to the south.  
 
After careful review of this zoning change request, the proposed Multi Family Zoning District 
appears to be reasonable in this location.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and recommended approval 
of this zoning change from Agricultural District to Multi Family District.  Staff concurs with their 
recommendation.  
 
Attachments: 
Zoning application 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial map 
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’) 
Zoning notice to owners 
Property owners’ list 
Site plan 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
4. Z-19-03     Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to Multi 

Family District on 2.24 acres comprising Lot 2, Block 1, Brentham Addition, located at 406 N. 
Loop 121, near the northeast corner of W. 2nd Avenue and N. Loop 121.  

 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit A). 
 
Mr. Covington recused himself from voting on the item. Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing 
and with no one requesting to speak, he closed the public hearing.  
 
Mr. Hendrick said it seems reasonable to him and a natural transition.  
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve Z-19-03. Ms. Turner seconded the motion. The motion was 
approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays, 1 abstention.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-14 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON 
BY CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM AGRICULTURAL TO MULTI 
FAMILY DISTRICT ON A 2.24 ACRE TRACT, WITH DEVELOPMENT TO BE 
REGULATED UNDER TYPE AREA 8 DESIGN STANDARDS. 
 

WHEREAS, Shine Branch, LLC, owner of the following described property has 
presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said 
petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition 
and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance 
and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & Zoning Commission 
of the City of Belton was set for the 19th day of February, 2019, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing 
and adoption, said district being described as follows: 

 
2.24 acres at 406 N. Loop 121, Belton, Texas 

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was duly recommended by the 

said City Planning & Zoning Commission and the date, time and place of the hearing on 
said application by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 26th day of 
February, 2019, at 5:30 p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said 
hearing was given as required by ordinances and by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Agricultural Zoning District to Multi 
Family District, in accordance with Section 15 –Multiple Family Zoning District, and the 
Design Standards in Ordinance No. 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance.  The 
Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is hereby amended, subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
1. The use of this property must conform to the Multi Family Zoning District in all 

respects. 
  

2. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Type Area 8 
Design Standards, as identified in Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, including: 
 

a. Site Development Standards  
b. Building Design Standards 

 



This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Belton and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 26th day 
of February, 2019, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
26th day of February, 2019. 

 
 

 
__________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



EXHIBIT "A"



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 5   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
         
       Date:          February 26, 2019  
       Case No.:  Z-19-04 

Request:    Commercial – 1 to PD Office – 
2 District with a SUP for a Bail 
Bond Business 

Owner/Applicant:  Thomas Renschler/ 
Chase Chapman 

 
Agenda Item #8 
     
Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Commercial-1 to Planned 
Development Office-2 District with a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for the operation of a bail bond 
business on a 0.18 acre tract located at 795 E. Central Avenue, at the southeast corner of E. 
Central Avenue and S. Birdwell Street.  
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Current Zoning     Proposed Zoning  
     
Commercial-1 District PD – Office-2 with SUP for Bail Bond Business 

(Zoning Ordinance Sections 18, 32, & 33) 
 
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Designation: Commercial/Retail 
 
Design Standards Type Area: 7 - Projected growth for this area is primarily commercial, 
mixed use developments and urban residential infill, focusing on compatible uses.  
 
Case Summary 
 
The applicant is leasing this property and wishes to open a bail bonds office at this location. 
There is an existing residential structure on site that has been converted to office use and was 
recently used as a security firm office. Per Resolution #2007-14-R, passed by the City Council 
on February 27, 2007, Bail Bonding Agents and Services are only permitted in the Office-2 
District with a Specific Use Permit. Therefore, the applicant is requesting this zoning change 
and SUP to accommodate the use. The PD is proposed since the lot sizes do not meet the 
Office-2 District minimums, but Office-2 with a SUP is the vehicle in the Zoning Ordinance for 
a bail bonds business. 
 
This property, and the surrounding properties to the east and south, are zoned Commercial-1 
District. Properties to the north and west are zoned Retail District. Auto Zone is located on the 



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 5   
 

adjacent property to the east, while residential uses are located to the south. Uses along the 
north side of Central Avenue near this site include Eagle Auto Parts and Schoepf’s BBQ, while 
uses on the south side include a parking area and O’Reilly’s Auto Parts. 
 
Land Use Table/Allowable Uses 
 
The proposed PD with an Office-2 Base Zoning District allows the following land uses: 
 

• Any use permitted in the Office-1 District 
• Auto parking lot or garage 
• Bank, savings and loan, credit union or other financial institution 
• Child care center; school, college or university 
• Church 
• Civic Center 
• Clinic or medical office; scientific or research lab 
• Motels and hotels 
• Offices 
• Personal service shop 
• Theater (indoor) 

 
It should be noted that the current Commercial-1 Zoning District permits uses that are allowed 
in the Office-1, Office-2, Neighborhood Services, Retail, and Commercial-1 Zoning Districts. 
The proposed PD with Office-2 base zoning will result in a reduction of uses that are allowed 
by right. In addition, open storage is prohibited in the Office-2 Zoning District, but allowed in 
the Commercial-1 District. 
 
Area Requirements 
 
Area requirements for the Office-2 District are listed below: 
 

Minimum Lot Area: 10,000 sq. ft. 
Minimum Lot Width: n/a Minimum Lot Depth:  n/a 
Minimum Front Yard: 50’  Minimum Rear Yard: 20’ 
Minimum Side Yard: 25’ on adjacent die property line; 50’ on corner lot 
Maximum Lot Coverage: 50% 
Parking Requirement: 1 space per 300 sq. ft. For this office building of 861 sq. ft. the 
requirement is 3 paved parking spaces. 

 
This lot is only 42 feet wide and 191 feet long; therefore, at approximately 8,050 sq. ft., it does 
not meet the minimum area requirement of 10,000 sq. ft. It is not possible to meet the 50’ and 
25’ side yard setback requirements with only 42’ in width. Nor does the existing structure meet 
the 50’ front yard setback requirement. Therefore, a PD is proposed to address reductions 
needed in these setbacks and area requirements. 
  
 



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 5   
 

Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
A site plan is required by both the Planned Development District and the Specific Use Permit 
provisions. The site plan that has been provided shows the existing structure and carport, and 
the area that will be paved for parking. No expansion of the structure will occur, and all activities 
will occur inside the structure. If the requested zoning change is approved, any use allowed in 
the Office-1 or Office-2 Zoning Districts would be allowed, plus a bail bonds office would be 
allowed, per the submitted site plan. If the building is enlarged or the site plan changes 
significantly, a zoning code amendment would be needed. Since the adjacent residential uses 
to the south are zoned Commercial-1, fencing or screening is not required by the Zoning 
Ordinance; however, screening may be required as a condition of the SUP/PD if deemed 
necessary. 
 
Per Zoning Ordinance Section 33.2, in the spirit of determining the validity of the SUP request 
for a bail bonds business, the following criteria should be considered: 
 

1. Is the use harmonious and compatible with surrounding existing uses or proposed uses? 
2. Are the activities requested by the applicant normally associated with the requested 

use? 
3. Is the nature of the use reasonable? 
4. Has any impact on the surrounding area been mitigated? 

 
The applicant currently has another bail bonds office in Waco, Break ‘Em Out Bail Bonds, that 
has been in operation since 1994, so he has several years of experience with this type of 
business. The Belton office will function the same as the Waco office. Although 24 hour service 
will be provided via phone, the applicant has indicated the office hours will generally be limited 
to 8 to 5 Monday through Friday, and 10 to 2 on Saturday. Customers and employees will only 
be on-site during these hours of operation. Initially there will be two employees, with possibly 
a third in the future. The applicant has been advised that no parking will be allowed in the street 
right-of-way or on an unimproved surface; therefore, additional paved parking may be needed 
in the future. 
 
The requested zoning change and SUP appears to satisfy the criteria above. Fencing may be 
provided to separate the residential property to the south; however, the uses allowed with the 
zoning change to Office-2 are more limited than those currently allowed with the Commercial- 
1 zoning, and no outside storage is permitted in the Office-2 zoning; therefore, the need for 
fencing may be minimal. 
 
The FLUM identifies this area as generally Commercial and Retail. The Commercial and Retail 
Zoning Districts also allow office use, so the requested PD Office-2 Zoning District is a bit more 
limiting, but is not in conflict with the FLUM. The existing commercial/retail uses next to 
residential uses is not desirable; however, that is the current condition. It is anticipated that the 
residential uses will eventually transition to non-residential. The office use is generally 
considered more compatible with residential uses; therefore, the requested PD Office-2 may 
actually be considered a more compatible zoning district given the current use in the area.  



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 5   
 

P&ZC Update:  At the P&ZC meeting on February 19, 2019, the members discussed this case 
and concerns were expressed regarding the proposed “downzoning” of this property, given the 
location along a major retail corridor—Patriot Way—providing entry to Belton’s downtown area.  
Concerns were also expressed regarding the close proximity of this property to Belton’s Historic 
Downtown, and past action that was taken to limit the number of bail bond offices in that area.  
A motion to approve this zoning change and SUP failed with a vote of 2 in favor and 6 in 
opposition. 
 
The applicant has appealed the P&ZC decision and has indicated willingness to forego signage 
along the Central Avenue frontage to minimize their visibility along this important gateway to 
the city.  A condition to this effect has been added to the draft ordinance.  Since the P&ZC 
recommendation was for denial, a ¾ majority vote (6 votes) of the Council is required for 
approval. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019, and a motion to approve the 
requested zoning change and SUP failed.  Although staff recommended approval of the 
applicant’s request, we understand the Planning Commission recommendation and do not take 
issue with it.  
 
If the Council feels approval is warranted, an ordinance has been prepared with the following 
conditions:   
 

1. The use and development of the property shall conform to the Office-2 Zoning District 
in all respects. 
 

2. In addition, a specific use permit is authorized for a bail bond business, subject to the 
attached site plan and conditions below: 

a. All activities shall be conducted inside the building. 
b. Hours of operation shall typically be limited to normal daytime business hours 

and shall not exceed Monday through Saturday, 8 a.m to 5 p.m., except office 
may stay open until 6:00 p.m. on Fridays. 
 

3. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Design Standards per 
Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, except where allowances 
have been made for area and setback requirements for the existing structure. 
 

4. A minimum of 3 paved parking spaces must be provided on site. Parking in the ROW or 
on an unimproved surface is not allowed. 
 

5. No signage shall be placed on the front of the building or in the observed front yard of 
the lot. 

 
A motion to approve the zoning change will require six (6) affirmative votes. 



 
                                                                                                                           

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 5 of 5   
 

Attachments: 
 
Zoning application 
Property Location Map 
Zoning map 
Aerial map 
Map with zoning notice boundary (200’) 
Zoning notice to owners 
Property owners’ list 
Site plan 
Resolution #2007-14 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 
Ordinance 
 





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
5. Z-19-04     Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Commercial-1 to Planned 

Development Office-2 District with a Specific Use Permit for the operation of a bail bond 
business on a 0.18 acre tract located at 795 E. Central Avenue, at the southeast corner of E. 
Central Avenue and S. Birdwell Street.   
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit B). 
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. Mr. Chase Chapman, 795 East Central Avenue, said he 
is the applicant for this zoning change. Chair Baggerly said questions would be fielded after the 
public hearing. Mr. Tom Renschler, 2625 New Wood Lane in Waco, said he is the owner of the 
building at 795 East Central Avenue.  
 
Mr. Hendrick said the obvious question is about the parking spaces. With three employees and you 
have three parking places, where is the public going to park? You can’t park in the ROW on Central 
Avenue… Is there room for more parking spaces? Mr. Chapman said there is more room. We may 
add more parking spots, Mr. Chapman said, but at the moment we feel we will have room because 
of the number of employees and we won’t have more than one client at a time.  
 
Mr. Potts asked where is the closest public parking? No other close public parking was identified.  
 
Ms. O’Banion said she has a few concerns. A few years ago, there was an effort to clean up zoning 
around Downtown Belton and around our Central Avenue gateway, and we worked hard for the 
commercial zoning and retail zoning as we develop and enhance Downtown, starting with the Patriot 
Plaza and along the Patriot Brick Walkway (Central Avenue). Changing this zoning to Office-2 
would certainly be a big step back from those efforts, and those efforts are still continuing along 
Central Avenue as the gateway to Belton. She said she has a concern with changing that zoning at 
all. Mr. Covington said he shares that concern. He said he would need to see value added to change 
the zoning. He would want to see something specifically targeting tourism. Mr. Covington said he’s 
not really excited about the zoning request as being appropriate here.  
 
Mr. Potts said anytime a business is added or jobs are added is a great thing for our city. It is hard to 
imagine something else there that will go in that business, Mr. Potts said. Chair Baggerly said it’s 
currently a security firm? Correct, Ms. O’Banion said. Mr. Potts said if you’re bringing business to 
our city, then we appreciate it. Chair Baggerly said he remembers the ’90s and the 2000s, and I know 
what happened to our Downtown, and it was a sad place to be. He didn’t know what percentage of 
the businesses were bail bonds offices, but it was a lot, he said. Chair Baggerly said we did work 
very hard to turn that around, so his initial reaction is that he’s not excited to hear about this proposed 
change.  



2 
 

 
Ms. O’Banion said she wanted to support what Mr. Potts said. Absolutely we welcome businesses 
to our community, she said, and there are other O-2 properties that she thinks might be available, but 
we worked really hard in those days to enhance this gateway and zone it appropriately so that it 
would develop. It’s been part of a longtime strategic plan for the City and she thinks to change this 
with a Specific Use Permit, we are just taking a step back to undo all the work that the City has 
worked on for all of these years to enhance this particular gateway. Chair Baggerly said he agrees. 
He said it’s about a block-and-a-half into the “Welcome to Belton” sign.  This may not the best face 
we want visitors to see, Chair Baggerly said.  
 
Mr. Potts asked Ms. Maxwell where are the closest O-2 zoned properties. He said, are there any on 
this stretch? Ms. Maxwell said she did not think so along Central Avenue. It is Retail and then comes 
the Central Business District, which does allow a mix of uses. Specifically, Office-2, in this corridor 
there is not any, Ms. Maxwell said. Ms. O’Banion said that was designed that way. Mr. Potts said 
isn’t there a bail bond place just down the street? Ms. O’Banion said during those times if there was 
a bail bondsman doing business in a downtown location they could remain but once that particular 
business moved out another one cannot come back in, she said. Mr. Covington said that ordinance 
passed in 2007.  
 
Ms. O’Banion said she does support the business being in Belton, but it would be better served in a 
different location. Chair Baggerly said the vote we make tonight will go to City Council for approval, 
so this is not the final vote. Ms. Maxwell said she wanted to clarify; if the majority of the vote is 
disapproval, it will not automatically move forward. The applicant will have to appeal the decision 
for it to be heard by the City Council, she said.  
 
Mr. Potts asked the applicant his plans if this zoning change is not approved? Mr. Chapman said at 
the moment they don’t have a plan. He is friends with the building owner who is willing to let them 
use the property. Mr. Chapman said the property is in pretty bad shape and has been an eyesore for 
a while and we are going to put a substantial amount of money into the property to make it look 
better. Going from gravel to paved parking; it needs a new roof; we had to cut down a dangerous tree 
that was hanging in the powerlines. He believed he still needed the SUP regardless of where they do 
business in Belton. The neighboring businesses are fine with it, he said. Mr. Chapman said he didn’t 
see the problem with that location.  
 
Mr. Renschler said a security company is there now, and he believes Mr. Chapman’s business will 
actually improve the look of the property. He did not think it would hurt the appearance of that area 
and would improve the appearance of the city. Mr. Renschler said he leased some of that property to 
the City of Belton for use of underground electrical work and he was very nice to do that and it 
cleaned up that back portion. It is in a floodplain and there is no control over that area when the creek 
floods. He did not believe it would hurt the appearance of Belton, and it would add another business 
in Belton.  
 
Mr. Krueger said we asked Mr. Chapman what his options would be if this isn’t approved, what 
would your options be? Mr. Renschler said he would put his office back in there. He has offices in 
every major city in Texas and his business is the largest security company in Texas. He gave Mr. 
Chapman access to this location and he has done so many improvements, it’s unbelievable, Mr. 
Renschler said. It’s nothing but an asset, he said. There is not one liability, one negative idea, that 
could become of this, he said. Chair Baggerly thanked Mr. Renschler.  
 



3 
 

Mr. Potts said he owns a business downtown. When he looks at Belton he thinks we have too many 
bail bonds, too many auto stores and too many Mexican food restaurants. But at the same time when 
you see old buildings and someone willing to invest their money to bring it up to a better standard, 
he wants to support those people because I think Belton has really gotten a reputation as being closed 
to business. He hears people saying that a lot. If someone is willing to invest money there, and yes, 
it’s a bail bonds and it’s not an ideal choice, but it is the choice that we have, Mr. Potts said. He 
would love to see someone willing to invest money into our downtown and cleaning up our buildings 
so he will vote in favor of that.  
 
Chair Baggerly entertained a motion. Mr. Potts made a motion to approve Z-19-04. Mr. Hendrick 
seconded the motion. The motion was disapproved. The vote was 2 ayes in favor and 6 nays against 
the zoning change Z-19-04.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-15 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON 
BY CHANGING THE DESCRIBED DISTRICT FROM COMMERCIAL – 1 TO PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT OFFICE – 2 DISTRICT WITH A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR THE 
OPERATION OF A BAIL BOND BUSINESS ON A 0.18 ACRE TRACT, WITH 
DEVELOPMENT TO BE REGULATED UNDER TYPE AREA 7 DESIGN STANDARDS. 
 

WHEREAS, Thomas Renschler, owner of the following described property has 
presented a petition duly signed, to the City Planning & Zoning Commission and filed said 
petition with the City Clerk of the City of Belton, and due notice of filing of said petition 
and hearing on said petition has been given as required by the City Zoning Ordinance 
and by law, and a hearing on said petition before the City Planning & Zoning Commission 
of the City of Belton was set for the 19th day of February, 2019, at 5:30 p.m. for hearing 
and adoption, said district being described as follows: 

 
0.18 acre at 795 E. Central Avenue, Belton, Texas 

(location map attached as Exhibit “A”) 
 
WHEREAS, said application for such amendment was not favorably 

recommended by the said City Planning & Zoning Commission, which decision was 
appealed by the applicant, and the date, time and place of the hearing on said application 
by the City Council of the City of Belton was set for the 26th day of February, 2019, at 5:30 
p.m. at the Harris Community Center and due notice of said hearing was given as required 
by ordinances and by law;  
 

WHEREAS, a hearing was held upon the application by the City Council of the City 
of Belton at the time, place and date herein before set forth and no valid objection to said 
amendments was presented; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Belton at the time, place and date herein 

before set forth approved the application with a ¾ majority vote.   
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Belton, 
Texas, that the said district located on a tract of land as more fully and completely 
described above, be and is hereby changed from Commercial – 1 District to Planned 
Development Office – 2 District with a Specific Use Permit, in accordance with Section 
18 – Office – 2 Zoning District, and the Design Standards in Ordinance No. 2014-17, 
Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance.  The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Belton is 
hereby amended, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The use and development of the property shall conform to the Office-2 Zoning 

District in all respects. 
 

2. In addition, a specific use permit is authorized for a bail bond business, subject to 
the attached site plan and conditions below: 



a. All activities shall be conducted inside the building. 
b. Hours of operation shall typically be limited to normal daytime business 

hours and shall not exceed Monday through Saturday, 8 a.m to 5 p.m., 
except office may stay open until 6:00 p.m. on Fridays. 
 

3. The development of the property shall conform to all applicable Design Standards 
per Ordinance 2014-17, Section 7.1 of the Zoning Ordinance, except where 
allowances have been made for area and setback requirements for the existing 
structure. 
 

4. A minimum of 3 paved parking spaces must be provided on site. Parking in the 
ROW or on an unimproved surface is not allowed. 
 

5. No signage shall be placed on the front of the building or in the observed front yard 
of the lot. 

 
This ordinance was presented at the stated meeting of the City Council of the City 

of Belton and upon reading was passed and adopted by the City Council on the 26th day 
of February, 2019, by a vote of ______ ayes and ______ nays. 
 

SIGNED AND APPROVED by the Mayor and attested by the City Clerk on this the 
26th day of February, 2019. 

 
 

 
__________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



EXHIBIT "A"



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
      Date:  February 26, 2019  

Case No.: P-19-05 Three Creeks Phase VI 
      Request: Final Plat 
      Applicant: Yalgo Engineering   
      Owner/Developer: Whitis Land Investments, LTD 
Agenda Item #9 
     
Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VI, a 65.05 acre tract located generally east of FM 
1670 and south of US 190, along the south side of an extension of Three Creeks Blvd., in 
Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Case Summary 
 
The preliminary plat for phases IV through VII of the Three Creeks residential development 
was approved in August 2017. Phase VI proposes 138 lots and two common areas. The 7 
phases combined consist of a total 1,044 lots, a slight increase from the 1,033 that was 
originally proposed.  
 
This final plat is generally consistent with the approved preliminary plat. Minor changes are 
noted below: 
 
--One additional lot is included in this phase; was originally to be included in Phase IV.  
--Lots 75 – 80, Block 3 have been reconfigured.  
--Tract C has been merged with Lot 80, so there are only two tracts in the final plat.  
--The boundary of Tract A has been shifted slightly. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located in Belton’s ETJ so there is no zoning. All of the lots in each subdivision, 
including this phase, are a minimum of 50’ in width, 100’ in depth, and 5,000 sq. ft. in area. This 
is in compliance with the Development Agreement Section 5.02.b., executed in December 
2010. Setbacks include the following: 
 

Front Yard: 25’   
Rear Yard: 20’ 
Side Yard: 5’ interior; 15’ adjacent to a street; 25’ if garage entry from side street 

 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Per the Development Agreement approved in 2010, Bell County Municipal Utility District (MUD) 
No. 1 was created to finance infrastructure in, and to, this subdivision. This infrastructure 
includes water, sewer, drainage, and roadways. 
 
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water/Sewer: This phase lies within Belton’s water and sewer CCN. Six inch water and sewer 
lines are being extended throughout the subdivision. Fire hydrant flows and locations meet the 
City’s Fire Code. The City will be responsible for maintaining the water and sewer lines after 
construction. 
 
Access: The development agreement approved by the City Council in 2010 included a master 
plan of the proposed subdivision that identified two points of access: one via Three Creeks 
Boulevard, and a second via the extension of Rocking M Lane. For Rocking M Lane, the 
approved Development Agreement Section 6.06 states that the developer will grade and 
prepare with crushed limestone base 27’ wide and provide a 25 foot double penetration/seal 
coat travel surface of Rocking M Lane from Auction Barn Road to the Municipal Utility District’s 
northern property line within two years from the completion and acceptance of the first 
roundabout on the arterial roadway known as Three Creeks Boulevard. The developer will also 
dedicate 50’ of right-of-way within this subdivision for the road extension. This requirement will 
be due May 1, 2019 and is currently underway. 
 
In 2016, the Subdivision Ordinance was amended (Section 502.01.J) to require, any single 
family residential subdivision within the City of Belton or the City’s ETJ to provide 3 
entrances/access streets for subdivisions with more than 101 lots. The City’s Thoroughfare 
Plan anticipates the future extension of Three Creeks Boulevard eastward to Shanklin Road, 
which will provide the 3rd connection, although it is not a requirement for this subdivision.  
 
Streets/Drainage: All of the streets in this phase are local streets and will be constructed with 
a 50’ ROW, 31’ pavement width, and curb/gutter. After construction, Bell County will be 
responsible for maintenance of the streets. Drainage plans and calculations have been 
provided and reviewed. Since this property lies in Belton’s ETJ, the City is not responsible for 
drainage and will defer to Bell County and their requirements. Drainage easements are being 
dedicated and will be owned and maintained by MUD #1.  
 
Sidewalks: Since the streets in this phase are all local streets, no sidewalks are required, or 
proposed. However, this phase will include an extension of the existing trail system, both nature 
trails as well as a 10’ wide improved surface with compacted crushed limestone base. 
 
Parkland Dedication/Fee: According to the Subdivision Ordinance Section 517, each 
residential subdivision is required to dedicate sufficient and suitable parkland and/or payment 
of fees-in-lieu of required parkland. There are a total of 1,044 lots in Phases I-VII and ultimately 
1,500 lots for the entire Three Creeks subdivision; therefore, a total of 10 acres of parkland is 
required for the 7 phases, and ultimately 15 acres for the entire 1,500 lots in this subdivision. 
The developer has provided a total of 127.34 acres of private parkland that contains several 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

trail networks and pavilions for the residents. This private parkland exceeds the Subdivision 
Ordinance requirements and is consistent with the master plan in the development agreement. 
The parkland facilities, greenspaces, and trails will be maintained by the HOA. This phase 
proposes two tracts, or greenspace areas. Tract A comprises 0.5 acre, and Tract B comprises 
31.18 acres.  
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell County 
Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which are being addressed. 
After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County Commissioners Court for approval.    
We have reviewed the plat and find it acceptable as a final plat, subject to conditions identified 
in the City letter dated February 14, 2019.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and unanimously 
recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the conditions below, and Staff concurs with 
their recommendation.  
 

1. City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019. 
2. The terms of the development agreement. 

 
Attachments 
 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
Three Creeks Overall Layout 
Parkland Trails Concept Plan 
City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 

























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance – Chair Baggerly led all present. 
Invocation – Mr. Covington gave the Invocation. 
 

 
 

6. P-19-05 Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VI, a 65.05 acre tract located generally 
east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the south side of an extension of Three Creeks 
Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ.  
 

7. P-19-06  Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VII, a 21.56 acre tract located generally 
east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the north side of an extension of Three Creeks 
Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented a staff report for both items (Exhibit C). 
 
Chair Baggerly said he knew a lot of work went into the development agreement and we dotted a lot 
of I’s and crossed a lot of T’s to get to where we are today. Mr. Covington asked if Rocking M Lane 
is not coming through Phase VII correct? Ms. Maxwell said she believed it was in Phase V, which 
was confirmed by the project engineer, Mr. Freese. 
 
Mr. Tyler Freese, representing WB Development located at 3000 Illinois Avenue, Killeen, is the 
design engineer for everything after Phase III, he said. We brought Phases IV and V together, like 
Phases VI and VII, so whichever gets recorded first then Rocking M Lane needs to be done with it 
as well for access. He believed it was on schedule for the May 1 deadline.    
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve P-19-05. Ms. O’Banion seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays. Ms. O’Banion then made the motion to approve P-19-06. Mr. 
Hendrick seconded the motion which was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
      Date:  February 26, 2019  

Case No.: P-19-06  Three Creeks Phase VII 
      Request: Final Plat 
      Applicant: Yalgo Engineering   
      Owner/Developer: Whitis Land Investments, LTD 
Agenda Item #10 
     
Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VII, a 21.56 acre tract located generally east of 
FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the north side of an extension of Three Creeks Blvd., in 
Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Case Summary 
 
The preliminary plat for phases IV through VII of the Three Creeks residential development 
was approved in August 2017. Phase VII proposes 78 lots and two common areas. The 7 
phases combined consist of a total 1,044 lots, a slight increase from the 1,033 that was 
originally proposed. Three Creeks Boulevard will be extended to the eastern boundary of this 
subdivision as part of this phase and available for future extension eastward and connection to 
Shanklin Road, as identified on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan. 
 
This final plat is generally consistent with the approved preliminary plat. Minor changes are 
noted below: 
 

--Redfish Court shortened and lots slightly reconfigured in cul-de-sac.  
--Tract B boundary slightly adjusted. 

 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located in Belton’s ETJ so there is no zoning. All of the lots in each subdivision, 
including this phase, are a minimum of 50’ in width, 100’ in depth, and 5,000 sq. ft. in area. This 
is in compliance with the Development Agreement Section 5.02.b., executed in December 
2010. Setbacks include the following: 
 

Front Yard: 25’   
Rear Yard: 20’ 
Side Yard: 5’ interior; 15’ adjacent to a street; 25’ if garage entry from side street 

 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Per the Development Agreement approved in 2010, Bell County Municipal Utility District (MUD) 
No. 1 was created to finance infrastructure in, and to, this subdivision. This infrastructure 
includes water, sewer, drainage, and roadways. 
 
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water/Sewer: This phase lies within Belton’s water and sewer CCN. Six inch water and sewer 
lines are being extended throughout the subdivision. Fire hydrant flows and locations meet the 
City’s Fire Code. The City will be responsible for maintaining the water and sewer lines after 
construction. 
 
Access: The development agreement approved by the City Council in 2010 included a master 
plan of the proposed subdivision that identified two points of access: one via Three Creeks 
Boulevard, and a second via the extension of Rocking M Lane. For Rocking M Lane, the 
approved Development Agreement Section 6.06 states that the developer will grade and 
prepare with crushed limestone base 27’ wide and provide a 25 foot double penetration/seal 
coat travel surface of Rocking M Lane from Auction Barn Road to the Municipal Utility District’s 
northern property line within two years from the completion and acceptance of the first 
roundabout on the arterial roadway known as Three Creeks Boulevard. The developer will also 
dedicate 50’ of right-of-way within this subdivision for the road extension. This requirement will 
be due May 1, 2019 and is currently underway. 
 
In 2016, the Subdivision Ordinance was amended (Section 502.01.J) to require, any single 
family residential subdivision within the City of Belton or the City’s ETJ to provide 3 
entrances/access streets for subdivisions with more than 101 lots. The City’s Thoroughfare 
Plan anticipates the future extension of Three Creeks Boulevard eastward to Shanklin Road, 
which will provide the 3rd connection, although it is not a requirement for this subdivision.  
 
Streets/Drainage: The streets in this phase are local streets except for Three Creeks 
Boulevard, which is a major collector on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan. The local streets will be 
constructed with a 50’ ROW, 31’ pavement width, and curb/gutter. Three Creeks Boulevard will 
be constructed with a 120’ ROW, 37’ pavement width, but no curb/gutter. This is consistent 
with previous phases and the approved Development Agreement. After construction, Bell 
County will be responsible for maintenance of the streets.  
 
Drainage calculations have been provided and reviewed. Since this property lies in Belton’s 
ETJ, the city is not responsible for drainage and will defer to Bell County and their requirements. 
Drainage easements are being dedicated and will be owned and maintained by MUD #1.  
 
Sidewalks: No sidewalks are required, or proposed along the local streets; however, 6’ wide 
sidewalks are required along both sides of arterial streets, per Subdivision Ordinance Section 
503. This would apply for Three Creeks Boulevard; however, per the Development Agreement, 
Section 7.08, the developer may install and maintain trails along arterial and collection streets 
in lieu of installing sidewalks. The existing 6’ wide hike/bike trail along the south side of Three 
Creeks Boulevard will be extended as part of this phase. 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Parkland Dedication/Fee: According to the Subdivision Ordinance Section 517, each 
residential subdivision is required to dedicate sufficient and suitable parkland and/or payment 
of fees-in-lieu of required parkland. There are a total of 1,044 lots in Phases I-VII and ultimately 
1,500 lots for the entire Three Creeks subdivision; therefore, a total of 10 acres of parkland is 
required for the 7 phases, and ultimately 15 acres for the entire 1,500 lots in this subdivision. 
The developer has provided a total of 127.34 acres of private parkland that contains several 
trail networks and pavilions for the residents. This private parkland exceeds the Subdivision 
Ordinance requirements and is consistent with the master plan in the development agreement. 
The parkland facilities, greenspaces, and trails will be maintained by the HOA. This phase 
proposes two tracts, or greenspace areas. Tract A comprises 0.89 acre, and Tract B comprises 
0.32 acre. 
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell County 
Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which are being addressed. 
After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County Commissioners Court for approval.    
We have reviewed the plat and find it acceptable as a final plat, subject to conditions identified 
in the city letter dated February 14, 2019.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and unanimously 
recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the conditions below, and Staff concurs with 
their recommendation.  

1. City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019. 
2. The terms of the development agreement. 

 
Attachments 
 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
Three Creeks Overall Layout 
Parkland Trails Concept Plan 
City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 

























1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance – Chair Baggerly led all present. 
Invocation – Mr. Covington gave the Invocation. 
 

 
 

6. P-19-05 Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VI, a 65.05 acre tract located generally 
east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the south side of an extension of Three Creeks 
Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ.  
 

7. P-19-06  Consider a final plat of Three Creeks Phase VII, a 21.56 acre tract located generally 
east of FM 1670 and south of US 190, along the north side of an extension of Three Creeks 
Blvd., in Belton’s ETJ. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented a staff report for both items (Exhibit C). 
 
Chair Baggerly said he knew a lot of work went into the development agreement and we dotted a lot 
of I’s and crossed a lot of T’s to get to where we are today. Mr. Covington asked if Rocking M Lane 
is not coming through Phase VII correct? Ms. Maxwell said she believed it was in Phase V, which 
was confirmed by the project engineer, Mr. Freese. 
 
Mr. Tyler Freese, representing WB Development located at 3000 Illinois Avenue, Killeen, is the 
design engineer for everything after Phase III, he said. We brought Phases IV and V together, like 
Phases VI and VII, so whichever gets recorded first then Rocking M Lane needs to be done with it 
as well for access. He believed it was on schedule for the May 1 deadline.    
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve P-19-05. Ms. O’Banion seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays. Ms. O’Banion then made the motion to approve P-19-06. Mr. 
Hendrick seconded the motion which was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 4   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
      Date:  February 26, 2019  

Case No.: P-19-02 Eagles Bend Subdivision 
      Request: Final Plat 
      Applicant: All County Surveying, Inc. 
      Owner/Developer: JRBC Investments, LLC 
Agenda Item #11 
     
Consider a final plat of Eagles Bend Subdivision, comprising 23.186 acres, located along the 
north side of Sparta Road, beginning approximately 300’ east of Sparta Lane, and along the 
south side of Eagle Point West, beginning approximately 200’ west of Summit Circle, in Belton’s 
ETJ. 

 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Case Summary 
 
This subdivision is proposed for a residential development consisting of 10 lots. Five of the lots 
will front on Sparta Road and 5 lots will front on Eagle Point West and be accessed via a 25’ 
cross access easement. One single family residence is currently located on Lot 3.  
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located in Belton’s ETJ so there is no zoning. The lots range in size from 0.942 
acre to 4.981 acres in size. The 5 lots fronting on Sparta Road have a 50’ front yard setback, 
while the lots fronting on Eagle Point West have a 25’ front yard setback.  
 
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water: This property is located within the 439 Water Supply Corporation (WSC) CCN. They 
have provided a letter confirming their ability to serve this subdivision. There is a 12” water line 
along Eagle Point West and a 10” water line along Sparta Road. No extensions are necessary; 
these lines will be tapped to provide service to these lots.  
 
The City of Belton Fire Code requires a minimum water flow of 1,000 gpm for fire hydrants. 439 
WSC cannot confirm this flow rate can be sustained; therefore, the developer is requesting a 
variance to this requirement, and staff supports this request. The existing fire hydrant locations 
are satisfactory.    
 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 4   
 

Sewer: No sanitary sewer is available to serve this subdivision. Septic systems are proposed, 
subject to approval by the Bell County Public Health District. The lots exceeds the minimum 
0.5 acres required for a septic system. 
 
Drainage: Drainage calculations have been provided and reviewed. Since this property lies in 
Belton’s ETJ, the city is not responsible for drainage and will defer to Bell County and their 
requirements.  
 
Streets: The Thoroughfare Plan identifies Sparta Road as a major collector roadway with a 
required ROW width of 80’. Current ROW is approximately 60’ so an additional 20’ is needed. 
The applicant is responsible for providing ½ of the needed ROW, or 10’, and is dedicating this 
portion on the plat.     
 
Eagle Point West is a local street which currently has approximately 50’ ROW. Bell County is 
requesting 60’ ROW total, so the applicant is responsible for providing additional ROW as 
needed to achieve 30’ of ROW from the centerline of the street to their property line. Based on 
the applicant’s measurements, no additional dedication is needed. Bell County Engineer’s 
office has confirmed the applicant has met their requirement.  
 
Regarding perimeter street improvements, both Sparta Road and Eagle Point West have 24’ 
wide pavement with a bar ditch drainage system. The Subdivision Ordinance (Section 
502.01.H) requires the developer to contribute one-half the total cost of paving with curb and 
gutter for the portion of roadway adjacent to this plat. The developer is requesting a variance 
to this requirement. Staff supports this request since this property is in Belton’s ETJ in an area 
that is mostly developed already with no curb/gutter or other improvements. This area is far 
outside the city limits, and the County is satisfied with the current facilities, which are under 
their maintenance. 
 
Access: The Subdivision Ordinance (Section 511.02) requires all lots to have “adequate 
access to an existing or proposed public street” by frontage of not less than 20’. The 
configuration of ROW for Eagle Point West is unconventional along the frontage of Lots 1 & 2. 
Although it does appear that each lot has at least 20’ of frontage along a public ROW, Lots 1 
& 2 do not have frontage along an improved street.  Access to all lots is proposed via a 25’ 
cross access easement on Lot 3, where there is an existing paved driveway. Extensions east 
and west are proposed across Lots 2 and 4 to provide access to Lots 1 & 5.   
 
The proposed access easement will also function as a fire lane. Section 514.01 of the 
Subdivision Ordinance requires fire lanes to be paved with either asphalt or concrete for a 
minimum width of 16’. The fire code also states the following: Facilities, buildings or portions of 
buildings hereafter constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus by way of 
an approved fire apparatus access road with an asphalt, concrete or other approved driving 
surface capable of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus weighing at least 75,000 
pounds (34 050 kg). The existing driveway on Lot 3 appears to meet this requirement; however, 
the applicant is requesting a variance to allow the paving/improvement requirement for the 
access easement running east/west across lots 2, 3 & 4 to be deferred to the time of 
development.  



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 4   
 

 
The applicant proposes to place this obligation on the lot owners at the time they are building 
their homes, to ensure the easement is in a location that meets the lot owners’ needs. Staff is 
generally supportive of this request, and the variance to public street access; however, there 
is no mechanism in place to ensure this requirement is upheld at a later date. If this property 
was inside the city limits, this requirement could be enforced through the building permit 
process. However, in the ETJ, there are no building permits, so there are limited opportunities 
to enforce this provision if it is not required with the plat. A note is provided on the plat and a 
provision included in the restrictive covenants for Lots 1 - 5 in Article XIX to document this 
requirement, and to put future purchasers on notice regarding this obligation. 
 
Sidewalks: The Subdivision Ordinance requires the developer to construct and install a 5-foot 
wide sidewalk along the subdivision side of collector streets, which would apply to Sparta Road.  
This requirement is waived since the plat is in Belton’s ETJ and no entities have assumed 
responsibility for sidewalk maintenance.  
 
Parkland Dedication/Fee: Residential subdivisions are required to dedicate suitable lands for 
the purpose of parkland and/or make a financial contribution for the acquisition and 
development of such parkland. One acre for each 100 new dwelling units projected is required. 
With 10 lots, the dedication would be 0.1 acre, which is considerably short of the minimum two 
acres desired for dedication. The fee in lieu of dedication is $200/lot which would be $2,000 for 
this subdivision. A variance to the parkland dedication/fee requirement is requested. Staff 
supports the variance request since there are no plans to develop a public park in this vicinity 
at this time and these lots are large with ample open space available to satisfy the needs of the 
lot owners.  
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell County 
Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which are being addressed. 
After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County Commissioners Court for approval.    
We have reviewed the plat and find it acceptable as a final plat, subject to conditions identified 
in the city letter dated February 14, 2019.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and unanimously 
recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the conditions below, and Staff concurs with 
their recommendation.  
 

1. Approval of variance to water flow (1,000 gpm) requirement for fire protection;  
2. Approval of variance to perimeter street improvements and sidewalk requirement for 

Sparta Road;  
3. Approval of variance to requirement that lots have frontage on a public street to allow 

access via a 25’ cross access easement; and deferral of requirement to provide an 
access easement for a fire lane with a paved or improved driving surface that can 
support a minimum weight of 75,000 pounds to such time as the lots are developed.  

4. Approval of variance to the parkland dedication/fee requirement; 



 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 4   
 

5. City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019. 
 
 
Attachments 
 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
Variance Request 
City letter of conditions dated February 14, 2019 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
8. P-19-02 Consider a final plat of Eagles Bend Subdivision, comprising 23.186 acres, located 

along the north side of Sparta Road, beginning approximately 300’ east of Sparta Lane, and 
along the south side of Eagle Point West, beginning approximately 200’ west of Summit Circle, 
in Belton’s ETJ. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit E). 
 
Chair Baggerly said it seems like all elements are in order. Ms. O’Banion said it seems like another 
good one.  
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve P-19-02. Ms. O’Banion seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
      Date:  February 26, 2019  

Case No.: P-19-07 Sherwood Shores Phase IX 
      Request: Replat 
      Applicant: All County Surveying 

Owner:  Elizabeth Balderas 
 
Agenda Item #12 
     
Consider a final plat of Sherwood Shores IX, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, Camelot Section, 
Lots 591 and 592, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 1670, on the 
north side of Goodrich Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Case Summary 
 
This is a one-lot subdivision proposed for residential development. There are currently no 
structures located on this tract; however, it is proposed for a residence and is under review for 
a septic system by Bell County Public Health District. The proposed lot has frontage on 
Goodrich Drive and has a 25’ front yard setback. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located in Belton’s ETJ so there is no zoning. This plat combines two lots into 
one, comprising 0.23 acres. The original plat was approved in 1967.  
 
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water: This property is located within the Dog Ridge Water Supply Corporation (WSC) CCN. 
They have provided a letter confirming their ability to serve this subdivision. There is a 2” water 
line running along the north side of this lot that will be tapped to provide service. 
 
The City of Belton Fire Code requires a minimum water flow of 1,000 gpm for fire hydrants. The 
existing water pressure is estimated at 92 gpm. The developer is requesting a variance to this 
requirement. Staff supports a variance to this requirement since it represents conditions that 
were previously approved by Bell County with the original plat and no additional lots are being 
created. Dog Ridge WSC water system is limited in this location and a fire hydrant cannot be 
placed on the existing 2” water line. In the event of a fire, water tanker trucks will be needed to 
suppress the fire.  



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Sewer: No sanitary sewer is available to serve this subdivision. A septic system is proposed, 
subject to approval by the Bell County Public Health District (BCPHD). The lot does not meet 
the minimum 0.5 acre typically required for a septic system; however, this requirement does 
not apply to subdivisions platted before 1988.  
 
Drainage: With just one single family residence proposed on this site, and two lots being 
consolidated into one, minimal impact, if any, is anticipated regarding drainage. Since this 
property lies in Belton’s ETJ, the city is not responsible for drainage and will defer to Bell County 
and their requirements.  
 
Streets/Access: The adjacent street, Goodrich Drive is an unimproved street, in public ROW. 
60’ ROW exists, so no additional ROW is needed. The original plat, Sherwood Shores VII 
Camelot Section was platted in 1967. Roadways were dedicated to the public; however 
improvements to Goodrich, Kimberly, and Swanson Lane were never constructed, and 
roadways were never accepted by the County. As a result, the ROW is considered public, but 
the streets are considered private, and under private maintenance. The applicant is requesting 
a variance to allow lot frontage on a private street (Section 511.02). A variance is also 
requested to the perimeter street improvement requirement for Goodrich Drive (Section 
502.01.H).  
 
Regarding Subdivision Ordinance Section 514.01, Fire Lanes, a 16’ paved surface is required 
to provide access for fire vehicles. The fire code also states the following: Facilities, buildings 
or portions of buildings hereafter constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus 
by way of an approved fire apparatus access road with an asphalt, concrete or 
other approved driving surface capable of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus 
weighing at least 75,000 pounds (34 050 kg). The distance to the nearest improved street is 
approximately 550’ (Sherwood Drive). The applicant is uncertain whether the existing 
unimproved road will meet this requirement, and is therefore, requesting a variance.  
 
In order for the County to accept these streets as public and assume public maintenance, the 
County would require the property owners to pay for the materials to pave the street, then the 
County would absorb the cost to construct the roadways and would then accept them and 
maintain them. They would require a minimum 22’ pavement with 4’ shoulder on each side. 
They currently have no plans to do so but would consider if requested by all of the affected 
property owners and funds provided. 
 
The roads in this portion of the subdivision are below city and county standards; however, we 
recognize that this is a replat. The lots in the original subdivision are already legally existing 
(since 1967) and available for purchase. The replat combines two lots into one, thereby 
reducing the lot density. Staff supports the variances requested regarding access, perimeter 
street improvements, and fire lanes, only because this is a replat. These variances would not 
be supported for a new subdivision. 
 
Regarding sidewalks, we have determined this requirement is not applicable in the ETJ due to 
no entity accepting responsibility for maintenance. 
 



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Parkland Dedication/Fee: Residential subdivisions are required to dedicate suitable lands for 
the purpose of parkland and/or make a financial contribution for the acquisition and 
development of such parkland. The fee in lieu of dedication is $200/lot which would be $200 
for this subdivision. A variance to the parkland dedication/fee is requested. Staff supports the 
variance request since there are no plans to develop a public park in this vicinity at this time 
and this is a replat proposing a reduction in density from two lots to one.  
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell County 
Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which have been addressed. 
After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County Commissioners Court for approval.    
We have reviewed the plat and find it acceptable as a final plat, subject to conditions below. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and unanimously 
recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the conditions below, and Staff concurs with 
their recommendation.  
 

1. Approval of variance to water flow (1,000 gpm) requirement for fire protection;  
2. Approval of variance to perimeter street improvements and sidewalk requirement for 

Goodrich Drive;  
3. Approval of variance to requirement that lots have frontage on a public street and 

requirement to provide an access easement for a fire lane with a paved or improved 
driving surface that can support a minimum weight of 75,000 pounds; 

4. Approval of variance to the parkland dedication/fee requirement. 
 

 
Attachments 
 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
Variance Request 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 



















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
9. P-19-07 Consider a final plat of Sherwood Shores IX, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, 

Camelot Section, Lots 591 and 592, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 
1670, on the north side of Goodrich Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 
 

10. P-19-08 Consider a final plat of Lopez Addition, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, Camelot 
Section, Lots 567 and 568, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 1670, on 
the south side of Kimberly Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Ms. Maxwell presented a staff report for both items P-19-07 and P-19-08 (Exhibit F). 
 
Mr. Hendrick said he didn’t have a problem with the request. 
 
Mr. Covington said every time they consider a plat in Sherwood Shores, he wants to go on the record 
saying he thinks it is an undue burden on the property owner to have to go through the replat process. 
He realizes what we’re up against. He wishes that the county and the state and TCEQ could come up 
with an alternative that does not require an expensive replat to do this. He said he knows that’s not 
Ms. Maxwell’s problem but he wanted to say his peace before he votes yes. Noted, Chair Baggerly 
said. Thank you, Mr. Covington, he added.  
 
Mr. Covington made a motion to approve P-19-07. Mr. Hendrick seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays. Mr. Covington made a motion to approve P-19-08. Mr. Hendrick 
seconded the motion, which was approved 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
      Date:  February 26, 2019  

Case No.: P-19-08 Lopez Addition 
      Request: Replat 
      Applicant: All County Surveying 

Owner:  Jose Lopez and Kimberly Olivarez 
 
Agenda Item #13 
     
Consider a final plat of Lopez Addition, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, Camelot Section, Lots 
567 and 568, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 1670, on the south 
side of Kimberly Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Case Summary 
 
This is a one-lot subdivision proposed for residential development. There is an existing mobile 
home on site that is in need of a new septic system. This is under review by the Bell County 
Public Health District. The proposed lot has frontage on Kimberly Drive and has a 25’ front yard 
setback. 
 
Project Analysis and Discussion 
 
This property is located in Belton’s ETJ so there is no zoning. This plat combines two lots into 
one, comprising 0.23 acres. The original plat was approved in 1967.  
 
Following is a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as they apply to this 
subdivision plat. 
 
Water: This property is located within the Dog Ridge Water Supply Corporation (WSC) CCN. 
They have provided a letter confirming their ability to serve this subdivision. There is a 2” water 
line running along the south side of this lot that will be tapped to provide service. 
 
The City of Belton Fire Code requires a minimum water flow of 1,000 gpm for fire hydrants. The 
existing water pressure is estimated at 92 gpm. The developer is requesting a variance to this 
requirement. Staff supports a variance to this requirement since it represents conditions that 
were previously approved by Bell County with the original plat and no additional lots are being 
created. Dog Ridge WSC water system is limited in this location and a fire hydrant cannot be 
placed on the existing 2” water line. In the event of a fire, water tanker trucks will be needed to 
suppress the fire.  



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Sewer: No sanitary sewer is available to serve this subdivision. A septic system is proposed, 
subject to approval by the Bell County Public Health District (BCPHD). The lot does not meet 
the minimum 0.5 acre typically required for a septic system; however, this requirement does 
not apply to subdivisions platted before 1988.  
 
Drainage: With just one single family residence proposed on this site, and two lots being 
consolidated into one, minimal impact, if any, is anticipated regarding drainage. Since this 
property lies in Belton’s ETJ, the city is not responsible for drainage and will defer to Bell County 
and their requirements.  
 
Streets/Access: The adjacent street, Kimberly Drive is an unimproved street, in public ROW. 
60’ ROW exists, so no additional ROW is needed. The original plat, Sherwood Shores VII 
Camelot Section was platted in 1967. Roadways were dedicated to the public; however 
improvements to Goodrich, Kimberly, and Swanson Lane were never constructed, and 
roadways were never accepted by the County. As a result, the ROW is considered public, but 
the streets are considered private, and under private maintenance. The applicant is requesting 
a variance to allow lot frontage on a private street (Section 511.02). A variance is also 
requested to the perimeter street improvement requirement for Kimberly Drive (Section 
502.01.H).  
 
Regarding Subdivision Ordinance Section 514.01, Fire Lanes, a 16’ paved surface is required 
to provide access for fire vehicles. The fire code also states the following: Facilities, buildings 
or portions of buildings hereafter constructed shall be accessible to fire department apparatus 
by way of an approved fire apparatus access road with an asphalt, concrete or 
other approved driving surface capable of supporting the imposed load of fire apparatus 
weighing at least 75,000 pounds (34 050 kg). The distance to the nearest improved street is 
approximately 600’ (Camelot Lane). The applicant is uncertain whether the existing 
unimproved road will meet this requirement, and is therefore, requesting a variance.  
 
In order for the County to accept these streets as public and assume public maintenance, the 
County would require the property owners to pay for the materials to pave the street, then the 
County would absorb the cost to construct the roadways and would then accept them and 
maintain them. They would require a minimum 22’ pavement with 4’ shoulder on each side. 
They currently have no plans to do so but would consider if requested by all of the affected 
property owners and funds provided. 
 
The roads in this portion of the subdivision are below city and county standards; however, we 
recognize that this is a replat. The lots in the original subdivision are already legally existing 
(since 1967) and available for purchase. The replat combines two lots into one, thereby 
reducing the lot density. Staff supports the variances requested regarding access, perimeter 
street improvements, and fire lanes, only because this is a replat. These variances would not 
be supported for a new subdivision. 
 
Regarding sidewalks, we have determined this requirement is not applicable in the ETJ due to 
no entity accepting responsibility for maintenance. 
 



 
 
 

City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Parkland Dedication/Fee: Residential subdivisions are required to dedicate suitable lands for 
the purpose of parkland and/or make a financial contribution for the acquisition and 
development of such parkland. The fee in lieu of dedication is $200/lot which would be $200 
for this subdivision. A variance to the parkland dedication/fee is requested. Staff supports the 
variance request since there are no plans to develop a public park in this vicinity at this time 
and this is a replat proposing a reduction in density from two lots to one.  
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell County 
Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which have been addressed. 
After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County Commissioners Court for approval.    
We have reviewed the plat and find it acceptable as a final plat, subject to conditions below.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission met on February 19, 2019 and unanimously 
recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the conditions below, and Staff concurs with 
their recommendation.  
 

1. Approval of variance to water flow (1,000 gpm) requirement for fire protection;  
2. Approval of variance to perimeter street improvements and sidewalk requirement for 

Kimberly Drive;  
3. Approval of variance to requirement that lots have frontage on a public street and 

requirement to provide an access easement for a fire lane with a paved or improved 
driving surface that can support a minimum weight of 75,000 pounds; 

4. Approval of variance to the parkland dedication/fee requirement. 
 

 
Attachments 
 
Final Plat Application 
Final Plat 
Location Map 
Variance Request 
P&Z Minutes Excerpt 





















1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, February 19, 2019 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, Ty Hendrick, Dave Covington, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Zach Krueger, Luke Potts, Quinton Locklin and Allison Turner. The following 
staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk 
Laura Livingston. Commission member David Jarratt was absent.  
 
9. P-19-07 Consider a final plat of Sherwood Shores IX, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, 

Camelot Section, Lots 591 and 592, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 
1670, on the north side of Goodrich Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 
 

10. P-19-08 Consider a final plat of Lopez Addition, a replat of Sherwood Shores VII, Camelot 
Section, Lots 567 and 568, comprising 0.23 acres located south of I-14 and west of FM 1670, on 
the south side of Kimberly Drive, west of Swanson Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Ms. Maxwell presented a staff report for both items P-19-07 and P-19-08 (Exhibit F). 
 
Mr. Hendrick said he didn’t have a problem with the request. 
 
Mr. Covington said every time they consider a plat in Sherwood Shores, he wants to go on the record 
saying he thinks it is an undue burden on the property owner to have to go through the replat process. 
He realizes what we’re up against. He wishes that the county and the state and TCEQ could come up 
with an alternative that does not require an expensive replat to do this. He said he knows that’s not 
Ms. Maxwell’s problem but he wanted to say his peace before he votes yes. Noted, Chair Baggerly 
said. Thank you, Mr. Covington, he added.  
 
Mr. Covington made a motion to approve P-19-07. Mr. Hendrick seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays. Mr. Covington made a motion to approve P-19-08. Mr. Hendrick 
seconded the motion, which was approved 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 1   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #14 
     
Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance on second and final reading granting a 
franchise to Atmos Energy. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Administration – Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
Summary Information 
 
In 1977, the City of Belton authorized a franchise agreement with Lone Star Gas for a 
period of 25 years. The franchise agreement was amended in 1979 and 1981. 
 
In 2003, the City of Belton authorized a franchise agreement with TXU Gas, the successor 
company to Lone Star Gas, for a period of 15 years. The original franchise fee of 4% was 
amended to 5% in 2008, along with the recognition that the company name was now Atmos 
Energy. 
 
The current franchise ends in late 2019, and a new 25 year franchise has been proposed. 
There are no significant changes to the terms and conditions, therefore Staff recommends 
approval of the franchise agreement. 
 
In accordance with the City Charter, franchise ordinances require two readings and a public 
hearing. The franchise ordinance was approved on first reading at the February 12, 2019, 
City Council meeting. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
The City receives 5% of the total gross receipts from customers as a franchise fee. FY2019 
Budget for this franchise fee is $111,100. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Hold public hearing and approve ordinance on second and final reading. 
 
Attachments 
Proposed Franchise Agreement 
Presentation 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-13 
 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING TO ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION, A TEXAS AND 
VIRGINIA CORPORATION, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, A FRANCHISE TO 
CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN, AND OPERATE PIPELINES AND EQUIPMENT IN THE 
CITY OF BELTON, BELL COUNTY, TEXAS, FOR THE TRANSPORTATION, 
DELIVERY, SALE, AND DISTRIBUTION OF GAS IN, OUT OF, AND THROUGH SAID 
CITY FOR ALL PURPOSES; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF A FEE OR 
CHARGE FOR THE USE OF THE PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAYS; AND PROVIDING 
THAT SUCH FEE SHALL BE IN LIEU OF OTHER FEES AND CHARGES, 
EXCEPTING AD VALOREM TAXES; AND REPEALING ALL PREVIOUS GAS 
FRANCHISE ORDINANCES. 
 
 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS: 
 
 SECTION 1. GRANT OF AUTHORITY:  The City of Belton, Texas, hereinafter 

called “City,” hereby grants to Atmos Energy Corporation, Mid-Tex Division, hereinafter 

called "Atmos Energy," its successors and assigns, consent to use and occupy the 

present and future streets, alleys, highways, public utility easements, public ways and 

other public places (“Public Rights-of-Way”), for the purpose of laying, maintaining, 

constructing, protecting, operating, and replacing therein and thereon pipelines and all 

other appurtenant equipment (the “System”) to deliver, transport, and distribute gas in, 

out of, and through City for persons, firms, and corporations, including all the general 

public, and to sell gas to persons, firms, and corporations, including all the general 

public, within the City corporate limits, as such limits may be amended from time to time 

during the term of this franchise, said consent being granted for a term ending 

December 31, 2044. 

 

 SECTION 2. CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, OPERATION & RELOCATION 

OF ATMOS ENERGY FACILITIES:   

 

A. Atmos Energy shall lay, maintain, construct, operate, and replace its pipes, 

mains, laterals, and other equipment to minimize interference with traffic, place or 

cause to be placed appropriate barriers to mark excavations or obstructions, and 

restore to approximate original condition all Public Rights-of-Way that it may 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 2 

disturb. In determining the location of the facilities of the City and other users of 

Public Right-of-Way within City, City shall minimize interference with then 

existing facilities of Atmos Energy and shall require other users of Public Rights-

of-Way to minimize interference with existing facilities of Atmos Energy. In the 

event of a conflict between the location of the proposed facilities of Atmos Energy 

and the location of the existing facilities of City or other users of Public Rights-of-

Way within Public Rights-of-Way that cannot otherwise be resolved, City or an 

authorized agent of City shall resolve the conflict and determine the location of 

the respective facilities within the Public Rights-of-Way.  

 

Atmos Energy or contractors working on behalf of Atmos Energy shall not be 

required to pay for street cutting, street excavation or other special permits 

related to excavations in Public Rights-of-Way in connection with Atmos Energy’s 

operations in Public Rights-of-Way. City shall provide Atmos Energy with its 

annual capital improvements plan as well as any updates or changes as soon as 

the plan, update, or change becomes available. City shall notify Atmos Energy as 

soon as reasonably possible of any projects that will affect Atmos Energy’s 

facilities located in the Public Rights-of-Way. When required by City to remove or 

relocate its mains, laterals, and/or other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-

Way, Atmos Energy shall do so as soon as practically possible with respect to 

the scope of the project. In no event shall Atmos Energy be required to remove 

or relocate its facilities in less than thirty (30) days from the time notice is given to 

Atmos Energy by City.  

 

B. If City, in constructing its sewers, drainage, water lines, streets, or utilities, should 

request that Atmos Energy remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and other 

facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos Energy shall do so at its own 

expense for facilities that are in conflict, unless such work is for the primary 

purpose of beautification or to accommodate a private developer. Facilities are 

deemed to be in conflict to the extent that the proposed City facilities are 

determined by Atmos Energy to be inconsistent with gas distribution industry 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 3 

standard safe operating practices for existing facilities. Atmos Energy shall not be 

required to relocate facilities to a depth of greater than four (4) feet unless prior 

agreement is obtained from Atmos Energy. 

 

When Atmos Energy is required by City to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, 

and other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way to accommodate a request 

by City, and costs of utility removals or relocations are eligible under federal, 

state, county, local or other programs for reimbursement of costs and expenses 

incurred by Atmos Energy as a result of such removal or relocation, and such 

reimbursement is required to be handled through City, Atmos Energy costs and 

expenses shall be included in any application by City for reimbursement if Atmos 

Energy submits its cost and expense documentation to City prior to the filing of 

the  application. City shall provide reasonable written notice to Atmos Energy of 

the deadline for Atmos Energy to submit documentation of the costs and 

expenses of such relocation to City. In the event that the City does not provide 

sufficient written notice to Atmos Energy as set forth in this paragraph, the City 

shall be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of the cost of the removal or relocation 

of Atmos Energy’s facilities.  

 

If Atmos Energy is required by City to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, or 

other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way for any reason other than the 

construction or reconstruction of sewers, drainage, water lines, streets or utilities 

by City, Atmos Energy shall be entitled to reimbursement from City or others of 

the cost and expense of such removal or relocation.  

 

C. When Atmos Energy is required to remove or relocate its mains, laterals or other 

facilities to accommodate construction by City without reimbursement from City, 

Atmos Energy shall have the right to seek recovery of relocation costs as 

provided for in applicable state and/or federal law. Nothing herein shall be 

construed to prohibit, alter, or modify in any way the right of Atmos Energy to 

seek or recover a surcharge from customers for the cost of relocation pursuant to 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 4 

applicable state and/or federal law. City shall not oppose recovery of relocation 

costs when Company is required by City to perform relocation. City shall not 

require that Company document request for reimbursement as a pre-condition to 

recovery of such relocation costs. 

 

D. If City abandons any Public Rights-of-Way in which Atmos Energy has facilities, 

such abandonment shall be conditioned on Atmos Energy’s right to maintain its 

use of the former Public Right-of-Way and on the obligation of the party to whom 

the Public Right-of-Way is abandoned to reimburse Atmos Energy for all removal 

or relocation expenses if Atmos Energy agrees to the removal or relocation of its 

facilities following abandonment of the Public Right-of-Way. If the party to whom 

the Public Right-of-Way is abandoned requests Atmos Energy to remove or 

relocate its facilities and Atmos Energy agrees to such removal or relocation, 

such removal or relocation shall be done within a reasonable time at the expense 

of the party requesting the removal or relocation. If relocation cannot practically 

be made to another Public Right-of-Way, the expense of any right-of-way 

acquisition shall be considered a relocation expense to be reimbursed by the 

party requesting the relocation. 

 

 SECTION 3. INDEMNITY & INSURANCE:  In the event of injury to any person or 

damage to any property by reason of Atmos Energy’s construction, operation, 

maintenance, or replacement of Atmos Energy’s pipeline system within Public Rights-of-

Way, Atmos Energy shall indemnify and keep harmless City from any and all liability in 

connection therewith, except to the extent such injury or damage is attributable to the 

fault of the City, including, without limitation, the City’s negligent or intentional acts or 

omissions. Atmos Energy’s insurance of its obligations and risks undertaken pursuant to 

this franchise may be in the form of self-insurance to the extent permitted by applicable 

law, under an Atmos Energy plan of self-insurance maintained in accordance with 

sound accounting and risk-management practices. 

 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 5 

 SECTION 4. NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE:  The rights, privileges, and 

franchises granted by this ordinance are not to be considered exclusive, and City 

hereby expressly reserves the right to grant, at any time, like privileges, rights, and 

franchises as it may see fit to any other person or corporation for the purpose of 

transporting, delivering, distributing, or selling gas to and for City and the inhabitants 

thereof.  

 

 SECTION 5. PAYMENTS TO CITY:   

 

A. Atmos Energy, its successors and assigns, agrees to pay and City agrees to 

accept, on or before the 15th day of November, 2020, and on or before the same 

day of each succeeding year during the term of this franchise the last payment 

being made on the 15th day of November, 2044, a sum of money which shall be 

equivalent to five percent (5%) of the Gross Revenues, as defined in 5.B below, 

received by Atmos Energy during the preceding calendar year.  

B. "Gross Revenues" shall mean:  

 

(1)   all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the sale of gas to all classes 

of customers (excluding gas sold to another gas utility in the City for resale 

to its customers within City) within the City; 

 

 (2) all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the transportation of gas 

through the System  of Atmos Energy within the City to customers located 

within the City (excluding any gas transported to another gas utility in City 

for resale to its customers within City);  

 

 (3) the value of gas transported by Atmos Energy for Transport Customers 

through the System of Atmos Energy within the City ("Third Party 

Sales")(excluding the value of any gas transported to another gas utility in 

City for resale to its customers within City), with the value of such gas to 

be established by utilizing Atmos Energy’s monthly Weighted Average 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 6 

Cost of Gas charged to industrial customers in the Mid-Tex division, as 

reasonably near the time as the transportation service is performed; and 

  

 (4) “Gross Revenues” shall also include fees collected pursuant to this 

agreement and the following “miscellaneous charges”: charges to connect, 

disconnect, or reconnect gas and charges to handle returned checks from 

consumers within the City. 

       

 (5) “Gross Revenues” shall not include: 

 

(a) revenues billed but not ultimately collected or received by 

Atmos Energy; 

(b) contributions in aid of construction; 

(c) the revenue of any affiliate or subsidiary of Atmos Energy; 

(d) sales tax paid to the City;  

   (e) interest or investment income earned by Atmos Energy; and 

(f) monies received from the lease or sale of real or personal 

property, provided, however, that this exclusion does not 

apply to the lease of facilities within the City's right of way. 

 

C. The initial payment for the rights and privileges herein provided shall be for the 

privilege period January 1 through December 31, 2020, and each succeeding 

payment shall be for the privilege period of the calendar year in which the 

payment is made. 

 

It is also expressly agreed that the aforesaid payments shall be in lieu of any and 

all other and additional occupation taxes, easement, franchise taxes or charges 

(whether levied as an ad valorem, special, or other character of tax or charge), 

municipal license, permit, and inspection fees, bonds, street taxes, and street or 

alley rentals or charges, and all other and additional municipal taxes, charges, 

levies, fees, and rentals of whatsoever kind and character that City may now 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 7 

impose or hereafter levy and collect from Atmos Energy or Atmos Energy’s 

agents, excepting only the usual general or special ad valorem taxes that City is 

authorized to levy and impose upon real and personal property. If the City does 

not have the legal power to agree that the payment of the foregoing sums of 

money shall be in lieu of taxes, licenses, fees, street or alley rentals or charges, 

easement or franchise taxes or charges aforesaid, then City agrees that it will 

apply so much of said sums of money paid as may be necessary to satisfy Atmos 

Energy’s obligations, if any, to pay any such taxes, licenses, charges, fees, 

rentals, easement or franchise taxes or charges aforesaid. 

  

D. Effect of Other Municipal Franchise Ordinance Fees Accepted and Paid by 
Atmos Energy 

 
 If Atmos Energy should at any time after the effective date of this Ordinance 

agree to a new municipal franchise ordinance, or renew an existing municipal 

franchise ordinance, with another municipality in Atmos Energy’s Mid-Tex 

Division, which municipal franchise ordinance determines the franchise fee owed 

to that municipality for the use of its public rights-of-way in a manner that, if 

applied to the City, would result in a franchise fee greater than the amount 

otherwise due City under this Ordinance, then the franchise fee to be paid by 

Atmos Energy to City pursuant to this Ordinance may, at the election of the City, 

be increased so that the amount due and to be paid is equal to the amount that 

would be due and payable to City were the franchise fee provisions of that other 

franchise ordinance applied to City. The City acknowledges that the exercise of 

this right is conditioned upon the City’s acceptance of all terms and conditions of 

the other municipal franchise in toto. The City may request waiver of certain 

terms and Company may grant, in its sole reasonable discretion, such waiver. 

  
E. Atmos Energy Franchise Fee Recovery Tariff 

 

 (1) Atmos Energy may file with the City a tariff or tariff amendment(s) to 

provide for the recovery of the franchise fees under this agreement. 

 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 8 

  (2) City agrees that (i) as regulatory authority, it will adopt and approve the 

ordinance, rates or tariff which provide for 100% recovery of such 

franchise fees as part of Atmos Energy’s rates; (ii) if the City intervenes in 

any regulatory proceeding before a federal or state agency in which the 

recovery of Atmos Energy’s franchise fees is an issue, the City will take an 

affirmative position supporting 100% recovery of such franchise fees by 

Atmos Energy and; (iii) in the event of an appeal of any such regulatory 

proceeding in which the City has intervened, the City will take an 

affirmative position in any such appeals in support of the 100% recovery of 

such franchise fees by Atmos Energy. 

 

 (3) City agrees that it will take no action, nor cause any other person or entity 

to take any action, to prohibit the recovery of such franchise fees by 

Atmos Energy. 

 

F.  Lease of Facilities Within City’s Rights-of-Way. Atmos Energy shall have the 

right to lease, license or otherwise grant to a party other than Atmos Energy the 

use of its facilities within the City’s public rights-of-way provided: (i) Atmos 

Energy first notifies the City of the name of the lessee, licensee or user; the type 

of service(s) intended to be provided through the facilities; and the name and 

telephone number of a contact person associated with such lessee, licensee or 

user and (ii) Atmos Energy makes the franchise fee payment due on the 

revenues from such lease pursuant to Section 5 of this Ordinance. This authority 

to Lease Facilities within City’s Rights-of-Way shall not affect any such lessee, 

licensee or user’s obligation, if any, to pay franchise fees. 

 

 SECTION 6. ACCEPTANCE OF FRANCHISE: In order to accept this franchise, 

Atmos Energy must file with the City Secretary its written acceptance of this franchise 

ordinance within sixty (60) days after its final passage and approval by City. If such 

written acceptance of this franchise ordinance is not filed by Atmos Energy, the 

franchise ordinance shall be rendered null and void. 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 9 

 When this franchise ordinance becomes effective, all previous ordinances of City 

granting franchises for gas delivery purposes that were held by Atmos Energy shall be 

automatically canceled and annulled, and shall be of no further force and effect. 

  

SECTION 7. PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. CONSTRUCTION: The paragraph 

headings contained in this ordinance are for convenience only and shall in no way 

enlarge or limit the scope or meaning of the various and several paragraphs hereof. 

Both parties have participated in the preparation of this ordinance and this ordinance 

shall not be construed either more or less strongly against or for either party. 

 

 SECTION 8. EFFECTIVE DATE:  If Atmos Energy accepts this ordinance, it 

becomes effective as of January 1, 2020.  

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED on this the ______ day of ___________________, 

2019. 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________  _____________________________  
Amy M. Casey, TRMC, City Clerk   Marion Grayson, Mayor 
       City of Belton, Texas 



Belton Gas Franchise – Page 10 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 
COUNTY OF BELL    § 
CITY OF BELTON   § 
 
 I, Amy M. Casey, City Clerk of the City of Belton, Bell County, Texas, do hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance passed 

by the City Council of the City of Belton, Texas, at City Council meetings, held on the 

12th and 26th days of February, 2019, as it appears of record in the Minutes for those 

meetings. 

 WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL OF SAID CITY, this the _____ day of 

_________________, 2019. 

 
 

     ________________________________ 
       Amy M. Casey, TRMC, City Clerk 
       City of Belton, Texas 
 

 



Franchise Agreement

City Council Meeting
February 26, 2019



History
• 1977 – Franchise awarded to Lone Star Gas for 25 years (1978-2003)

• 1979 and 1981 – Minor amendments

• 2003 – Franchise awarded to TXU Gas (formerly Lone Star Gas) for 15 years –
4% franchise fee (2004-2019)

• 2008 – Amended to 5% franchise fee and recognized name change to Atmos
Energy

• 2019 – New Franchise proposed with Atmos Energy for 25 years (2019-2044) 
5% franchise fee 



Recommendation

• Hold public hearing

• Approve ordinance on second and final reading



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 5   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 

 
 
Date:  February 26, 2019

 Case No.: H-19-03 
Request: FIG 

        Address: 106 W. Central Avenue 
        Applicant: Jo Mapel 
 
Agenda Item #15A 
     
Consider authorizing a Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel, 106 West Central Avenue. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Kelly T. Atkinson, Planner/HPO 
 
Historic District     
 
Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District 
 
Background 
 
This present building at 106 West Central Avenue was built in 1956 – with some elements of 
a previous building (footer wall on east alley-side) still in existence and incorporated into the 
structure – although this is not a character-defining element of the current building. This 
building is located in the Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District, which contains a 
range of buildings constructed between 1870 and 1959. Nearly half of the buildings in this 
District are Contributing historic structures. Most of the buildings that are Non-Contributing 
have been classified that way due to inappropriate alterations that have covered or removed 
historic building materials and details. This building is characteristic of typical 1950s 
commercial architecture, and retains nearly all of its original fabric that is now over 60 years 
old. The National Register of Historic Places lists this building as Contributing to the Belton 
Commercial Historic District, which is based on the integrity of design where principal 
character-defining architectural elements survive. This building has substantially retained its 
original appearance with overall form and exterior materials, including window and door 
opening size and location. 
 
The applicant provided a history of this location through Sanborn Fire Insurance maps 
documenting the various structures that previously occupied this site. The last available map 
of 1921 identifies ruins and no roof. This lot sat vacant for decades before it was once again 
developed to house the Belton Journal/Bell County Democrat newspaper. It is evident in the 
Sanborn map of 1912 that a previous building on this site housed the newspaper and type 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 5   
 

room, complete with an electric motor presumably to unload the reams of paper for print. 
There is evidence that this location served many years as the home to the local newspaper 
through a number of acquisitions and mergers. Because this building is in a National 
Register District, and maintains its original integrity, the owner can apply for state and federal 
tax credits, which could return up to a total of 45% (25% state and 20% federal) of their 
qualifying rehab costs on exterior and interior work.  
 
In summary, this building is a prime example of a mid-century commercial building built with 
the specific purpose of housing the local newspaper and print shop. 
 
Summary Information 
 
Jo Mapel has submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness application to the Historic 
Preservation Commission for the complete reconstruction of the primary façade, addition of a 
faux balcony, and reconfiguration of door and window openings on the side and rear 
facades, located at 106 West Central Avenue. 
 
The proposal involves the following items, also included in the attached summary proposal 
from Edwards Construction: 
 

• Remove the front façade facing Central Avenue.  
• Construct a new front façade of stone with decorative brick headers. 
• Install new windows and a new door on front façade. 
• Install 2’0” stone parapet with smooth stone parapet cap. 
• Install faux balcony with decorative railing on front façade. 
• Clean and repaint east side of building. 
• Add door and window opening to east side of building near the rear of the building. 
• Enclose overhead door opening on east side 
• Install a faux carriage-style overhead door and a functioning carriage-style 

overhead door on the north side (back of building) 
• Install CMU block to top of north side wall to match height of building next door. 
• Stucco the north side of building. 
• Enclose an overhead door on the west side. 
• Build CMU wall for courtyard area on the west side of the building. 
• Install gooseneck light fixtures on all three sides of building as identified on 

elevations. 
• Install gutters. 

 
This building was most recently occupied by a bail bond agency and lawyer office. Ms. 
Mapel has purchased this building and is completing significant interior renovations for 
several professional offices.  
   



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 5   
 

The proposed work is scheduled to occur upon approval of a COA (Certificate of 
Appropriateness) and façade grant as requested with an estimated completion within 120 
days.  
 
The Façade Improvement Grant (FIG) application only applies to the proposed renovations 
to the south and north façades. 
 
Proposal Evaluation 
 
Staff has evaluated the proposed work and has determined, through research and 
consultation with the historic preservation consultant and the Texas Historical Commission, 
the following: 
 

• The proposed renovation items for the east, north, and west façades will not detract 
from the character-defining elements of the building. 

• The northernmost section of the building is a later addition with no historic value and 
shows signs of several previous alterations. 

 
However: 
 
• The proposed reconstruction of the front façade (south) along Central Avenue will 

eliminate the character-defining elements of the building and render it as Non-
Contributing to the National Register Belton Commercial Historic District and to the 
local Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District. 

• The proposed reconstruction of the front façade (south) along Central Avenue will 
create a false sense of history, contradicting the Secretary of Interior Standards for 
the Treatment of Historic Properties. 

 
These determinations are based on the Secretary of Interior’s Standards incorporated into 
the Façade Improvement Grant application as follows: 
 

• #2 – The distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure, or site 
and its environment shall not be destroyed. The removal or alteration of any historic 
material or distinctive architectural features will disqualify any building from this 
program. 

• #3 – All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own 
time. Alterations that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier 
appearance shall be discouraged and may disqualify any building from this program. 

• #7 – Contemporary design for alteration and additions to existing properties shall not 
be discouraged when such alterations and additions do not destroy significant 
historical architectural or cultural materials, and such design is compatible with the 
size, scale, color, material, and character of the property, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

   



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 5   
 

Fiscal Impact 
 
Total projected cost on the application is $134,410. The FIG application requests the 
maximum match amount of $20,000, which is consistent with application guidelines. This 
building fronts two public right-of-ways (north façade facing First Avenue and south/primary 
façade facing Central Avenue), therefore, the applicant may apply for the maximum of 
$20,000 - $10,000 per façade. 
 
Amount:   $20,000 
 
Budgeted:       Yes    No       
 
If not budgeted:     Budget Transfer     Contingency     Amendment Needed     
Capital Project Funds 
 
Funding Source(s):  $50,000 was included in the TIRZ FY2019 budget for FIG funding. As of 
the printing of this staff report, no other Façade Improvement Grants have been funded in 
FY2019. 

Recommendation 
 
What follows is HPC’s actions; consideration of the Appeal follows in the next Staff Report 
(Item #15B). 
 

At the February 7, 2019, Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) meeting, the 
Commission voted unanimously on the following: 
   

1. Recommend APPROVAL of the proposed work as outlined in the COA application 
AND the Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel for renovations to the north 
façade, for a total grant award of $10,000.  
 

2. DISAPPROVAL of the proposed work as outlined in the COA application AND the 
Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel for the renovations to the south (primary) 
façade. 

 
The Commission denied the COA application for the proposed reconstruction of the south 
(primary) façade facing Central Avenue, in turn, deeming this portion of the project as 
ineligible for the FIG program.  

 
Staff concurs with the Commission’s recommendation for approval of the single Façade 
Improvement Grant for the north façade only. 
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 5 of 5   
 

Attachments 
 
Certificate of Appropriateness application 
Location Map 
Plans and facades of proposed faux balcony, windows and doors, stone and brick 
FIG Application 
Proposal – Edwards Construction 
Minutes from the February 7, 2019 HPC meeting 

 





N M
AI

N S
T

S M
AI

N 
ST

W AVE A

E 2ND AVE

N E
AS

T S
T

S D
AV

IS
 ST

E 1ST AVE

S E
AS

T S
T

N 
PE

AR
L S

T

E CENTRAL AVE

W 
1S

T A
VE

W CENTRAL AVE

W 1ST AVE

NOLA N
CR EEK

20409

66453
20

42
2

20422

80 3 6

56
70

1

8027
24

01
08

43
94

3

94597

148834 53766

80
35

13055

9919

80
34

52541

2865

105351

107435

12
47

94

61
37

48 0
32

94591

432973

80
33

94
69

2
9 459 6

8522

43
97

88

0

Legend
200' Property Owner
Notification Area
H_19_03
Tax Appraisal Parcels

Historic District
Downtown Belton
Commercial Historic
District

0 100 20050
FeetMap Date: 1/29/2019 Aerial Imagery Date: 2018

Path: E:\City of Belton Projects Folders\Maps and Data\Zoning Cases\2019\!Historic Cases!\H-19-03\H-19-03.mxd
Author: Anthony Notgrass, City of Belton

Maps and data are for informational purposes and may not have been prepared for
or be suitable for legal, engineering or surveying purposes. They do not represent
an on-the-ground survey and represent only the approximate relative location of property 
boundaries. No warranty is made by the City of Belton regarding specific accuracy or completeness.

200' Property Owner
Notification Area

HPC CASE #   H-19-03

Ë

BELTON ORIGINAL
BLOCK 110, LOT PT A, 
(E PT OF LT A, AKA 1B), ACRES 1.359

106 W. Central Ave

CENTRAL AVENUE LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

ADDRESS/LOCATION:

PROPERTY OWNER:

Request
Reconstruct facade,
Add Balcony, Reconfigure 
doors and windows



OH
DOOR

12
0'

 - 
0"

40' - 0"

OH BEAM

PIPE COLUMNS

EXISTING
SEWER VENT
PIPE LOCATION

SIDEWALK

STREET

SIDE ALLEY

OH AWNING ABOVE

OH
DOOR

EXISTING CMU WALL
OVER 24" H.

STONE WALL

EXISTING
CMU WALL

ADJACENT
BUILDING

39' - 4"

6'
 - 

6"
8'

 - 
6"

5'
 - 

4"
8'

 - 
10

"
13

' -
 2

"
14

' -
 8

"
14

' -
 8

"
14

' -
 8

"
22

' -
 6

"
11

' -
 2

"

12
' -

 6
"

8'
 - 

2"

9' - 4" 10' - 0" 11' - 0" 9' - 0"

SIDE
ALLEY

9'
 - 

0"

13
' -

 6
"

EXISTING METAL AWNING

STOREFRONT
WINDOW ENTRY

EXISTING
BRICK

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

EXISTING PARAPET HT.

ROOF LINE

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

12
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

13
' -

 6
"

NEAR WALL

FAR WALL

METAL
DOOR

ROOL UP
DOOR

CMU WALL

SIDE
ALLEY

LOW SLOPE ASPHALT ROOF

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

CMU WALL
13

' -
 4

"

11
' -

 0
"

16
' -

 6
"

ROOF SLOPE

13
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

ROLL UP
DOORSIDEWALK

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

HISTORIC LOW STONE WALL

CMU WALL

2'
 - 

0"

Scale:

Date:

Revisions

No. Date Description

1

2

3

4

Sheet Name

Sheet No.

By:

File:

SRE

APPROVAL, PERMITTING

NOT FOR REGULATORY

OR CONSTRUCTION
"REVIEW ONLY"

Bob Thomas, NCARB
Registered Architect

30418 Briarcrest Dr.
Georgetown, TX  78628

512-635-0621
btncarb@yahoo.com

As indicated

A1

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

ME 01

10
6 

W
. C

EN
TR

AL
 A

VE
.

BE
LT

O
N

, T
X

ES
Q

U
IR

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

R
EM

O
D

EL

1-16-19

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 FLOOR PLAN - EXISTING
 1/4" = 1'-0"2 FRONT ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"3 LEFT ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"4 REAR ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"5 RIGHT ELEVATION - EXISTING

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION, ADJACENT STRUCTURE & SIDE ALLEY

EXISTING REAR & ALLEY SIDE ELEVATIONS

EXISTING BACK LEFT SIDE ELEVATION

DOWNTOWN BELTON AREA MAP -
BUILDING LOCATION HIGHLIGHTED IN RED



FILL IN OLD O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

NEW O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

2-HR DBL. STUD WALL
W. GAP

19

1 1 1

1

2 3

4 5

8 9

6 7

10
' -

 1
1"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

17
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

17
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 2
"

19
' -

 8
 1

/2
"

FILL IN OLD O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

10 11

12 13

14 16

CONFERENCE

BREAK AREA

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE

20

22

6' - 0" 15' - 6 1/2"

15' - 6 1/2"

6' - 6 1/2"
24' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

NEW EXTENDED AWNING
TO EDGE OF SIDEWALK W.
DECORATIVE RAIL ABOVE

39' - 4"

2 2

2 2

11

24

25

26

STORAGE

OWNER'S
STORAGE

AREA

9' - 4" 30' - 8"

19' - 5 1/4"

6' - 0"
16' - 2 1/2" 15' - 6 1/2"

1

16' - 8" 6' - 0" 16' - 8"

40' - 4" 40' - 0"

12
0'

 - 
0"

FRAME IN OPENING
BEHIND FAUX WINDOW

FRAME IN OPENING
BEHIND FAUX WINDOW

NEW EXIT DOOR
CUT IN WALL

4

4

4

4

9' - 0" 9' - 0"

9'
 - 

0"
10

' -
 1

 1
/2

"
9'

 - 
0"

9' - 9 1/2"
2' - 5 1/2"

3' - 3 1/2"

2'
 - 

0"

10' - 11"2'
 - 

2 
3/

4"
5'

 - 
0"

3' - 2 3/4"

5'
 - 

5 
1/

2"
5'

 - 
5 

1/
2"

ALL CLGS. GO
TO STRUCTURE

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

27

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

33
' -

 3
"

OPEN COURTYARD
AREA

15
' -

 6
"

2'
 - 

0"

11' - 0 1/2"17' - 3"11' - 0 1/2"

RAISE PARAPET WALL 24"

12
' -

 0
"

NEW AWNING HT.

DECORATIVE RAILING

RAISE PARAPET WALL 48"

A2
6

RECESSED ENTRY
STUCCO OVER

STUD WALL

CAST STONE PARAPET CAP

CAST STONE PARAPET CAP

NEW CMU WALL HEIGHT TO MATCH NEIGHBORING WALL

ROOF LINE

FILLED-IN
O.H. DOOR

W. CMU

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

8'
 - 

0"

CARRIAGE STYLE
O.H. DOOR

BRONZE PAINTED

FALSE CARRIAGE
DOOR TO MATCH
BRONZE PAINTED

DRAINS W.
DOWNSPOUTS

BRONZE

OVERFLOW
SCUPPERS

BRONZE

NEW CMU WALL HEIGHT TO MATCH NEIGHBORING WALL

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

STUCCO FINISH OVER
EXISTING CMU WALL

8'
 - 

0"

FILLED-IN
O.H. DOOR

W. CMU

ROOF LINE

EXTENDED PARAPET
WALL ON REAR

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

13
' -

 6
"

HISTORIC STONE WALL

NEW WINDOW
OPENING

FAUX
WINDOW

FAUX
WINDOW

NEW
DOOR

8' - 0"

12
' -

 0
"

2'
 - 

6"

NEW AWNING W.
DECORATIVE

RAILING

6"
2'

 - 
6"

3"
8'

 - 
0"

3' - 6"

3680 WOOD FRAMED
BEVELED WINDOW

BRICK COURSE

ORIGINAL FACADE BRICK
DECORATIVE HEADER

SOLDIER COURSE

Scale:

Date:

Revisions

No. Date Description

1

2

3

4

Sheet Name

Sheet No.

By:

File:

SRE

APPROVAL, PERMITTING

NOT FOR REGULATORY

OR CONSTRUCTION
"REVIEW ONLY"

Bob Thomas, NCARB
Registered Architect

30418 Briarcrest Dr.
Georgetown, TX  78628

512-635-0621
btncarb@yahoo.com

As indicated

A2

RENOVATED
PLANS

ME 01

10
6 

W
. C

EN
TR

AL
 A

VE
.

BE
LT

O
N

, T
X

ES
Q

U
IR

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

R
EM

O
D

EL

1-16-19

EXTERIOR FINISHES
     DESCRIPTION

CMU - PAINTED - TONY TAUPE SW7038
STONE - MERIDIAN - CHOP BLOCK LIMESTONE
STUCCO FINISH  - TONY TAUPE SW7038
METAL AWNING - BEST BRONZE SW6160
WINDOW & DOOR TRIM - BEST BRONZE SW6160

NAME

W1
W2
W3
A1

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 FLOOR PLAN - RENOVATED

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 FRONT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"3 LEFT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"4 REAR ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"5 RIGHT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 1/2" = 1'-0"6 CALLOUT - FRONT WINDOW

(W2)  STONE - MERIDIAN - CHOP BLOCK

(W3)  STUCCO - TONY TAUPE SW 7038

WINDOW TRIM -  BEST BRONZE - SW6160

W1

W3

W1W2

A1

W2

A1

W3

W1

W3

W2

W2







 
01/24/2019 
 
 
Mr. TC Lipe 
Central Avenue, LLC 
501 Brit Bailey Blvd 
Angleton, TX  77515 
 
RE: The Esquire Exterior Renovation 
 106 W. Central Ave 
 Belton, TX 
 
Dear TC: 
 
We appreciate the opportunity of presenting you with a bid in the amount of one hundred thirty 
four thousand four hundred ten & 00/XX Dollars ($134,410.00) for the The Esquire Exterior 
Renovations project.  See attached for schedule of values. 
 
Please see below for qualifications/clarifications regarding our proposal: 
 
1. We exclude engineering. 
2. We exclude architect and engineer’s design fees. 
3. We exclude utility impact fees.  
4. We exclude plan review fees.  
5. We exclude building permit fees.  
6. We exclude performance and payment bond. 
7. We include renovation sales tax. 
8. We exclude contaminated and hazardous materials and work related with them.  
9. We exclude materials testing and inspection cost. 
10. We exclude unforeseeable subsurface concealed conditions. 
11. We have assumed being able to shut down public access and utilize the front sidewalk 

along Central Avenue throughout construction.  We exclude city fees, rehabilitation 
and/or repair of sidewalk. 

12. We exclude all site work.  This includes but not limited to erosion control, grading, site 
utilities, storm drainage, paving, landscaping, site amenities, site electric, site gas, etc. 

13. We assume the canopy and deck to be painted.  
14. We have included a Roof Patch/Repair, Scuppers & Downspouts Allowance of $5,000. 
15. We exclude exterior insulation.  To be provided in TI construction 
16. We have assumed a 2” x 4.5” clear anodized or dark bronze aluminum storefront windows 

using 1” OA Solarban 60 glass.   
17. We exclude all interior work. 
18. We exclude all signage including exterior address & tenant signage. 
19. We exclude all electrical lighting. To be provided in TI construction. 
 
Please do not hesitate to call me if you have questions in regard to our proposal.  We’re excited 
about this project and look forward to working with you! 
 



 
Sincerely, 
 
Edwards Construction 
 

 
 
Marcus Edwards  
 



 

 01/24/19 The Esquire - Exterior Renovations
S.F. : 4,800 Schedule of Values

SPEC # ITEM    DESCRIPTION COST COST PSF
NO.

TRAFFIC CONTROL, PEDESTRIAN CONTROL & TEMP FENCE $2,700 $0.56

DUMPSTERS & HAULOFF $4,000 $0.83

SCREEN WALL FOOTING $5,427 $1.13

SCREEN WALL CMU & STUCCO $9,460 $1.97

SCREEN WALL GATE $3,500 $0.73

FRONT FAÇADE DEMO $3,245 $0.68

WOOD FRAME, SHEATH & WRAP FRONT ELEVATION $7,250 $1.51

MISC. WATERPROOFING, DAMPROOFING & JOINT SEALANTS $900 $0.19

BRICK, STONE & STUCCO AT FRONT ELEVATION $5,400 $1.13

CMU AT INFILLED OPENINGS & PARAPET CAPS $4,703 $0.98

STUCCO AT REAR $3,163 $0.66

ROOF PATCH/REPAIR, SCUPPERS, DOWNSPOUTS - ALLOWANCE $5,000 $1.04

METAL CANOPY & RAILING $14,500 $3.02

EXTERIOR HM DOORS $1,760 $0.37

STOREFRONT WINDOWS $6,310 $1.31

GARAGE DOORS $4,510 $0.94

EXTERIOR PAINTING $11,166 $2.33

TRADE REQUIREMENTS $3,950 $0.82

SUBTOTAL $96,943 $20.20

GENERAL CONDITIONS $19,713 $4.11

INSURANCE $1,598 $0.33

   OVERHEAD & PROFIT $5,913 $1.23

RENOVATION TAX $10,244 $2.13

GRAND TOTAL: $134,410 $28.00

Edwards Construction

Page 1



Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

1 
 

Minutes of the  
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Thursday, February 7, 2019                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
 

The Historic Preservation Commission met at 5:00 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Sheila Donahue, Dorothy Coppin, Barrett 
Covington, Tammie Baggerly and Ann Carpenter. The following staff members were present: Director 
of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, Planner and HPC Officer Kelly Atkinson, Director of IT Chris Brown and 
Planning Clerk Laura Livingston.  

4. H-19-03   Consider a request for a Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel for reconstruction 
of the primary façade, addition of a faux balcony, and reconfiguration of door and window 
openings on the side and rear façades at 106 West Central Avenue, located in Downtown 
Belton Commercial Historic district, on the north side of West Central Avenue, east of North 
Pearl Street, and west of North Main Street.  

Ms. Atkinson presented the staff report (Exhibit B).  

Chair Donahue asked if the Secretary of Interior standards will be OK with the addition of that 
door? Do you feel secure with the choice of the location for the door? Ms. Atkinson said she does, 
and again that area is right on the edge of where there have been alterations and it really is not 
detracting from the building and in line with the existing windows and doors and flows nicely and 
again with fire safety we would recommend having the door. Chair Donahue said her second 
question, is there a requirement for another Certificate of Appropriateness or can it be amended and 
approved as staff recommends? Ms. Atkinson said you can make amendments to the 
recommendation and it can move forward that way. Those are staff recommendations and after 
discussion amongst each other and with the applicant, if you would like to revise that we can, Ms. 
Atkinson said.  

Chair Donahue asked if there was anyone who would like to speak, they may. Mr. T.C. Lipe said 
that Ms. Atkinson said the building was built in 1956. He said their information contradicts that and 
the building was built between 1891 and 1896 and the building burned in the 1920s and remained 
that way for decades. Saying the building was built in ’56… the front façade was put on in 1956; 
we don’t know if that’s accurate but we will go with that, Mr. Lipe said. The building was 
constructed in the 1800s.  Just because a front façade and CMU was put on in the 1950s does not 
mean this was a new building in the ’50s, he said. The original two walls of the building still stand, 
which would be the east and west walls. The front did not stand because it was probably wood; all 
indications of that time period indicate that it was wood, and therefore, it burned and it was left as 
rubble. So, then someone came and repaired it, and put this façade that you see now out of brick in 
the ’50s, not the 1800s; we still have the walls from the 1800s. That’s what we are wanting to match, 
Mr. Lipe said. We are not wanting to recreate, but return to a building reflecting the 1890’s, he said.  

Ms. Baggerly asked, so the front façade (south side) does not qualify for the Façade Improvement 
Grant? The north side does qualify, but because of the changes to the south side, the south side is 



Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

2 
 

not being considered? Mr. Lipe said yes. Ms. Baggerly asked about the garage doors, and the HPC 
and Ms. Atkinson discussed the changes to the garage doors.  

Chair Donahue asked if this structure is currently on the National Register of Historic Places? Ms. 
Atkinson said yes. Chair Donahue asked, it was placed on the National Register based on 
information provided at the time? Ms. Atkinson said correct. She said another example would be 
the Central Belton Fire Station, which is actually Mid-Century Modern. Belton Fire Chief Bruce 
Pritchard has come to her asking the same exact question, if renovations to the current building 
could reflect the arched garage doors from a previous fire station in that location, Ms. Atkinson said. 
Ms. Atkinson said the building as it is now is the architecture that is recognized and contributing to 
the District. Chair Donahue said based on that, changing it would disqualify it completely from the 
program. She said her home is on the National Register of Historic Places and she cannot make any 
significant changes to the exterior of her property, so she said she does understand how critical it is 
that those things are maintained. She sympathizes with Mr. Lipe. Mr. Lipe thanked her for that. His 
contention is that it is a case of mistaken identity, although this façade existed in 1956, the building 
was not built in 1956. Chair Donahue said the criteria that was provided to place it on the National 
Register of Historic Places is the criteria that we have to go by. We’re bound to it, she said. Mr. 
Lipe said he understands.  

Chair Donahue asked for a motion. Ms. Atkinson said the item can either be recommended as shown 
or you can revise your recommendation. Ms. Baggerly asked if they make the changes to the south 
façade, then this building will no longer be on the National Register. Ms. Atkinson clarified that it 
is actually part of a National Register District, so it’s contributing to the National District as a whole. 
It’s not individually listed and that is not actually providing the protection; the protection of the 
building is because it is part of a local district. Ms. Baggerly thanked Ms. Atkinson for the 
clarification. 

Chair Donahue called for a motion. Ms. Baggerly made a motion to approve H-19-03, as 
recommended by staff, which included approval of the proposed work as outlined in the COA 
application and the Façade Improvement Grant for the proposed renovations to the north side, but 
disapproval of the proposed work as outlined in the COA application and the Façade Improvement 
Grant for the renovations of the south (primary) façade. Mr. Covington seconded the motion. The 
item was approved with 5 ayes, 0 nays.   



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 5   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 

 
 
Date:  February 26, 2019

 Case No.: H-19-03 
Request: APPEAL COA 

Determination  
        Address: 106 W. Central Avenue 
        Applicant: Jo Mapel 
 
Agenda Item #15B 
     
Consider an appeal to the City Council by Jo Mapel regarding the decision of the Historic 
Preservation Commission to disapprove the Certificate of Appropriateness application for the 
front (South) façade of the building at 106 West Central Avenue. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Kelly T. Atkinson, Planner/HPO 
 
Background 
 
Building Significance: 
 
This present building at 106 West Central Avenue was built in 1956 with some elements of a 
previous building, such as a footer wall on east alley-side still in existence and incorporated 
into the structure, although this is not a character-defining element of the current building. 
This building is located in the Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District, which contains 
a range of buildings constructed between 1870 and 1959. Nearly half of the buildings in this 
district are Contributing historic structures. Most of the buildings that are Non-Contributing 
have been classified that way due to inappropriate alterations that have covered or removed 
historic building materials and details. This building is characteristic of typical 1950’s 
commercial architecture and retains nearly all of its original fabric that is now over 60 years 
old. The National Register of Historic Places lists this building as Contributing to the Belton 
Commercial Historic District, which is based on the integrity of design where principal 
character-defining architectural elements survive. This building has substantially retained its 
original appearance with overall form and exterior materials, including window and door 
opening size and location. 
 
The applicant provided a history of this location through Sanborn Fire Insurance maps 
documenting the various structures that previously occupied this site. The last available map 
of 1921 identifies ruins and no roof. This lot sat vacant for decades before it was once again 
developed to house the Belton Journal / Bell County Democrat newspaper. It is evident in 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 5   
 

the Sanborn map of 1912 that a previous building on this site housed the newspaper and 
type room, complete with an electric motor presumably to unload the reams of paper for 
print. There is evidence that this location served many years as the home to the local 
newspaper through a number of acquisitions and mergers. Because this building is in a 
National Register district and maintains its original integrity, the owner can apply for state 
and federal tax credits, which could return up to a total of 45% (25% state and 20% federal) 
of their qualifying rehab costs on exterior and interior work.  
 
In summary, this building is a prime example of a mid-century commercial building built with 
the specific purpose of housing the local newspaper and print shop. 
 
COA Application – Front Façade Proposal: 
 
Jo Mapel submitted a Certificate of Appropriateness application to the Historic Preservation 
Commission for the complete reconstruction of the primary façade and the addition of a faux 
balcony, located at 106 West Central Avenue. 
 
The proposal for the front (south) façade involves the following items, also included in the 
attached summary proposal from Edwards Construction: 
 

• Remove the front façade.  
• Construct a new front façade of stone with decorative brick headers. 
• Install new windows and a new door. 
• Install 2’0” stone parapet with smooth stone parapet cap. 
• Install faux balcony with decorative railing on front façade. 
• Install gooseneck light fixtures on the building as identified on elevations. 
• Install gutters. 

 
This building was most recently occupied by a bail bond agency and lawyer office. Ms. 
Mapel has purchased this building and is completing significant interior renovations for 
several professional offices.  
   
The proposed work was scheduled to occur upon approval of a COA (Certificate of 
Appropriateness) as requested with an estimated completion within 120 days.  
 
Staff Evaluation of Proposal on the COA Application: 
 
Staff evaluated the proposed work and determined through research and consultation with 
the historic preservation consultant and the Texas Historical Commission the following: 
 

• The proposed reconstruction of the front façade (south) will eliminate the character-
defining elements of the building and render it as Non-Contributing to the National 
Register Belton Commercial Historic District and to the local Downtown Belton 
Commercial Historic District. 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 3 of 5   
 

• The proposed reconstruction of the front façade (south) will create a false sense of 
history, contradicting the Secretary of Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of 
Historic Properties. 

 
These determinations are based on the Secretary of Interior’s (SOI’s) Standards 
incorporated into the City of Belton Historic Preservation Ordinance (2012-18) and the COA 
review process as follows: 
 

• #2 – The distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure, or site 
and its environment shall not be destroyed. The removal or alteration of any historic 
material or distinctive architectural features will disqualify any building from this 
program. 

• #3 – All buildings, structures and sites shall be recognized as products of their own 
time. Alterations that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier 
appearance shall be discouraged and may disqualify any building from this program. 

• #7 – Contemporary design for alteration and additions to existing properties shall not 
be discouraged when such alterations and additions do not destroy significant 
historical architectural or cultural materials, and such design is compatible with the 
size, scale, color, material, and character of the property, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

 
Although the applicant’s proposal is not in line with the SOI’s Standards, this building may 
still undergo renovations. The applicant may resubmit a COA outlining renovation activities 
that are in line with the SOI’s Standards including, but not limited to the following: 
 

1. Repaint the brick; 
2. Install a new awning; 
3. Replace the windows and doors with compatible, energy-efficient alternates; 
4. Install new light fixtures; 
5. Install new signage; and 
6. Install gutters.  

 
None of the items listed above would destroy the distinguishing original qualities or character 
of the building and would keep the original and distinctive 1950’s architectural features and 
materials intact and, therefore, still qualify this building for a local Façade Improvement Grant 
as well as state and federal tax credit programs.  
 
Staff Recommendation to HPC: 
 
After careful review of the Secretary of the Interior’s (SOI’s) Standards for Rehabilitation, the 
proposal appeared to be inconsistent with the Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District. 
Staff recommended disapproval of the proposed work as outline in the COA application for 
the renovations to the south (primary) façade. 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 4 of 5   
 

HPC Evaluation of Proposal on the COA Application: 
 
After discussion amongst the Commission, resolving additional questions for staff, and 
dialogue with the applicant’s representative, the Commission determined that this building is 
a Contributing structure to the local District and the National Register District and is 
representative of mid-century modern architecture. The Commission determined that the 
proposed reconstruction of the front façade of this building is inconsistent with the SOI’s 
Standards and the Historic Preservation overlay zoning of this building. 
 
HPC Determination: 
 
At the February 7, 2019 Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) meeting, the Commission 
voted unanimously on the following: 
   
DISAPPROVAL of the proposed work as outline in the COA application. 
 
The Commission denied the COA application for the proposed reconstruction of the south 
(primary) façade, in turn, deeming this portion of the project as ineligible for the FIG program.  
 
Request for Appeal:  
 
The Historic Preservation Ordinance (2012-18) outlines a process for an applicant adversely 
affected by a determination of the Commission to appeal the decision to City Council (Sec. 
29.8). An appeal request shall be filed with the Historic Preservation Officer (HPO) within 
seven (7) days of the Commission’s decision and scheduled for the next available regularly 
scheduled City Council meeting. Appeals to the City Council shall be considered only on the 
record made before the Commission, and may only allege that the commission’s decision 
was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal. 
 
The applicant requested the appeal within the seven (7) days via letter delivered to the HPO 
and City Clerk.  
 
Summary Information 
 
Appeal HPC Determination as Arbitrary and Capricious: 
 
The applicant submitted a request to appeal the Commission’s decision on the basis that it is 
arbitrary or capricious.  
 
COA Review Process / HPC Determination: 
 
The Commission reviews all COA applications by the same guidelines as outlined in the 
Historic Preservation Ordinance. This review process is applicable to both Contributing and 
Non-Contributing buildings. Each case is different and each building varies in the amount 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 5 of 5   
 

appropriate and inappropriate alterations that have taken place over time, but the overall 
goal is to maintain what exists and appropriately alter and adapt existing building stock for 
current uses. The Commission’s review process is guided by the SOI’s Standards and 
outlined in the Historic Preservation Ordinance. Staff trusts that the Commission’s review 
process and COA determination is sound. 
 
Council Options Available for Consideration: 
 

1. Deny the appeal and confirm the HPC determination; 
2. Accept the appeal and reverse the HPC determination; or 
3. Table the appeal for more information including: 

a. Consider altering District Boundaries (Review the validity of the District 
boundaries and the implications of altering the boundaries – which would 
require HPC and P&Z evaluation and recommendation to Council);  

b. Assess Building Significance (1890’s versus 1950’s – Historic consultant and 
THC determination and recommendation to Council). 
 

Staff Recommendation 
 
Based on available information and available City ordinances, Staff concurs with the Historic 
Preservation Commission‘s determination on the significance of the building and the 
disapproval of the COA application. We recommend denial of the appeal. 
 
Attachments 
 
Certificate of Appropriateness application 
Location Map 
Plans and facades of proposed faux balcony, windows and doors, stone and brick 
FIG Application 
Proposal – Edwards Construction 
Applicant’s document – History of 106 W Central, Belton, TX 
Ordinance 2012-50 
1966 newspaper article 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation in FIG Application 
HPC determination letter to applicant 
Tax credit program – fact sheet 
Applicant’s appeal request letter 
Minutes from the February 7, 2019 HPC meeting 

 





N M
AI

N S
T

S M
AI

N 
ST

W AVE A

E 2ND AVE

N E
AS

T S
T

S D
AV

IS
 ST

E 1ST AVE

S E
AS

T S
T

N 
PE

AR
L S

T

E CENTRAL AVE

W 
1S

T A
VE

W CENTRAL AVE

W 1ST AVE

NOLA N
CR EEK

20409

66453
20

42
2

20422

80 3 6

56
70

1

8027
24

01
08

43
94

3

94597

148834 53766

80
35

13055

9919

80
34

52541

2865

105351

107435

12
47

94

61
37

48 0
32

94591

432973

80
33

94
69

2
9 459 6

8522

43
97

88

0

Legend
200' Property Owner
Notification Area
H_19_03
Tax Appraisal Parcels

Historic District
Downtown Belton
Commercial Historic
District

0 100 20050
FeetMap Date: 1/29/2019 Aerial Imagery Date: 2018

Path: E:\City of Belton Projects Folders\Maps and Data\Zoning Cases\2019\!Historic Cases!\H-19-03\H-19-03.mxd
Author: Anthony Notgrass, City of Belton

Maps and data are for informational purposes and may not have been prepared for
or be suitable for legal, engineering or surveying purposes. They do not represent
an on-the-ground survey and represent only the approximate relative location of property 
boundaries. No warranty is made by the City of Belton regarding specific accuracy or completeness.

200' Property Owner
Notification Area

HPC CASE #   H-19-03

Ë

BELTON ORIGINAL
BLOCK 110, LOT PT A, 
(E PT OF LT A, AKA 1B), ACRES 1.359

106 W. Central Ave

CENTRAL AVENUE LLC

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

ADDRESS/LOCATION:

PROPERTY OWNER:

Request
Reconstruct facade,
Add Balcony, Reconfigure 
doors and windows



OH
DOOR

12
0'

 - 
0"

40' - 0"

OH BEAM

PIPE COLUMNS

EXISTING
SEWER VENT
PIPE LOCATION

SIDEWALK

STREET

SIDE ALLEY

OH AWNING ABOVE

OH
DOOR

EXISTING CMU WALL
OVER 24" H.

STONE WALL

EXISTING
CMU WALL

ADJACENT
BUILDING

39' - 4"

6'
 - 

6"
8'

 - 
6"

5'
 - 

4"
8'

 - 
10

"
13

' -
 2

"
14

' -
 8

"
14

' -
 8

"
14

' -
 8

"
22

' -
 6

"
11

' -
 2

"

12
' -

 6
"

8'
 - 

2"

9' - 4" 10' - 0" 11' - 0" 9' - 0"

SIDE
ALLEY

9'
 - 

0"

13
' -

 6
"

EXISTING METAL AWNING

STOREFRONT
WINDOW ENTRY

EXISTING
BRICK

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

EXISTING PARAPET HT.

ROOF LINE

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

12
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

13
' -

 6
"

NEAR WALL

FAR WALL

METAL
DOOR

ROOL UP
DOOR

CMU WALL

SIDE
ALLEY

LOW SLOPE ASPHALT ROOF

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

CMU WALL
13

' -
 4

"

11
' -

 0
"

16
' -

 6
"

ROOF SLOPE

13
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

ROLL UP
DOORSIDEWALK

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

HISTORIC LOW STONE WALL

CMU WALL

2'
 - 

0"

Scale:

Date:

Revisions

No. Date Description

1

2

3

4

Sheet Name

Sheet No.

By:

File:

SRE

APPROVAL, PERMITTING

NOT FOR REGULATORY

OR CONSTRUCTION
"REVIEW ONLY"

Bob Thomas, NCARB
Registered Architect

30418 Briarcrest Dr.
Georgetown, TX  78628

512-635-0621
btncarb@yahoo.com

As indicated

A1

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

ME 01

10
6 

W
. C

EN
TR

AL
 A

VE
.

BE
LT

O
N

, T
X

ES
Q

U
IR

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

R
EM

O
D

EL

1-16-19

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 FLOOR PLAN - EXISTING
 1/4" = 1'-0"2 FRONT ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"3 LEFT ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"4 REAR ELEVATION - EXISTING

 3/16" = 1'-0"5 RIGHT ELEVATION - EXISTING

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION, ADJACENT STRUCTURE & SIDE ALLEY

EXISTING REAR & ALLEY SIDE ELEVATIONS

EXISTING BACK LEFT SIDE ELEVATION

DOWNTOWN BELTON AREA MAP -
BUILDING LOCATION HIGHLIGHTED IN RED



FILL IN OLD O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

NEW O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

2-HR DBL. STUD WALL
W. GAP

19

1 1 1

1

2 3

4 5

8 9

6 7

10
' -

 1
1"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

17
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

17
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 5
 1

/2
"

10
' -

 2
"

19
' -

 8
 1

/2
"

FILL IN OLD O.H. DOOR
LOCATION

10 11

12 13

14 16

CONFERENCE

BREAK AREA

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE OFFICE

OFFICE

20

22

6' - 0" 15' - 6 1/2"

15' - 6 1/2"

6' - 6 1/2"
24' - 0"

10
' -

 0
"

NEW EXTENDED AWNING
TO EDGE OF SIDEWALK W.
DECORATIVE RAIL ABOVE

39' - 4"

2 2

2 2

11

24

25

26

STORAGE

OWNER'S
STORAGE

AREA

9' - 4" 30' - 8"

19' - 5 1/4"

6' - 0"
16' - 2 1/2" 15' - 6 1/2"

1

16' - 8" 6' - 0" 16' - 8"

40' - 4" 40' - 0"

12
0'

 - 
0"

FRAME IN OPENING
BEHIND FAUX WINDOW

FRAME IN OPENING
BEHIND FAUX WINDOW

NEW EXIT DOOR
CUT IN WALL

4

4

4

4

9' - 0" 9' - 0"

9'
 - 

0"
10

' -
 1

 1
/2

"
9'

 - 
0"

9' - 9 1/2"
2' - 5 1/2"

3' - 3 1/2"

2'
 - 

0"

10' - 11"2'
 - 

2 
3/

4"
5'

 - 
0"

3' - 2 3/4"

5'
 - 

5 
1/

2"
5'

 - 
5 

1/
2"

ALL CLGS. GO
TO STRUCTURE

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

27

ADJACENT
STRUCTURE

33
' -

 3
"

OPEN COURTYARD
AREA

15
' -

 6
"

2'
 - 

0"

11' - 0 1/2"17' - 3"11' - 0 1/2"

RAISE PARAPET WALL 24"

12
' -

 0
"

NEW AWNING HT.

DECORATIVE RAILING

RAISE PARAPET WALL 48"

A2
6

RECESSED ENTRY
STUCCO OVER

STUD WALL

CAST STONE PARAPET CAP

CAST STONE PARAPET CAP

NEW CMU WALL HEIGHT TO MATCH NEIGHBORING WALL

ROOF LINE

FILLED-IN
O.H. DOOR

W. CMU

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

8'
 - 

0"

CARRIAGE STYLE
O.H. DOOR

BRONZE PAINTED

FALSE CARRIAGE
DOOR TO MATCH
BRONZE PAINTED

DRAINS W.
DOWNSPOUTS

BRONZE

OVERFLOW
SCUPPERS

BRONZE

NEW CMU WALL HEIGHT TO MATCH NEIGHBORING WALL

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

NEW 8' CMU WALL W. STUCCO FINISH
SURROUNDING COURTYARD

STUCCO FINISH OVER
EXISTING CMU WALL

8'
 - 

0"

FILLED-IN
O.H. DOOR

W. CMU

ROOF LINE

EXTENDED PARAPET
WALL ON REAR

16
' -

 6
"

11
' -

 0
"

13
' -

 6
"

HISTORIC STONE WALL

NEW WINDOW
OPENING

FAUX
WINDOW

FAUX
WINDOW

NEW
DOOR

8' - 0"

12
' -

 0
"

2'
 - 

6"

NEW AWNING W.
DECORATIVE

RAILING

6"
2'

 - 
6"

3"
8'

 - 
0"

3' - 6"

3680 WOOD FRAMED
BEVELED WINDOW

BRICK COURSE

ORIGINAL FACADE BRICK
DECORATIVE HEADER

SOLDIER COURSE

Scale:

Date:

Revisions

No. Date Description

1

2

3

4

Sheet Name

Sheet No.

By:

File:

SRE

APPROVAL, PERMITTING

NOT FOR REGULATORY

OR CONSTRUCTION
"REVIEW ONLY"

Bob Thomas, NCARB
Registered Architect

30418 Briarcrest Dr.
Georgetown, TX  78628

512-635-0621
btncarb@yahoo.com

As indicated

A2

RENOVATED
PLANS

ME 01

10
6 

W
. C

EN
TR

AL
 A

VE
.

BE
LT

O
N

, T
X

ES
Q

U
IR

E 
BU

IL
D

IN
G

R
EM

O
D

EL

1-16-19

EXTERIOR FINISHES
     DESCRIPTION

CMU - PAINTED - TONY TAUPE SW7038
STONE - MERIDIAN - CHOP BLOCK LIMESTONE
STUCCO FINISH  - TONY TAUPE SW7038
METAL AWNING - BEST BRONZE SW6160
WINDOW & DOOR TRIM - BEST BRONZE SW6160

NAME

W1
W2
W3
A1

 1/8" = 1'-0"1 FLOOR PLAN - RENOVATED

 1/4" = 1'-0"2 FRONT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"3 LEFT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"4 REAR ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 3/16" = 1'-0"5 RIGHT ELEVATION - RENOVATED

 1/2" = 1'-0"6 CALLOUT - FRONT WINDOW

(W2)  STONE - MERIDIAN - CHOP BLOCK

(W3)  STUCCO - TONY TAUPE SW 7038

WINDOW TRIM -  BEST BRONZE - SW6160

W1

W3

W1W2

A1

W2

A1

W3

W1

W3

W2

W2







 
01/24/2019 
 
 
Mr. TC Lipe 
Central Avenue, LLC 
501 Brit Bailey Blvd 
Angleton, TX  77515 
 
RE: The Esquire Exterior Renovation 
 106 W. Central Ave 
 Belton, TX 
 
Dear TC: 
 
We appreciate the opportunity of presenting you with a bid in the amount of one hundred thirty 
four thousand four hundred ten & 00/XX Dollars ($134,410.00) for the The Esquire Exterior 
Renovations project.  See attached for schedule of values. 
 
Please see below for qualifications/clarifications regarding our proposal: 
 
1. We exclude engineering. 
2. We exclude architect and engineer’s design fees. 
3. We exclude utility impact fees.  
4. We exclude plan review fees.  
5. We exclude building permit fees.  
6. We exclude performance and payment bond. 
7. We include renovation sales tax. 
8. We exclude contaminated and hazardous materials and work related with them.  
9. We exclude materials testing and inspection cost. 
10. We exclude unforeseeable subsurface concealed conditions. 
11. We have assumed being able to shut down public access and utilize the front sidewalk 

along Central Avenue throughout construction.  We exclude city fees, rehabilitation 
and/or repair of sidewalk. 

12. We exclude all site work.  This includes but not limited to erosion control, grading, site 
utilities, storm drainage, paving, landscaping, site amenities, site electric, site gas, etc. 

13. We assume the canopy and deck to be painted.  
14. We have included a Roof Patch/Repair, Scuppers & Downspouts Allowance of $5,000. 
15. We exclude exterior insulation.  To be provided in TI construction 
16. We have assumed a 2” x 4.5” clear anodized or dark bronze aluminum storefront windows 

using 1” OA Solarban 60 glass.   
17. We exclude all interior work. 
18. We exclude all signage including exterior address & tenant signage. 
19. We exclude all electrical lighting. To be provided in TI construction. 
 
Please do not hesitate to call me if you have questions in regard to our proposal.  We’re excited 
about this project and look forward to working with you! 
 



 
Sincerely, 
 
Edwards Construction 
 

 
 
Marcus Edwards  
 



 

 01/24/19 The Esquire - Exterior Renovations
S.F. : 4,800 Schedule of Values

SPEC # ITEM    DESCRIPTION COST COST PSF
NO.

TRAFFIC CONTROL, PEDESTRIAN CONTROL & TEMP FENCE $2,700 $0.56

DUMPSTERS & HAULOFF $4,000 $0.83

SCREEN WALL FOOTING $5,427 $1.13

SCREEN WALL CMU & STUCCO $9,460 $1.97

SCREEN WALL GATE $3,500 $0.73

FRONT FAÇADE DEMO $3,245 $0.68

WOOD FRAME, SHEATH & WRAP FRONT ELEVATION $7,250 $1.51

MISC. WATERPROOFING, DAMPROOFING & JOINT SEALANTS $900 $0.19

BRICK, STONE & STUCCO AT FRONT ELEVATION $5,400 $1.13

CMU AT INFILLED OPENINGS & PARAPET CAPS $4,703 $0.98

STUCCO AT REAR $3,163 $0.66

ROOF PATCH/REPAIR, SCUPPERS, DOWNSPOUTS - ALLOWANCE $5,000 $1.04

METAL CANOPY & RAILING $14,500 $3.02

EXTERIOR HM DOORS $1,760 $0.37

STOREFRONT WINDOWS $6,310 $1.31

GARAGE DOORS $4,510 $0.94

EXTERIOR PAINTING $11,166 $2.33

TRADE REQUIREMENTS $3,950 $0.82

SUBTOTAL $96,943 $20.20

GENERAL CONDITIONS $19,713 $4.11

INSURANCE $1,598 $0.33

   OVERHEAD & PROFIT $5,913 $1.23

RENOVATION TAX $10,244 $2.13

GRAND TOTAL: $134,410 $28.00

Edwards Construction

Page 1



 

HISTORY OF 106 W. CenTRal, BelTOn, TX 

 

The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in 1885  shows a small frame structure at the 
location of 106 W. Central, (at that time the street was named Cross).  The structure is  labeled 
Tailor. Link to Sanborn map of 1885:  http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596251/  

 

The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in August 1891 identifies two small frame 
structures, but it is unclear from the map if the structures are on 106 or 108 W. Cross Avenue 
(Central Avenue).  There is no identification as to the purpose of the buildings / sheds. Link to 
Sanborn map of 1891:  
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281891/?sp=3&r=-
0.084,0.166,0.542,0.938,0  

 

The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in January 1896 identifies the current structure 
as a stone building on the site of 106 W. Cross Avenue (Central Avenue). The building at 106 
shares a common stone wall with 108 W. Central.  The symbols on the map indicate the front of 
the building has a metal fence (or gate) with an awning extending out from the front of the 
building.   The map indicates the building was used for dry goods (D.G.) and Clothing (Clo). 
Adjacent to the rear of the building  was a “Wagon Yard”.  Link to Sanborn map of 1896:  
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281896/?sp=2&r=0.491,0.316,0.257,0.1
33,0  

 

The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in 1902 shows the current structure at 106 W. 
Cross Avenue (Central Avenue) with 14 foot height of the walls from the ground to the roof  on 
the west and east side.  It does not indicate any windows on the rear or east side.  No mention 
is made of the wood floors since in ordinary construction floors are assumed to be of wood 
unless specifically noted. There is a setback from the sides of the building with a notation “IRON 
FRONT” that extends across both the building at 106 and 108 W. Cross Avenue (Central 
Avenue).  Extending from the 1st story on the front of the building is an awning indicated by the 
broken line. The roof is wood covered with a composition roofing paper, as indicated by the 
small black dot in the southeast corner.  There is a 14” parapet above the roof indicated by the 
two hash-marks on the yellow awning.   Link to Sanborn map of 1902:  
http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596260/Plate+002/Belton+1902/Texas/  

                                          

http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596251/
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281891/?sp=3&r=-0.084,0.166,0.542,0.938,0
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281891/?sp=3&r=-0.084,0.166,0.542,0.938,0
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281896/?sp=2&r=0.491,0.316,0.257,0.133,0
https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g4034bm_g084281896/?sp=2&r=0.491,0.316,0.257,0.133,0
http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596260/Plate+002/Belton+1902/Texas/


 
 

 

The October 1907 Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX shows a stone building with 14’ 
height from the ground to the roofline on the interior wall and alley side.  There are no openings 
in the wall between the buildings.   The map shows 4 window openings on the first floor along 
the alley.  The notation “small” on the map may apply.  The map shows four windows in the rear 
of the building with tin clad shutters.   The building is listed as vacant.   Link to Sanborn map of 
1907:  https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g08428005/?sp=2  

                                            

 

The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in 1912 shows the building  very similar to the 
map of 1907, but it provides more information.  There is an 18 foot thick party wall on the west 
and am 18 foot thick stone wall with 4 windown on the alley side.  The map also shows 2 iron 
clad  windows in the rear wall.  The height of the front wall is noted as 16 feet from the ground to 
the roof a parapet extending 14” past the roof level.  The map continues to indicate an iron 
fence for the front of the building, possibly an iron “gate.” Two businesses occupy the building.  
The west side was used as a type room, the other printing with a wall between.   

 

                               

 

 

 

 

https://www.loc.gov/resource/g4034bm.g08428005/?sp=2


 
The Sanborn Fire Insurance map of Belton, TX in 1921 shows a damaged structure labeled 
“Ruins No Roof.”   There is an existing west stone party wall 18 feet wide and it appears  a 
stone wall 18 inches wide on the east wall and the north wall of the structure. The Sanborn 
maps indicated width of walls by splitting the numbers indicating the thickness on either side of 
the wall.   Link to the  Sanborn Map of 1921:  
http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596281/Plate+002/Belton+1921/Texas/  

                                             

 

 There are no Sanborn Fire Insurance maps of Belton after 1921. This photo of the 1913 Nolan 
Creek flood shows the building in the background, however it is not clear enough to identify 
details.  

.                           

 

Interpretations of symbols on Sanborn Maps were from these sources: 

106 W. 
Central 

http://www.historicmapworks.com/Map/US/1596281/Plate+002/Belton+1921/Texas/


 
http://www.dahp.wa.gov/sites/default/files/SanbornMapGuide_1942.pdf  

http://www.historicalinfo.com/fimo-interpret-sanborn-maps/  

https://www.loc.gov/rr/geogmap/sanborn/san2a.html  

http://web.mit.edu/thecity/resources/abbreviations_for_sanborn_maps.pdf  

 

 

 

Photos taken in 1996. 

 

   

 

 

 

http://www.dahp.wa.gov/sites/default/files/SanbornMapGuide_1942.pdf
http://www.historicalinfo.com/fimo-interpret-sanborn-maps/
https://www.loc.gov/rr/geogmap/sanborn/san2a.html
http://web.mit.edu/thecity/resources/abbreviations_for_sanborn_maps.pdf
















































11

SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS 
FOR REHABILITATION 

All Facade Improvement Incentive Grant applications will be reviewed by the Planning Department
Historic Preservation Commission and approved by the Belton City Council. The

Planning Department, Historic Preservation Commission and the Belton City Council will maintain an 
awareness of the Standards of Rehabilitation as follows: 

1. Every reasonable effort shall be made to provide a compatible use for a property which
requires minimal alteration of the building, structure or site and its environment, or to use a
property for its original intended purpose.

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a building, structure, or site and its
environment shall not be destroyed. The removal or alteration of any historic material or
distinctive architectural features will disqualify any building from this program.

3. All building, structures, and sites shall be recognized as products of their own time.
Alterations that have no historical basis and which seek to create an earlier appearance shall
be discouraged and may disqualify any building from this program.

4. Changes which may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and
development of a building, structure, or site and its environment. These changes may have
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance may be recognized and
respected.

5. Deteriorated architectural features shall be repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible.
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being
replaced in composition, design, color, texture and other visual qualities.

6. The surface cleaning of structures shall be undertaken with the gentlest means possible.
Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will change or damage the historic building
materials shall not be undertaken.

7. Contemporary design for alteration and additions to existing properties shall not be
discouraged when such alterations and additions do not destroy significant historical,
architectural or cultural materials, and such design is compatible with the size, scale, color,
material, and character of the property, neighborhood, or environment.

8. Whenever possible, new additions or alterations to structures shall be done in such a manner
that if such addition or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential form and
integrity of the structure would be unimpaired. New additions should be compatible to the
present structure.



City of Belton 
~ Founded 1850 ~ 

 

333 Water Street  P.O. Box 120  Belton, Texas 76513  Phone (254) 933-5800  Fax 
(254) 933-5822 

 
 

 
 
 
February 12, 2019 
 
 
Ms. Jo Mapel 
501 Brit Bailey Blvd. 
Angleton, TX 77515 
 
 
RE: 106 West Central Avenue Certificate of Appropriateness 

and Façade Improvement Grant  
 

 
Dear Ms. Mapel, 
 
 
On February 7, 2019, the Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) disapproved a portion of 
your request for renovations to the building located at 106 West Central Avenue located in the 
Downtown Belton Commercial Historic District.  The HPC determination and FIG 
recommendations to Council is as follows:  
 

1. Approval of the proposed work as outlined in the COA application for the east 
and west façades.   

2. Approval of the proposed work as outline in the COA application and 
recommend to Council approval of the Façade Improvement Grant for 
renovations to the north façade, for a total grant award of $10,000.   

3. Disapproval of the proposed work as outline in the COA application and 
recommend to Council disapproval of the Façade Improvement Grant for the 
renovations to the south (primary) façade. 

 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (254) 933-5891 or at 
KAtkinson@BeltonTexas.gov. 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
Kelly T. Atkinson 
Planner/Historic Preservation Officer 
 
 



 

July 2017 1 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

 
www.occ.gov/capublications 

Historic Tax Credits 
 

What Is the Historic Tax Credit 
Program? 
 
The Historic Tax Credit (HTC) program 
encourages private sector investment in the 
rehabilitation and re-use of historic 
buildings. The federal tax credit allows 
program participants to claim 20 percent of 
eligible improvement expenses against their 
federal tax liability. Since the Tax Reform 
Act of 1976, the HTC program has 
facilitated the rehabilitation of over 42,000 
certified historic buildings and has attracted 
more than $84 billion in new private capital 
to the historic cores of cities and towns 
across the nation. These funds have 
enhanced property values; created jobs; 
generated local, state, and federal tax 
revenues; and revitalized communities in 
need of economic development. 
 
How Does the Program Work? 
 
The HTC program is administered by the 
National Park Service (NPS) of the U.S. 
Department of the Interior and the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) of the U.S. 
Department of the Treasury, in partnership 
with the state historic preservation officers 
(SHPO) located in each state, the District of 
Columbia, and the U.S. territories. The HTC 
program encourages the rehabilitation of 

                                                 
1 26 USC 47 also provides for a 10 percent tax credit 
for the rehabilitation of non-historic, older (pre-1936) 
non-residential properties. Unlike the 20 percent 
HTC, the 10 percent tax credit is used primarily by 

certified historic buildings (those listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places or 
architecturally contributing to a National 
Register district) through the provision of 
tax credits equal to 20 percent of the 
qualified rehabilitation expenditures 
(QRE).1 To receive the HTCs, property 
owners must complete the three-part 
application process for historic preservation 
certification managed by the NPS and the 
relevant SHPO. 
 
Typically, if developers of HTC projects are 
not in a position to use the tax credits, they 
will offer the credits to third parties, 
including national banks and federal savings 
associations, to raise part of the equity 
funding for a project and thereby reduce the 
amount of debt financing needed for 
property rehabilitation. 
 
Legal Authority 
 
Under the powers granted by the National 
Bank Act, national banks have the authority 
to provide financing to HTC projects in 
return for the tax credits associated with the 
project. 
 
National banks may make investments 
designed primarily to promote the public 
welfare (such as by providing housing, 

building owners for personal tax purposes and does 
not typically include financial contributions from 
investors. This fact sheet focuses only on the 20 
percent HTC. 

http://www.occ.gov/capublications
http://www.occ.gov/capublications
http://www.occ.gov/capublications
http://www.occ.gov/capublications
http://www.occ.gov/capublications


 

July 2017 2 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

services, or jobs), including the welfare of 
low- and moderate-income (LMI) 
communities or families, under 12 USC 
24(Eleventh). This statutory authority to 
make public welfare investments is 
implemented by OCC regulations at 
12 CFR 24 (Part 24). Under 12 CFR 24.3, 
national banks may provide equity financing 
for historic property rehabilitation projects 
that promote the public welfare by taking 
ownership interests in entities that hold such 
properties for rehabilitation. 
 
Depending on the specifics of the 
transaction, national banks may also finance 
an HTC project in such a manner as to make 
the bank eligible to receive the federal HTCs 
by acquiring an interest in an entity, such as 
a fund that invests in properties eligible for 
the HTC, under 12 USC 24(Seventh). The 
substance of the transaction must remain the 
provision of financing for the rehabilitation 
of historic property. See OCC Corporate 
Decision 9907 (March 26, 1999). 
 
National banks seeking to provide financing 
to HTC projects under Part 24 must either 
request prior OCC approval or submit an 
after-the-fact notice to the OCC, depending 
on the bank’s safety and soundness profile, 
Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) 
performance, and the nature of the project 
financing. See, generally, 12 CFR 24.2(e), 
24.5, and 24.6. 
 
Federal savings associations (FSA) may 
make a public welfare investment in an 
entity that receives HTCs under several 
investment authorities, including community 
development-related equity investments in 
real estate pursuant to section 5(c)(3)(A) of 
the Home Owners’ Loan Act, investments in 
service corporations for community 
development pursuant to 12 CFR 5.59, and 
de minimis investments, generally equal to 
or less than the greater of 1 percent of 

capital or $250,000, pursuant to 
12 CFR 160.36. For more information on 
the FSA public welfare investment 
authority, please consult the Federal Savings 
Association Investment Authorities web 
page. 
 
Under these authorities, a national bank or 
FSA (hereafter referred to collectively as 
“banks”) acquires an interest in an entity 
that holds the properties for rehabilitation, 
typically, a limited partnership (LP) or 
limited liability company (LLC). Using this 
structure, banks provide the funding for 
HTC projects in return for the associated tax 
credits. 
 
It should be noted that the authorities 
referenced in the previous paragraphs are 
generally not affected by section 619 of the 
Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act, known as the 
Volcker Rule and codified at 12 USC 1851, 
which generally prohibits financial 
institutions from owning, sponsoring, or 
having certain relationships with covered 
funds. The final regulations implementing 
section 619 exclude from the definition of 
covered fund issuers in the business of 
making investments that are (1) designed 
primarily to promote the public welfare of 
the type permitted under 12 USC 
24(Eleventh) or (2) QRE with respect to a 
qualified rehabilitated building or certified 
historic structure, as such terms are defined 
in section 47 of the Internal Revenue Code 
or a similar state HTC program. See 
12 CFR 44.10(c)(11)(ii). 
 
How Are Tax Credits Calculated? 
 
In order to qualify for HTCs, a building 
must be depreciable, so it must be income 
producing or used in a trade or business. In 
addition, a “substantial” amount must be 
spent rehabilitating the historic building, 

https://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/resource-directories/public-welfare-investments/federal-savings-association-investment-authorities.html
https://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/resource-directories/public-welfare-investments/federal-savings-association-investment-authorities.html


 

July 2017 3 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

meaning that the cost of rehabilitation must 
exceed the pre-rehabilitation cost of the 
building. 
 
QREs are the development expenses on 
which HTCs can be claimed. Examples of 
QREs include, but are not limited to, the 
costs related to the repair or replacement of 
walls, floors, ceilings, windows, doors, air 
conditioning/heating systems, kitchen 
cabinets and appliances, plumbing and 
electrical fixtures, architects’ fees, 
construction loan interest, and 
environmental reports. The dollar value of 
tax credits is calculated by multiplying the 
value of the QREs by the 20 percent HTC 
rate. Banks can earn a return on these 
investments by offering discounted pricing 
for the credits. 
 
How Can HTCs Benefit a Bank? 
 
Banks participate in the HTC program for a 
number of reasons. Among them, banks may 
 
• Earn an attractive rate of return, when 

properly managed. 
• Receive CRA consideration as discussed 

in this fact sheet and clarified in the 
Interagency Questions and Answers on 
Community Reinvestment.  

• Combine HTC investments with other 
bank bridge, construction, or permanent 
loan products on the same project to 
improve returns or reduce overall risk. 

• Diversify existing bank products for 
rehabilitating retail, office, and 
institutional properties in historic 
communities, many of which are located 
in LMI geographies, designated disaster 
areas, or designated distressed or 
underserved non-metropolitan middle-
income geographies. 

 

Community Reinvestment Act 
 
Some projects that receive HTCs may meet 
the definition of community development in 
the CRA regulation and, therefore, may 
receive CRA consideration. Community 
development includes affordable housing 
(including multifamily rental housing) for 
LMI individuals and community services 
targeted to LMI individuals. The definition 
also includes community development 
activities that help to revitalize or stabilize 
LMI geographies, designated disaster areas, 
or designated distressed or underserved non-
metropolitan middle-income geographies. 
 
Banks that finance or invest in HTC 
properties located within the bank’s 
assessment area(s) may receive CRA 
consideration, to the extent that the activities 
meet the definition of community 
development. In addition, financing or 
investing in HTC properties located in the 
broader statewide or regional area that 
includes the bank’s assessment area(s) and 
that meet the definition of community 
development may also be eligible for 
consideration. Examiners consider these 
activities even if they do not benefit the 
bank’s assessment area(s), as long as the 
institution has been responsive to 
community development needs and 
opportunities in its assessment area(s). 
 
What Are the Risks to Bank Investors? 
 
A primary economic benefit from financing 
an HTC project is the opportunity to claim 
the full amount of federal HTCs in the year 
that the building is placed in service instead 
of over seven or 10 years, as is the case for 
the new markets and low-income housing 
tax credits, respectively. However, a 
participating bank risks the potential 
recapture of the credit by the IRS if there is 
a transfer of ownership during the five-year 

https://www.ffiec.gov/cra/qnadoc.htm
https://www.ffiec.gov/cra/qnadoc.htm


July 2017 4 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

compliance period (including a transfer 
triggered by foreclosure). In addition to 
underwriting risks, a bank should consider 
the tax planning and compliance risks 
associated with any tax credit investment 
and the reputational risks of investing in a 
high-profile community project that may 
fail. 

The IRS issued guidance on HTCs in 
Revenue Procedure 2014-12, which 
establishes a “safe harbor” for investors in 
HTCs. If HTC transactions are structured in 
accordance with this guidance, the IRS will 
respect the allocation of tax credits to the 
investors. As such, banks considering an 
investment in HTCs should become familiar 
with this guidance because it affects how 
current HTC transactions are structured in 
order to eliminate the potential for credit 
disallowance. 

Banks, as limited partners/members of 
LP/LLC subsidiaries, must retain ownership 
of the property for a five-year compliance 
period following the year the property is 
placed in service to avoid tax credit 
recapture. Once the five-year compliance 
period is over, the IRS cannot recapture the 
tax credit and a bank is free to exercise its 
right to sell its interest in the partnership. 

This fact sheet does not constitute tax or 
legal advice. Banks should consult their own 
tax advisors about the tax treatments and 
consequences that may apply to their 
transactions. 

For More Information 

Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

“Historic Tax Credits: Bringing New Life to 
Older Communities,” Community 
Developments Insights Report, June 2017 

Community Affairs Historic Tax Credit 
Resource Directory: Historic tax credit 
resources are available to national banks, 
government agencies, and community 
organizations 

District Community Affairs Officers contact 
information 

Part 24 Public Welfare Investments 
Resource Directory 

HTC program information—other agencies 

Internal Revenue Service: Revenue 
Procedure 2014-12 

National Park Service, U.S. Department of 
the Interior 

National Conference of State Historic 
Preservation Officers  

National Trust for Historic Preservation 

Historic Tax Credit Coalition 

Disclaimer 

Community Developments Fact Sheets are 
designed to share information about programs 
and initiatives of interest to bankers and 
community development practitioners. These 
fact sheets differ from OCC bulletins and 
regulations in that they do not reflect agency 
policy and should not be considered definitive 
regulatory or supervisory guidance. Some of the 
information used in the preparation of this fact 
sheet was obtained from publicly available 
sources. These sources are considered 
reliable, but the use of this information does not 
constitute an endorsement of its accuracy by 
the OCC.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Pub. L. No. 
115-97), signed into law on December 22, 2017,
made numerous changes to the Internal
Revenue Code. This document has NOT been
updated to reflect these changes. Banks or
other entities considering a tax credit equity
transaction should consult with a tax
professional with knowledge of how the changes
in the tax code may affect specific tax equity
transactions.

http://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/publications/insights/insights-historic-tax-credits-may-2015.pdf
http://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/publications/insights/insights-historic-tax-credits-may-2015.pdf
https://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/resource-directories/tax-credits/index-tax-historic.html
https://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/resource-directories/tax-credits/index-tax-historic.html
http://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/contacts.html
http://www.occ.gov/topics/community-affairs/resource-directories/public-welfare-investments/index-public-welfare-investments.html
https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/rp-14-12.pdf
https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/rp-14-12.pdf
http://www.nps.gov/tps/tax-incentives.htm
http://www.nps.gov/tps/tax-incentives.htm
http://ncshpo.org/
http://ncshpo.org/
https://savingplaces.org/
http://historiccredit.com/




Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

1 
 

Minutes of the  
Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Thursday, February 7, 2019                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
 

The Historic Preservation Commission met at 5:00 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Sheila Donahue, Dorothy Coppin, Barrett 
Covington, Tammie Baggerly and Ann Carpenter. The following staff members were present: Director 
of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, Planner and HPC Officer Kelly Atkinson, Director of IT Chris Brown and 
Planning Clerk Laura Livingston.  

4. H-19-03   Consider a request for a Façade Improvement Grant to Jo Mapel for reconstruction 
of the primary façade, addition of a faux balcony, and reconfiguration of door and window 
openings on the side and rear façades at 106 West Central Avenue, located in Downtown 
Belton Commercial Historic district, on the north side of West Central Avenue, east of North 
Pearl Street, and west of North Main Street.  

Ms. Atkinson presented the staff report (Exhibit B).  

Chair Donahue asked if the Secretary of Interior standards will be OK with the addition of that 
door? Do you feel secure with the choice of the location for the door? Ms. Atkinson said she does, 
and again that area is right on the edge of where there have been alterations and it really is not 
detracting from the building and in line with the existing windows and doors and flows nicely and 
again with fire safety we would recommend having the door. Chair Donahue said her second 
question, is there a requirement for another Certificate of Appropriateness or can it be amended and 
approved as staff recommends? Ms. Atkinson said you can make amendments to the 
recommendation and it can move forward that way. Those are staff recommendations and after 
discussion amongst each other and with the applicant, if you would like to revise that we can, Ms. 
Atkinson said.  

Chair Donahue asked if there was anyone who would like to speak, they may. Mr. T.C. Lipe said 
that Ms. Atkinson said the building was built in 1956. He said their information contradicts that and 
the building was built between 1891 and 1896 and the building burned in the 1920s and remained 
that way for decades. Saying the building was built in ’56… the front façade was put on in 1956; 
we don’t know if that’s accurate but we will go with that, Mr. Lipe said. The building was 
constructed in the 1800s.  Just because a front façade and CMU was put on in the 1950s does not 
mean this was a new building in the ’50s, he said. The original two walls of the building still stand, 
which would be the east and west walls. The front did not stand because it was probably wood; all 
indications of that time period indicate that it was wood, and therefore, it burned and it was left as 
rubble. So, then someone came and repaired it, and put this façade that you see now out of brick in 
the ’50s, not the 1800s; we still have the walls from the 1800s. That’s what we are wanting to match, 
Mr. Lipe said. We are not wanting to recreate, but return to a building reflecting the 1890’s, he said.  

Ms. Baggerly asked, so the front façade (south side) does not qualify for the Façade Improvement 
Grant? The north side does qualify, but because of the changes to the south side, the south side is 



Historic Preservation Commission  
February 7, 2019 
 

2 
 

not being considered? Mr. Lipe said yes. Ms. Baggerly asked about the garage doors, and the HPC 
and Ms. Atkinson discussed the changes to the garage doors.  

Chair Donahue asked if this structure is currently on the National Register of Historic Places? Ms. 
Atkinson said yes. Chair Donahue asked, it was placed on the National Register based on 
information provided at the time? Ms. Atkinson said correct. She said another example would be 
the Central Belton Fire Station, which is actually Mid-Century Modern. Belton Fire Chief Bruce 
Pritchard has come to her asking the same exact question, if renovations to the current building 
could reflect the arched garage doors from a previous fire station in that location, Ms. Atkinson said. 
Ms. Atkinson said the building as it is now is the architecture that is recognized and contributing to 
the District. Chair Donahue said based on that, changing it would disqualify it completely from the 
program. She said her home is on the National Register of Historic Places and she cannot make any 
significant changes to the exterior of her property, so she said she does understand how critical it is 
that those things are maintained. She sympathizes with Mr. Lipe. Mr. Lipe thanked her for that. His 
contention is that it is a case of mistaken identity, although this façade existed in 1956, the building 
was not built in 1956. Chair Donahue said the criteria that was provided to place it on the National 
Register of Historic Places is the criteria that we have to go by. We’re bound to it, she said. Mr. 
Lipe said he understands.  

Chair Donahue asked for a motion. Ms. Atkinson said the item can either be recommended as shown 
or you can revise your recommendation. Ms. Baggerly asked if they make the changes to the south 
façade, then this building will no longer be on the National Register. Ms. Atkinson clarified that it 
is actually part of a National Register District, so it’s contributing to the National District as a whole. 
It’s not individually listed and that is not actually providing the protection; the protection of the 
building is because it is part of a local district. Ms. Baggerly thanked Ms. Atkinson for the 
clarification. 

Chair Donahue called for a motion. Ms. Baggerly made a motion to approve H-19-03, as 
recommended by staff, which included approval of the proposed work as outlined in the COA 
application and the Façade Improvement Grant for the proposed renovations to the north side, but 
disapproval of the proposed work as outlined in the COA application and the Façade Improvement 
Grant for the renovations of the south (primary) façade. Mr. Covington seconded the motion. The 
item was approved with 5 ayes, 0 nays.   



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2018 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #16 
 
Consider an amendment to the professional services agreement with Halff Associates to 
allow for additional survey work for the South Belton Sewer Phase II project. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Angellia Points, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
Summary Information 
 
On July 24, 2018, the City awarded the South Belton Sewer Phase II design contract to 
Halff Associates. During the design, Halff identified an alternative alignment for the sewer 
force mains (pressurized lines) that would result in substantial cost savings for the City 
when compared to the original alignment.  
 
The original alignment of the force mains was to follow the proposed gravity lines along the 
Lampasas River, continue to along Toll Bridge Road, and be south and east of Cedar Crest 
Hospital. The alternative alignment is proposed to be along the Lampasas, as planned, but 
continue along the Lampasas and be placed in an easement along the eastern side of the 
Fredrickson and Eris, LLC properties, which connect to the east side of Cedar Crest 
Hospital. The alternative alignment was presented to the Eris, LLC property owner, Ms. 
Ellen Morris, who generally preferred this new alignment when compared to the original 
alignment. If the easements are granted, this new alignment of the force mains (two 
identical lines are needed to serve the fully developed sewer basin) will save the City 
approximately $500,000 in construction costs.  
 
In order to implement such identified value engineering, additional survey and easements 
are required.  
 
Right-of-entries from Ms. Morris and Mr. Fredrickson have been granted for this survey 
work. Ms. Morris is generally in favor of this alignment as it will placed in the future Capital 
Way ROW and in future roadway ROW identified in her best-use concept plan for the 
property.  
 
Staff worked with Halff Associates to develop a scope of services for this additional survey 
to obtain the data needed for the project and to satisfy the property owner’s requests 
regarding tree protection and preservation. The scope of services includes the following 
items: 
  

• Survey approximately 9.2 acres of property identified in the attached contract 
amendment.  



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2018 

Page 2 of 2   
 

• The survey shall include a tree survey of all hardwood trees 8-inches and greater, 
including tree clusters.  

• Easement legal descriptions and exhibit preparation for the three properties that will 
be surveyed (Eris – 2 properties, Fredrickson – 1 property).  

 
The funding for the additional survey work is proposed to come from the 2016 Utility 
Certificates of Obligation.  
 
Project Status 
 
South Belton Sewer Phase I is installed and on-line. Phase II is 30% designed. The design 
of the gravity lines and lift station are proceeding to 60% design. The force mains design 
work has been halted until the survey work can be completed and easements are at least 
committed. The easement acquisition process is underway. Staff is working with each 
property owner to identify and agree upon the alignment of the sewer lines, power line, and 
lift station. Actual easement document signing will be pursued in a few months as the 
design progresses.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
The proposed engineering services contract for the additional survey work is $59,500 and 
$4,500 for the easements, totaling $64,000 for this amendment. 
 
Amount: $64,000 
 
Budgeted:   Yes    No   Capital Project Fund 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend authorizing the contract amendment.  
 
Attachments 
Halff Proposal  



 

 

February 18, 2019 

           33999.002 

Angellia Points 

Director of Public Works 

City of Belton  

PO Box 120 

Belton, Texas 76513 

APoints@BeltonTexas.gov 

 

RE: Supplement #3 to the SBSS Phase II & III Wastewater Extension and Lift Station  

 

Dear Ms. Points: 

 

Herein is supplemental proposal #3 for professional survey services for the SBSS Phase II & III  

wastewater extension and lift station.  This supplement is being submitted to account for additional 

survey effort associated with the SBSS Ph II & III design contract.  Engineer previously identified 

a preliminary alignment for the proposed Project which was approved by the City.  Value 

Engineering for the proposed force main improvements, primarily horizontal orientation, were 

identified by the Engineer.  In order to implement such identified value engineering, additional 

survey and wastewater easements would be necessary.   

 

If these documents meet your approval, please sign below and return a copy to us for our records. 

We look forward to continue working for the City of Belton on this critical project. Please contact 

me if you have any questions or need any additional information.  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

HALFF ASSOCIATES, INC.   ADDITIONAL SERVICES CONFIRMATION 

    By:  ________________________________ 

Dan Franz, PE, CFM     (Print Name) 

Public Works Team Leader   Title: _______________________________ 

 

Attachments:     Date: _______________________________ 

Exhibit A – Supplement #3 Scope of Services 

Exhibit B – Survey Area Exhibit 



 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

SUPPLEMENT #3 SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

TASK V DESIGN SURVEY AND BASE MAPPING 

Survey Topo and Boundary 

Engineer previously identified a preliminary alignment for the proposed Project which was approved 

by the City.  Value Engineering for the proposed force main improvements, primarily horizontal orientation, 

were identified by the Engineer.  In order to implement such identified value engineering, additional survey and 

wastewater easements would be necessary.  Additionally, the area of the proposed value engineering was not 

previously surveyed and therefore would require additional data acquisition. The City approached each of the 

identified property owners to discuss the value engineered option and obtain a right of entry for purposes of 

data acquisition.  Based on the correspondence the City had with each of the property owners, the City requested 

a scope and fee from the Engineer for survey data acquisition services for implementing the value engineered 

alignment for the force main. No additional engineer design is being requested at this time for the formal design 

of the value engineering alignment. The City provided a third party survey CAD file for reference across one 

of the affected properties considered for the value engineering.  Halff reviewed the CAD survey file and 

determined is was suitable enough for the purpose of the utility design.  However, since the file has been 

provided by a third party, Halff cannot verify all accuracies of the information.  As a result, we have prepared 

a scope with an option for the City to resurvey in affected area at the sole discretion of the City.  The full area 

of survey to be acquired as part of this Supplement is illustrated in the attached Exhibit B.  

 The following parcels are part of the value engineered alignment area. Additional survey efforts shall 

include but are not limited to the following: 

 Subject tract(s): 

  ERIS, LLC Tracts: Being that tract of land (60.33acres, save and except 10.01 acres) 

in the M.F. Connell Survey, Abstract No. 6, situated in Bell County, Texas, described 

in a General Warranty Deed to ERRIS, LLC, of record in Document No. 2009-

00043171 of the Official Public Records of Real Property of Bell County, Texas, and 

being those tracts of land (Tracts One and Two) in the M.F. Connell Survey, Abstract 

No. 6, and the F. Madrigal Survey, Abstract No. 554, situated in Bell County, Texas, 

and described in a Special Warranty Deed to ERRIS, LLC, of record in Document No. 

2016-00000025 of the Official Public Records of Real Property of Bell County, Texas. 

 

  Fredrickson Tract: Being 24.17 acres of land in the F. Madrigal Survey, Abstract No. 

554, situated in Bell County, Texas, described in a deed to David F. Fredrickson, of 

record in Document 2010-00040261 of the Official Public Records of Real Property 

of Bell County, Texas. 

 

  IIGK Property Management Ltd. Tract: Being 26.38 acres of land in the F. Madrigal 

Survey, Abstract No. 554, situated in Bell County, Texas, described in a deed to IIGK 



 

 

 
Page 2 of 3 

 

Property Management Ltd., of record in Volume 4657, Page 331 of the Deed Records 

of Bell County, Texas. 

 

   

A. Boundary Verification Survey 
 

Halff Associates will perform a boundary verification survey of the subject tract(s), which we will 

utilize as a base map in preparation of surveying and engineering deliverables for the project.   

 

The survey will be performed in substantial accordance with TSPS Category 1-B, Condition I 

requirements. This does not include the preparation of a separate / hard copy survey map suitable for 

title insurance purposes or for addressing Schedule B items. 

 

• The property corners of the subject tract will be recovered and flagged. Any property 

corners that have been destroyed or disturbed will be replaced at their proper 

location. 

• We will rely on the Client to provide necessary research and copies of instruments 

regarding the existence of recorded easements, restrictions, and other matters of 

record affecting the subject property. 

• This proposal does not include research efforts normally performed by a title 

company. 

 

B. Topographic and Tree Survey  
  

   Halff Associates will perform a topographic and tree survey a portion of the subject tract(s), which 

will include the proposed easement alignments provided to, and approved by, the City of Belton. The survey 

limits will cover a strip of land fifty (50) feet in width following the proposed force main alignment, generally 

along the rear of each of the above tracts, for approximately 5,250 lineal feet, from the northeast corner of the 

ERISS, LLC tracts to the previous topo limits on the IIGK tract. The following specific services will be 

provided: 

 

• Perform a topographic and tree survey of the subject tract.  

• Obtain break lines and spot elevations sufficient for 1-foot contour intervals. 

• Locate above ground visible improvements. 

• Locate visible utility locations, including ties to above-ground features, such as power poles, 

valves, and other features (i.e. edges of pavement, curbs and gutter, sidewalks, building 

corners etc.) either found by our surveyors or located for us by utility companies and/or other 

agencies. 

• Locate and tag existing hardwood trees 8-inches diameter and greater. Tree clusters or multi-

trunk trees will be located only if one trunk is a minimum of 8-inches in diameter. The client 

understands that certain species of trees may be difficult to identify, particularly in winter 

months, and the client should consider retaining an arborist to confirm the identification of 

certain trees in critical areas. 

• Process field collected data for field survey. 

• Perform quality control for survey requirements.  

• Prepare base map illustrating data collected above. 

• Include property ownership and boundary information. 

• Extract spot elevations and break lines into DTM. 



 

 

 
Page 3 of 3 

 

• Extract and prepare triangulated irregular network into DTM. 

• Load 1-foot contour information. 

 

    

C. Legal Description Preparation  
 

Halff will prepare metes & bounds descriptions and accompanying exhibits on an as-needed basis. 

The descriptions will be prepared in a manner acceptable for easement conveyance or other 

similar uses. Setting corner monuments for the parcels is not included in this proposal. Large, 

complex figures or those requiring additional field work to support, including off-site parcels, 

will require a supplemental adjustment be made to the scope and fees. 
 

Individual parcel exhibits shall be in pdf format, shall be sealed, signed and dated by a Registered 

Professional Land Surveyor. 

 

 

TASK V – DESIGN SURVEY AND BASE MAPPING 

A. Boundary Verification and Topographic/Tree 

Survey 

 

Lump Sum $59,500.00 

 

B. Legal Description Preparation (3 estimated) $1,500.00 Lump Sum Each $4,500.00 

 

Services performed outside the above scope of services will be provided on an hourly basis in accordance with 

our standard hourly rates. In order to furnish a lump sum fee, the following assumptions were made: 

 

• Sufficient boundary monumentation needed to control the survey is recoverable, and in good condition. 

• There are no encroachments, overlaps, gores or other issues affecting the boundary lines. 

• You or your title company will furnish us with the current ownership information for the subject tract, 

including a copy of or recording information for the vesting deed and any subsequent right-of-way 

takes (recorded or contemplated), partitions, boundary agreements or other similar matters that may 

affect the boundaries of the subject tract that may not be reflected in the vesting deed. 

• You or your title company will provide a copy of all instruments regarding the existence of recorded 

easements, restrictions, and other matters of record affecting the subject property.  

• Halff will perform research of adequate thoroughness to support the determination of the location of 

intended boundaries of the land parcel surveyed and will obtain deeds of record for adjoining properties 

based upon current tax maps. 

• Services associated with addressing objection letters, lender/landowner requirements, etc.., will be 

performed as an additional service at our standard hourly rates.  Prints and/or deliveries will be billed 

at actual cost times a 1.10 multiplier.   

• Tree trimming may be necessary for site-line clearing, and the client authorizes cutting of underbrush 

for this purpose. 

 



F
G

P

T
P

E
D

P
P

F
G

P

F
G

P
T

P
E

D

MB

MB MBMB MB

S
IG

N

BL
*P

LN
T 

BL
*P

LN
T1

BL
*P

LN
T 

BL
*P

LN
T1

P
P

T
P

E
D

T
P

E
D

S
IG

N
S
IG

N

FP
 B

L*F
 4

FT
 W

IRE

T
P

E
D

F
G

PF
G

P

F
G

P

F
G

P

S
IG

N
T

P
E

D

F
G

P

F
C

P
2
0
0
5
4

5
4
1
.1

2 F
C

P

MB

MB

S
IG

N

T
P

E
D

T
M

H

MBS
IG

N

MB

F
G

P

F
G

P

BL
*S

TM
IS 

GA
BIO

N

S
IG

N

S
IG

N

S
IG

N

S
IG

N

F
G

P

F
G

P

S
IG

N

P
P

S
IG

N

MB

S
IG

N

P
PGW

LP

P
P

P
P

P
P

S
IG

N

P
P

P
P

S
IG

N

T
M

H

P
P

S
IG

N
T

M
H

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1
5

+
0
0

5
1
5

5
15

520

520

520

520
520

52
0

5
2
0

5
2
0

525

525

5
2
5

5
2
5

5
2
5

5
2
5

525

525

525

525

525

525

525

525

5
2
5

5
2
5

530

530

5
3
0

5
3
0

5
3
0

5
3
0

530

530

530

530

530

530

5
3
0

535

5
3
5

535

5
3
5

5
3
5

5
3
5

53
5

535

535

535

535

5
3
5

5
3
5

5
3
5

5
3
5

540

5
4
0

540

5
4
0

5
4
0

5
4
0

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

54
0

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540 5
4
0

545

545

545

5
4
5

5
4
5

5
4
5

545

545

5
4
5

5
4
5

550

550

550

5
5
0

550

550

555

5
5
5

5
5
5

560

5
6
0

56056
5

565

5
6
5

5
6
5

5
6
5

5
6
5

565

5
7
0

5
7
0

5
7
0

57
0

5
7
0

575

5
7
5

575

5
8
0

580

580

5
8
0

580

585

585

585

5
8
5

585

585

585

585

585

585

585

590

590

590

590

590

590 590

590

5
9
0

595

595

595

595
595

595

5
9
5

600

600

600

6
0
0

6
0
0

6
0
0

6
0
0

6
0
0

6
0
5

6
0
5

6
0
5

6
0
5

6
0
5

6
0
5

610

6
1
0

6
10

610

6
1
0

610

6
1
5

6
1
5

6
1
5

615

615

6
1
5

6
2
0

6
2
0

6
2
0

4
8
0

485

4
8
5

485

4
8
5

490

490

490

49
0

4
9
0

490

490

4
9
0

495

4
9
5

4
9
5

4
9
5

4
9
5

4
9
5

4
9
5

4
9
5

495

495

495

495

495

495

4
9
5

500

500

500

505

5
0
5

5
0
5

510

5
1
0

510

510

5
1
0

515

5
1
5

515

5
1
5

5
1
5

515

515

515

520

5
2
0

5
2
0

5
2
0

520

520

52
0

5
2
0

5
2
5

525

5
2
5

52
5

525

525

525

525

525

525

5
2
5

5
2
5

530

5
3
0

53
0

530

530

530

530

5
3
0

535

535

5
3
5

5
3
5

535

5
3
5

535

535

535

5
3
5

5
3
5

535

5
3
5

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

5
4
0

540

540

540

540

540

540

540

540 54
0

545

5
4
5

545

545

545

5
4
5

550

550

550

555

5
5
5

56
0

5
6
0

560

565

5
6
5

5
6
5

5
6
5

5
6
5

5
7
0

5
7
0

570

5
7
0

5
7
5

5
7
5

575

580

580

580

5
8
0

580

585

585

585

585

58
5

585

585

585

585

590

590

590

590

590

590

595

595

595

595

600

600

600

6
0
0

6
0
0

600

600

6
0
5

60
5

6
0
5

605

61
0

610

6
1
0

61
0

61
5

6
1
5

615

6
2
0

6
2
0

6
2
0

N

SURVEY EXHIBIT

EXHIBIT B 

IH 35

TOLLBRIDGE RD.

LEGEND

SURVEY

MISSING.

SURVEY WAS ALREADY 

SCOPE EXCEPT WHERE

NO ADDITIONAL SURVEY

FORCE MAIN REVISED.

3
5
0
0
 S
 I

H
 3

5

C
R

E
S

T
 L

L
C

H
M
IH
 C

E
D

A
R
 

IH 35

ERIS LLC

IH 35

ERIS LLC

BRIDGE ROAD

4951 TOLL 

DAVID F

FREDRICKSON, 
5271 TOLL BRIDGE ROAD

ALFORD, LAURA

BRIDGE ROAD

5109 TOLL 

MANAGEMENT LTD

II GK PROPERTY 

(1.41 ACRES)

SURVEY NEEDED 

ADDITIONAL 

(6.48 ACRES)

SURVEY NEEDED 

ADDITIONAL 

(1.27 ACRES)

SURVEY NEEDED 

ADDITIONAL 

FLOODPLAIN

FEMA 100-YEAR 

FLOODPLAIN

FEMA 500-YEAR 



South Belton 
Sewer System

Phase II Professional Services Contract Amendment 
Additional Survey



Project Updates
 February 13, 2018 – Council awards Phase I Bid with Change Order No. 1 to 

increase line sizes. Phase II was to be redesigned. 

 February 27, 2018 – Council awards Phase II Redesign Professional Services 
Contract to Halff Associates. This included looking at options for Phase II to 
maximize serviceability of the area to determine how to proceed. 

 June 12, 2018 – Council awards Phase II Design Services to proceed with moving 
the lift station to the Lampasas River. 

 2018 into 2019 – Staff and Halff work on Phase II design, survey, meeting with 
property owners, etc. 

 February 2019 – South Belton Sewer Phase I is completed and online. Construction 
finished below allocated budget and on time.

 As part of the ongoing Phase II design, Halff has identified an alternative 
alignment for the force mains that will save the City approximately $500k in 
construction costs, but requires additional survey and easements. 

 Today: Consider authorizing an amendment to Halff Associates contract for Phase II 
additional survey work. 



Original 
Planned 

Alignment

Alternative  
Alignment



Additional Survey Area
 Survey of approximately 9.2 acres. 

 Tree survey to identify all hardwoods 8 
inches and greater, including clusters. 

 Three easement field notes and exhibits for 
the three properties along the new force 
main alignment. 

 No additional design costs needed. 

 Rights-of-entry have already been 
obtained. 

 Additional survey work is $59,500. 

 Three easement descriptions and exhibits is 
$4,500. 

 Total amendment is $64,000. 



Funding Summary
Funding Summary Amount

Available 2016 W/S CO Funds $10,110,303

Expenditures

South Belton Sewer Phase I Construction $2,324,295

South Belton Sewer Phase II Design $457,665

North Belton Waterline Construction $804,122

North Belton Waterline Construction Admin $35,120

Shady Lane Sewer Design $168,300

South Belton Sewer Phase II Survey Amendment $64,000

Net Remaining $6,256,801

Remaining to be used for South Belton Phase II Construction and Shady Lane Sewer 
Construction and Construction Admin Services as funds are available.



Schedule and Recommendation
 Design Phase II

 Survey, Coordination with property owners, easement acquisition 

 Finish design, permitting, TCEQ and TxDOT approvals

 Breaking ground in Fall 2019, if funding and easement acquisition allow, 1 year for 
construction

 Continue with the design of Shady Lane Sewer to accept South Belton Sewer 
flows, consider bidding/award. 

 Design IH-35 waterline extension in preparation of growth funded by BEDC.

Recommendation: 

Recommend authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 
agreement with Halff Associates to allow for additional survey work for the South 
Belton Sewer Phase II project in the amount of $64,000.



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 1 of 2   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #17 
     
Consider a request to settle outstanding liens on 915 South Pearl Street, Belton, Texas 
(BellCad Property ID 37060). 
 
Originating Department 
 
Finance Department – Brandon Bozon, Director of Finance 
 
Summary Information 
 
915 South Pearl Street, Belton, TX 
 
This property has two outstanding liens, filed by the City of Belton in 2017 related to 
significant cleanup efforts undertaken in late 2016, and a mowing conducted in April 2017. 
The total balance owed as of February 12, 2019, is $8,053.12. The breakdown of the 
balance owed is attached to this report. The City’s hard costs in the project total $5,602.96, 
broken down as $5,561.96 in payments to contractors and $41 in filing and recording fees 
paid to Bell County. The liens are ineligible for settlement at the City Staff level under the 
City’s policy, as the liens were filed after March 1, 2015, but the guidelines set forth in the 
policy are outlined below for Council reference.  
 
The property was purchased by Mr. Jimenez at the Bell County Tax Sale on December 4, 
2018. Belton City Staff was present at the auction, and the balance of the liens was 
announced by Sheriff Lange prior to bidding. Mr. Jimenez has requested the City accept 
$3,000 in exchange for the release of the liens.  
 
Lien Settlement Policy 
 
In 2015, City Staff brought to the Council a proposal to allow for the settlement of liens filed 
prior to March 1, 2015. The policy provided the following guidelines for negotiating 
settlement: 
 
Upon recommendation of the Assistant Director of Finance and Director of Finance, and 
approval of the City Manager: 
 

- Reduction or forgiveness of accrued interest 
- Cessation of interest accrual 
- Reduction or forgiveness of principal, not to exceed City’s investment 

 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 26, 2019 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Upon recommendation of the Assistant Director of Finance, Director of Finance, and City 
Manager, and approval of the Council: 
 

- Reduction or forgiveness of principal beyond City’s investment 
- Reduction or forgiveness of filing and recording fees 

 
The policy also outlined proactive measures, including attendance at Bell County Tax Sales 
in order to notify the public if a property up for auction has liens filed against it. Since that 
time, a representative has attended every sale that included a property against which City 
liens had been filed.   
 
Further, the policy states that City Staff will consider the age, balance, and any ownership 
transfers when determining whether the lien balance is eligible for any reduction or 
forgiveness, and make every effort to be fair and consistent in dealings with all property 
owners. 
 
While the liens were filed after March 1, 2015, City Staff believes it is in the best interest of 
the City to settle the balance in an amount that would make the City whole for its cost to 
remediate the property. As such, the following recommendation is not to accept the offer of 
$3,000, but to instead authorize City Staff to settle the balance for the City’s investment.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends Council authorization to settle the lien balance on 915 South Pearl Street 
for an amount not less than $5,602.96. 
 
Attachments 
Lien Policy 
Lien balance calculations 
Letter from Mr. Jimenez 
Map of subject property 
 



City of Belton Lien Settlement Policy 

Adopted: 03/10/15 

The goal of this policy is to recoup, to the greatest extent possible, liens filed by the City of Belton against properties as a 

result of costs incurred by the City to bring properties into compliance with City Codes involuntarily. 

Liens filed prior to March 1, 2015 are eligible for settlement.  

The City recognizes that in some cases, properties transferred ownership at foreclosure or tax sales, or without the use 

of a title company, and the new owners were not aware of existing liens. While ignorance of liens or the inability/refusal 

to  pay  long‐standing  balances  is  not  in  itself  an  excuse  for  non‐payment,  City  Staff will  negotiate  in  good  faith with 

property owners in order to settle the lien balance in a manner that is mutually beneficial to the property owner and the 

City.    

City  Staff will  consider  the  age,  balance,  and  any  ownership  transfers when  determining whether  the  lien  balance  is 

eligible  for any reduction or  forgiveness, and make every effort  to be fair and consistent  in dealings with all property 

owners.  City Staff has received Council authorization to take the following actions with appropriate approvals: 

Upon recommendation of the Assistant Finance Director and Finance Director, and approval of the City Manager: 

‐ Reduction or forgiveness of accrued interest 

‐ Cessation of interest accrual 

‐ Reduction or forgiveness of principal, not to exceed City’s investment 

Upon  recommendation  of  the  Assistant  Finance  Director,  Finance  Director,  and  City  Manager,  and  approval  of  the 

Council: 

‐ Reduction or forgiveness of principal beyond City’s investment 

‐ Reduction or forgiveness of filing and recording fees 

Any settlement agreement will be written to be effective upon the payment of the settled balance immediately, or along 

a mutually agreed‐upon payment plan with a term not to exceed 60 months, and with monthly payments not less than 

$50. Failure to pay  in full or  in accordance with the payment plan will  result  in the full balance being restored.    In no 

event shall the City agree to a lien reduction without payment of (or payment terms equal to) the total settled amount.  

Beginning  in March 2015,  the Finance Department will  begin  taking  the  following actions  in order  to  increase  citizen 

knowledge about liens, and ensure proper filing. 

‐ Attendance at all County tax sale and foreclosure sale in which a property with liens is to be sold 

‐ Quarterly review of County records to ensure all filed liens were properly recorded 

‐ Periodic website and Facebook notifications, educating citizens to check with the City for  liens  if a property  is 

being purchased without title insurance 



City of Belton

915 S Pearl St
Lien Payoff
2/12/19

5340 21391
Lien 1 Lien 2 Total 

Date 02/09/2017 05/25/2017

# of Days 733 628

Interest Rate 10% 10%

Principal 6,584.36$      90.00$           6,674.36$     

Accrued Interest 1,322.28$      15.48$           1,337.76$     

Filing & Recording F 15.00$           26.00$           41.00$          

Total Due 7,921.64$      131.48$         8,053.12$     

Daily Interest 1.80$             0.02$             1.82$            

Remit to:

City of Belton
Attn:  Assistant Finance Director
PO Box 120
100 S. Davis St.
Belton, TX 76513
254-933-5810





 

 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 12, 2019 

Page 1 of 2   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #18 
 
Consider a resolution supporting 2019 Texas Legislative Priorities. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Administration – Sam A. Listi, City Manager 
 
Background 
 
In the current FY 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, an emphasis is placed on working with State 
and Federal Legislators on locally determined priorities.  See attached Goal 1d (Exhibit 1).  
As indicated, the Strategic Plan anticipates an Outcome where the City takes a position on 
priorities for pending legislation.  This objective was reinforced by City correspondence to 
State Senator Dawn Buckingham and State Representative Hugh Shine on December 19, 
2018, before the Legislative Session began (Exhibit 2).  Bell County Judge David Blackburn 
entered office on January 1, 2019, and drafted Legislative Position Statements on four (4) 
topics, on which he is seeking to achieve consensus, in order to assist our legislators in 
knowing community positions in this critical Legislative Session.  The Position Statements, 
which have been slightly modified to add Belton impacts (Exhibit 3), include: 
 

1. Avoiding Changes to Revenue Caps 
2. Avoiding Unfunded Mandates 
3. Expanding Assistance to Cities affected by the Disabled Veterans Tax Exemption 
4. Addressing School Funding 

 
In addition, the City of Temple, the Temple Chamber of Commerce, Temple Economic 
Development Corporation, the Killeen Chamber of Commerce, and Bell County endorsed a 
similar version of these four (4) Position Statements.  Finally, the Belton Area Chamber of 
Commerce endorsed these four (4) Legislative Position Statements (Exhibit 4), at its 
meeting on February 21, 2019. 
 
 
Summary Information 
 
In keeping with Goal 1d in the FY 2019-2023 Strategic Plan, and in partnership with area 
entities that believe strongly in self-governance, we believe action affirmatively outlining 
Belton’s interests is imperative. 
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
February 12, 2019 

Page 2 of 2   
 

 
Fiscal Impact 
 
Amount: N/A 
 
Budgeted:   Yes      No  Capital Project Funds 
 
If not budgeted:   Budget Transfer      Contingency     Amendment Needed     
 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of a Resolution supporting 2019 Texas Legislative Priorities. 
 
Attachments 
• 2019 Strategic Plan Goal 1d 
• 12/19/19 Correspondence to Sen. Dawn Buckingham/Rep. Hugh Shine 
• Legislative Position Statements Drafted by Bell County Judge David Blackburn (with 

Belton impacts highlighted) 
• Legislative Position Statements Drafted by Bell County Judge David Blackburn and 

Endorsed by Belton Area Chamber of Commerce 
• Resolution of Support 



20 
 

City of Belton 
Strategic Plan Goal 

Action Plan 
FY 2019 

 

Goal Category: 
 

Governance 

Goal 1d:  
 

Work with State/Federal Legislators on Local Priorities 

Applicable Outcome 
Statement(s): 

Belton's governance is fair, transparent, and fiscally 
responsible 

Project Year: 
 

FY 2019 

Team Leader: 
 

Assisted By: 

City Manager 
 

Mayor, Council 

 

Outcome 
Description(s): 

• City Council develops Priorities for 2019 State Legislative 
Session and 2019 Congressional term 

Performance 
Indicator(s): 

• Staff has prepared priorities for Council considerations prior 
to start of Legislative Session and 2019 federal Congres-
sional term 

• Council has reached consensus on key priorities to 
emphasize in upcoming legislative term 

• Priorities are communicated to State and Federal 
Legislators – regularly and consistently, and local experts 
made available for testifying 

Challenges/Barriers: • Identifying a few key priorities for focus 
• Monitoring legislative action in Austin 
• Communicating clearly and in a timely manner when 

needed 
Partners: 
 

• City Department Heads 
• Chief Appraiser, Bell County Tax Appraisal District 

 

Timeline for Implementation Expected Completion Date 
FY 2019 
 

Spring-Summer 2019 

 

Cost Funding Source(s) 
Staff Resources 
 

General Fund 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019 Texas State Legislative Priorities for 
District 24 Senator Dawn Buckingham and 
District 55 State Representative Hugh Shine 

 
December 19, 2018 
 
Senator Buckingham and Representative Shine: 
 
Mayor Marion Grayson, Mayor Pro Tem Craig Pearson, the Belton City Council, and over 20,000 Belton residents 
look forward to working with you as the State Legislative Session begins in January 2019.  Thank you for reaching 
out to the City of Belton, and for your accessibility now and in the future. 
 
 On Tax and Finance Issues, the City opposes any measure to institute a new revenue cap on local governments. 

The City will also oppose the imposition of any legislation that contains an unfunded mandate from the State. 
 

 We are supportive of the bills filed by Representative Shine which appear to bring common sense reform and 
greater transparency to the property tax system. 

 
 Belton and Bell County as a whole are adversely affected by the 100% Disabled Veteran Property Tax 

Exemption. We are supportive of the Heart of Texas Defense Alliance’s proposal to improve it. 
 
 Public Safety is one of the most important services local government provides directly to the citizens.  

Restrictions on local funding can jeopardize the safety of our community.  
 

 A local government’s Land Use Authority is critically important, especially in the area of annexation, in 
conformance with existing standards.  These standards, especially the useful provisions for Non-Annexation 
Development Agreements, are working well to limit annexation.  No additional changes are needed at this 
time. 
 

 Grant Funding – Maintain meaningful and competitive funding, especially in Parks, Criminal Justice, 
Emergency Management, Agriculture, Housing, and Transit. 

 
 Federal/State Homeland Security Funding - Achieving and maintaining modern and interoperable 

communications systems is critical to Belton, Central Texas, and Ft. Hood – locally, regionally at the Bell 
County Communications Center, and internationally.  Also, preserve and enhance funding for Ft. Hood and 
ancillary facilities and services. 

 
 Federal/State Workforce Investment Funding.  Central Texas Workforce is a national leader in job placement 

for youth, and adults. 
 
 Monitor Internet Service Providers to help us ensure distribution of service to developing neighborhoods. 



 Continue to support favorable Economic Development Opportunities for local government, such as 
Opportunity Zones, which were approved for Belton, and maintain local authority for economic development 
corporations. 
 

 Transportation Funding remains important due to unprecedented growth in Central Texas, in Ft. Hood’s 
backyard.  We will work with TxDOT in Belton and Waco, as well as KTMPO, the regional planning agency, 
to ensure maximum use of every federal and state dollar.  Belton is the only city in your District located at the 
intersection of two interstate highways – IH 35 and IH 14 – meriting special focus when these funds are 
considered.  Also, numerous state highways serve Belton, the Bell County seat.  Loop 121 is our Number 1 
TxDOT priority, with FM 93 second, and with Lake to Lake Road (FM 2271) a future regional priority. 
 

 Federal funds administered by State agencies have been/are being used effectively by the City of Belton, with 
significant local match amounts provided by the City.  Please be aware of the following important funding: 

 
 KTMPO’s long-range planning and funding for Loop 121 is evident in the final schematics developed 

for the project, from FM 439 to IH 35, and initial funding ($5 million) for right-of-way (ROW) 
acquisition and environmental studies. 
 

 $200,000 in KTMPO funding for sidewalks along SH 317, So. Main Street, was built with a city water 
line replacement this year. 

 
 Two Department of Transportation grants administered by TxDOT are being implemented to extend 

to the Nolan Creek Hike and Bike Trail project, and linking north and south Belton (TxDOT). 
 

 CDBG (Community Development Block Grant funds) grant awards have been used to upgrade utility 
services to low/moderate income persons in Belton. (TDHCA) 

 
 Multi-year funding from HUD through TDHCA (Texas Department of Housing and Community 

Affairs) has been effectively used for replacement homes.  This is an outstanding program through 
which we have replaced 34 homes in Belton for very low-income property owners over the last 18 
years. 

 
 Texas Parks and Wildlife Grant funds have been important to Belton as well, including funding for 

large Community Parks ($500,000); small Community parks ($75,000); and Specialty Parks 
($100,000) for Nolan Creek Recreational Enhancements. 

 
These funding programs, and the projects they make possible, are important to cities in your District, 
especially small cities.  In Belton, the Bell County Seat, 28% of assessed property values are exempted.  While 
we know funding is and will remain a challenge, we hope you will be cognizant of the value of these funding 
opportunities to local communities. 
 

On behalf of the Belton City Council, City Staff and residents of Belton, thank you for your friendship and support 
in these matters, and for your service to the Citizens of Belton.  We share your commitment to maintaining fiscal 
responsibility at the state government level, and want to be a partner in any way we can.  Local Belton officials 
are available for clarification/background on any topic identified.  Please call upon us to assist in making your 
term in the legislature as successful as possible. 
 
 
 

Mayor Marion Grayson Mayor Pro Tem Craig Pearson City Manager Sam A. Listi 
      (254) 718-7878   (254) 718-1389   (254) 721-5522 



 
Legislative Position Statement: 

Revenue Caps 
Background: 
Current law provides for a ‘revenue cap’ (also known as a ‘rollback rate’), which limits local government tax 
rate increases.  The current revenue cap for local governments is 8%.  Currently, if a city or county increases 
the property tax rate by more than 8% over the previous year, voters can petition for an election to ‘rollback’ 
the increase.  In recent legislative sessions, bills have been introduced to replace the ‘rollback rate’ with a 
lower threshold and require mandatory elections on an increase over the ‘rollback rate’.  The efforts to lower 
the current revenue cap have been proposed as a measure to provide property tax relief.  
 
Position Statement: 
Decreasing the current revenue cap is, at best, misguided public policy and will not achieve property tax relief.  
 

- A lower revenue cap is a misguided, ‘one-size fits all’ solution.  Locally elected governmental bodies are in the 
best position to determine the right policy decisions, and to determine the revenue and expense requirements 
for their own localities for the issues and challenges that they face. Our local governments need to be able to 
provide the services that local residents need and desire in areas such as health care, streets and roads, and 
public safety.  What’s right or desired in Texarkana might not be what’s right or desired in Temple.  

- A lower revenue cap does not address costs outside the control of the local government.  Unfunded 
mandates, emergencies, and demand for services caused by rapid population growth can all require additional 
revenue in order to meet costs.  

- A lower revenue cap can negatively affect the fiscal health of local governments by increasing the costs of 
debt thru lower bond ratings.  Lower revenue caps will result in the inability to raise the revenue necessary to 
adequately fund bond requirements for needed infrastructure.  

- A lower revenue cap hurts the ability of local governments to spur economic development by diminishing the 
flexibility to provide economic incentives.  Cities and counties are the economic engines of the State and lower 
revenue caps limits their ability to offer economic incentives.  

- A lower revenue cap restricts the flexibility of local governments not just to raise their tax rates, but to balance 
their community needs responsibly. Belton issued tax-supported bonds in 2013, 2015 and 2018 and made no 
changes to its overall tax rate to pay for the new debt. Instead, Belton lowered its M&O rate in the short-term 
(with plans to rebalance in future years) to accommodate a larger Debt Service Rate while maintaining a 
consistent overall tax rate. With a 2.5% revenue cap placed on M&O tax rates, this sort of management would 
become impractical, as Belton would not have had the ability to ‘rebuild’ its M&O rate following a decrease.  

- In the last five years, Belton’s adopted tax rate has averaged 2.2% above the Effective or “No New Revenue” 
tax rate. That means that the burden to taxpayers has increased at a pace slower than inflation and below the 
2.5% mark. However, due to the way the truth-in-taxation calculation works, Belton would have exceeded a 
2.5% M&O revenue cap each of the last five years.  

- The proposed revenue cap would remove the ability of Belton’s local leaders to manage the needs of the City 
and the burden to taxpayers in the responsible manner in which they have proven works, and would ensure 
that any future bond issue came with a tax increase.  

- What may appear to be taxpayer friendly reform in Austin does not work for every local jurisdiction. One size 
does not fit all.  
 



Ask: 
- Leave the revenue cap where it is … at 8%.  
- Recognize that local governments are fiscally responsible and are in the best position to know what their 

respective communities need and desire.  
- Recognize that a solution already exists if local residents believe their local governments have not been fiscally 

responsible or responsive … it’s called an election.  
 
Points of Contact: 

- Bell County Judge David Blackburn, David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105) 
- Temple City Manager Brynn Myers, Bmyers@templetx.gov (254.298.5600) 
- Killeen City Manager Ron Olson, Rolson@killeentexas.gov (254.501.7700)  

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:Bmyers@templetx.gov
mailto:Rolson@killeentexas.gov


CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS
ADOPTED TAX RATE VS. EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Fiscal Tax Effective
Year Year M&O I&S Total Tax Rate $ %

2008 2007 0.5377 0.1173 0.6550 0.6431 0.0119 1.9%
2009 2008 0.5394 0.1156 0.6550 0.6244 0.0306 4.9%
2010 2009 0.5360 0.1190 0.6550 0.6486 0.0064 1.0%
2011 2010 0.5397 0.1153 0.6550 0.6594 -0.0044 -0.7%
2012 2011 0.5405 0.1135 0.6540 0.6540 0.0000 0.0%
2013 2012 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6598 0.0000 0.0%
2014 2013 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6472 0.0126 1.9%
2015 2014 0.5425 0.1173 0.6598 0.6402 0.0196 3.1%
2016 2015 0.5332 0.1266 0.6598 0.6452 0.0146 2.3%
2017 2016 0.5393 0.1205 0.6598 0.6457 0.0141 2.2%
2018 2017 0.5545 0.1053 0.6598 0.6465 0.0133 2.1%
2019 2018 0.5650 0.0948 0.6598 0.6516 0.0082 1.3%

Average last 12 years 1.7%
Average last 5 years 2.2%

Fiscal Tax Rollback
Year Year M&O I&S Total Tax Rate $ %

2008 2007 0.5377 0.1173 0.6550 0.6905 -0.0355 -5.1%
2009 2008 0.5394 0.1156 0.6550 0.7013 -0.0463 -6.6%
2010 2009 0.5360 0.1190 0.6550 0.6868 -0.0318 -4.6%
2011 2010 0.5397 0.1153 0.6550 0.6882 -0.0332 -4.8%
2012 2011 0.5405 0.1135 0.6540 0.6855 -0.0315 -4.6%
2013 2012 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6888 -0.0290 -4.2%
2014 2013 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6970 -0.0372 -5.3%
2015 2014 0.5425 0.1173 0.6598 0.6807 -0.0209 -3.1%
2016 2015 0.5332 0.1266 0.6598 0.6858 -0.0260 -3.8%
2017 2016 0.5393 0.1205 0.6598 0.6680 -0.0082 -1.2%
2018 2017 0.5545 0.1053 0.6598 0.6599 -0.0001 0.0%
2019 2018 0.5650 0.0948 0.6598 0.6722 -0.0124 -1.8%

Average -3.8%
Average last 5 years -2.0%

Fiscal Tax 2.5% Rollback
Year Year M&O I&S Total Tax Rate $ %

2008 2007 0.5377 0.1173 0.6550 0.6614 -0.0064 -1.0%
2009 2008 0.5394 0.1156 0.6550 0.6716 -0.0166 -2.5%
2010 2009 0.5360 0.1190 0.6550 0.6715 -0.0165 -2.5%
2011 2010 0.5397 0.1153 0.6550 0.6573 -0.0023 -0.3%
2012 2011 0.5405 0.1135 0.6540 0.6565 -0.0025 -0.4%

Tax Rate
Adopted Rate v. 

Effective Tax Rate

Adopted Rate v. Rollback 
Tax RateTax Rate

Adopted Rate v. 2.5% 
Rollback  Tax RateTax Rate



2013 2012 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6594 0.0004 0.1%
2014 2013 0.5488 0.1110 0.6598 0.6511 0.0087 1.3%
2015 2014 0.5425 0.1173 0.6598 0.6521 0.0077 1.2%
2016 2015 0.5332 0.1266 0.6598 0.6574 0.0024 0.4%
2017 2016 0.5393 0.1205 0.6598 0.6402 0.0196 3.1%
2018 2017 0.5545 0.1053 0.6598 0.6318 0.0280 4.4%
2019 2018 0.5650 0.0948 0.6598 0.6429 0.0169 2.6%

Average 0.5%
Average last 5 years 2.3%



 

Legislative Position Statement: 

 Unfunded Mandates 

 

Background: 

- Unfunded mandates are state laws or regulations that require a local entity to perform certain actions with no 
provision for funding to fulfill the mandate being imposed. 
 

- Examples of unfunded mandates at the County & City level: 
o Indigent Health Care mandate … Bell County cost = $4,080,500 (3.66 cents on property tax rate)  
o Indigent Legal Defense mandate… Bell County cost = $3,600,000 (2.65 cents on property tax rate) 

 

 

Position Statements & Asks: 

- Unfunded mandates are poor public policy, and the State policy and practice of imposing unfunded mandates 
should stop.  

- Imposing unfunded mandates on local entities contribute to property tax rate increases. 
- Do not support a bill that imposes a duty or obligation on a local entity to perform a certain action without 

providing the full measure of resources to fulfill the duty or obligation being imposed.  
- Pass legislation prohibiting unfunded mandates. This legislation should include a requirement that any 

legislation being proposed also include a fiscal impact note for both the State of Texas and any and all local 
entities that will be charged with a duty or obligation to enforce, perform, and/or comply with the proposed 
legislation.  

 

Resource Points of Contact: 

- Bell County Judge David Blackburn, David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105) 
- Belton City Manager Sam Listi, slisti@beltontexas.gov (254.721.5522) 
- Harker Heights City Manager David Mitchell,  dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us (254.953.5600) 
- Temple City Manager Brynn Myers, bmyers@templetx.gov  (254.298.5600)  

 

Db103018 

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:slisti@beltontexas.gov
mailto:dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us
mailto:bmyers@templetx.gov


 

Legislative Position Statement: 

 Disabled Veterans Tax Exemption 

Background: 

- State law provides that a disabled veteran is entitled to a 100% local property tax exemption. 
- State law provides that a city adjacent to a US military installation and a county in which a US military 

installation is wholly or partly located may be entitled to disabled veteran assistance payment from the State.  
- A city or county qualifies for the disabled veteran’s assistance payment if lost property tax revenue from the 

100% or totally disabled veteran residence homestead exemption under Tax Code Section 11.131 is equal to or 
greater than 2 percent of the city or county general fund revenue for that fiscal year. 

- Killeen and Bell County currently qualify for the disabled veteran’s assistance payment.  
- Killeen lost $3,447,140 in tax levy for FY 2017 and received state reimbursement assistance of $902,952 

o Since 2016 Killeen has lost $15,000,000 in tax revenue due to the disabled veterans tax exemption 
o Killeen’s growth rate for the disabled veterans tax exemption has been 20% a year 

- Bell County lost $4,479,726 in tax levy for FY 2017 and received state reimbursement assistance of $1,500,000 
- Harker Heights does not currently qualify for disabled veterans tax exemption assistance from the State, but 

Harker Heights has lost over $1,674,000 in tax levy due to the exemption (approximately 8% of general fund 
revenues) 

- Belton does not currently qualify for disabled veterans tax exemption assistance from the State, but Belton will 
lose $180,570 in tax levy for FY 2019 due to the exemption (the equivalent of 1.61 cents on the tax rate). 

Position Statements & Asks: 

- We support the disabled veterans tax exemption, and we ask our Legislature to continue to support our disabled 
veterans. 

- Recognize that the disabled veterans tax exemption creates a disproportionate impact on Bell County, Killeen, 
and Harker Heights.  

- Recognize that the growth in the disabled veterans tax exemption is at a faster rate than new property tax 
growth and that this trend has resulted in an increased tax burden on active-duty soldiers, non-disabled 
veterans, military-connected families, and residents.  

- Pass legislation to appropriate funding to fully fund assistance for cities and counties that qualify under the law 
for assistance.  

- Pass legislation that would extend eligibility for the disabled veterans tax exemption assistance from the State to 
include cities within 20 miles of the military installation.  

 

Resource Points of Contact: 

- Bell County Judge David Blackburn (David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105)  
- Killeen City Manager Ron Olson (rolson@killeentexas.gov ) (254.501.7700) 
- Harker Heights City Manager David Mitchell, dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us (254.953.5600) 

Db103018 

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:rolson@killeentexas.gov
mailto:dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us


2009-2010 2017-2018 2018-2019 Tax Effect

Count 16 109 139

Taxable Value 1,467,441$               20,122,983$             27,367,384$             

Taxes Exempted 9,612$                      132,771$                  180,570$                  1.61 cents

100% Disabled Veterans Homestead and Surviving Spouse
Exemption

City of Belton



 

 

Legislative Position Statement: 

School Funding  

Background: 

- Texas is spending 15.6% less per student , in constant dollars, today than it was in 2010, and in addition… 
- Over the past decade, the percentage of state funding relative to local funding for our schools has decreased  
- In 2008, the school finance funding allocations were : State/44.9% ; Local/ 44.8%; Federal/ 10.3% 
- In 2018, the school finance funding allocations were: Local/ 55.5%; State/35%; Federal/ 9.5% 
- From 2008 to 2018, our school population has grown from 4,500,000 to 5,200,000  

- This decade of decreases by the State has shifted fiscal responsibility from the State to the local ISD’s 

- The average Wealth per Average Daily Attendance (‘WADA’) funding from the State for school districts in Bell County is 

$6,095 per student 

 The average WADA funding for all Districts in Texas is $6,383 per student 

 The average WADA funding for Austin ISD is $6,797 per student 

 The average WADA funding for the wealthiest ISD’s in the state is $7,375 per student 

Position Statements & Asks: 

- Despite a 13.7% growth in student population over the past decade, the State’s funding , on a per student basis, has 
declined by 12.6% per student.  This is wrong and should stop. The State must meet and fulfill its constitutional obligations 
for the support and maintenance of an efficient system of public free schools. 

- The current public school funding system is overly complex, confusing and inefficient. Billions of dollars each biennium are 
wasted on funding elements that do not address any state recognized cost. This is wrong and should stop.  

- Pass legislation that adopts and implements the recommendations presented to the Texas Commission of Public School 
Finance in May, 2018 by the Equity Center, to include: 

o Begin school finance reform by recognizing that the solution begins with eliminating inefficiencies  
o If the Equity Center approach is adopted, $3.3 billion dollars of inefficiencies could be rolled back into  the basic 

allotment/equalized wealth level …the result would be an increase in the basic allotment from $5,140 to $5,571 
(including charter schools) and an equalized wealth level increase from $514,000 to $557,100 

- Support a shift from funding based on average daily attendance (to student enrollment) only if the State increases funding 
to the schools. 

- Return to the 2008 funding allocation percentages of equal funding from the State and local ISD’s. 

Resource Points of Contact: 

- Dr. Michael Novotny, Salado ISD Superintendent.. Michael.novotny@saladoisd.org / 254.947.6905 (ph) 

- Dr. Bobby Ott, Temple ISD Superintendent.. bobby.ott@tisd.org / 254. 215.6760 (ph) 

- Dr. Susan Kincannon, Belton Superintendent.. susan.kincannon@bisd.net / 254.215.2004 (ph) 

Db103018 

mailto:Michael.novotny@saladoisd.org
mailto:bobby.ott@tisd.org
mailto:susan.kincannon@bisd.net


Legislative Position Statement 
Disabled Veteran’s Property Tax Exemption 

 

In collaboration with Bell County, the City of Belton, Belton ISD, and other area cities, ISDs and chambers 
of commerce, the Belton Area Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors approved the following 
position statement. 
 
The Texas State Legislature should continue the Disabled Veteran’s Property Tax Exemption, but fully 
fund it and expand the State financial assistance program to include cities within 25 miles of the 
military installation that meet all of the other existing criteria to qualify for financial assistance. 
 
Background: 

• State law provides that a disabled veteran is entitled to a 100% local property tax exemption. 
• State law provides that a city adjacent to a US military installation and a county in which a US 

military installation is wholly or partly located may be entitled to disabled veteran assistance 
payment from the State. 

• A city or county qualifies for the disabled veteran’s assistance payment if lost property tax 
revenue from the 100% or totally disabled veteran residence homestead exemption under Tax 
Code Section 11.131 is equal to or greater than 2 percent of the city or county general fund 
revenue for that fiscal year. 

• Bell County currently qualifies for the disabled veteran’s assistance payment, however, 
o Bell County lost $4,479,726 in tax levy for FY 2017 and received state reimbursement 

assistance of only $1,500,000. 
• Killeen currently qualifies for the disabled veteran’s assistance payment, however, 

o Killeen lost $3,447,140 in tax levy for FY 2017 and received state reimbursement 
assistance of only $902,952. 

o Since 2016, Killeen has lost $15,000,000 in tax revenue due to the disabled veteran’s tax 
exemption. 

o Killeen’s growth rate for the disabled veteran’s tax exemption has been 20% a year. 
• Harker Heights does not currently qualify for disabled veteran’s tax exemption assistance from 

the State, but Harker Heights has lost over $1,674,000 in tax levy due to the exemption 
(approximately 8% of general fund revenues). 

• Belton does not currently qualify for disabled veteran’s tax exemption assistance from the State, 
but Belton will lose $180,570 in tax levy for FY 2019 due to the exemption (the equivalent of 
1.61 cents on the tax rate). 
 

Position Statements & Asks: 
• We support the disabled veteran’s tax exemption, and we ask our Legislature to continue to 

support our disabled veterans. 
• Recognize that the disabled veteran’s tax exemption creates a disproportionate impact on Bell 

County, Killeen, Harker Heights, and Belton. 
• Recognize that the growth in the disabled veteran’s tax exemption is at a faster rate than new 

property tax growth and that this trend has resulted in an increased tax burden on active-duty 
soldiers, non-disabled veterans, military-connected families, and residents. 



Proposed 02/21/19 

• Pass legislation to appropriate funding to fully fund assistance for cities and counties that qualify 
under the law for assistance. 

• Pass legislation that would extend eligibility for the disabled veteran’s tax exemption assistance 
from the State to include cities within 25 miles of the military installation.  

 
Resource Points of Contact: 

• Bell County Judge David Blackburn, David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105) 
• Belton City Manager Sam Listi, slisti@beltontexas.gov (254.721.5522) 
• Killeen City Manager Ron Olson, rolson@killeentexas.gov (254.501.7700) 
• Harker Heights City Manager David Mitchell, dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us (254.953.5600) 

 

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:slisti@beltontexas.gov
mailto:rolson@killeentexas.gov
mailto:dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us


Legislative Position Statement 
Public School Finance 

 

In collaboration with Bell County, the City of Belton, Belton ISD, and other area cities, ISDs and chambers 
of commerce, the Belton Area Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors approved the following 
position statement. 
 
The Texas State Legislature should meet and fulfill its constitutional obligations for the support and 
maintenance of free public schools. In order to truly address property tax relief, the State must 
increase its share of funding for public education. We support adequate and equitable funding for 
public education. We support assistance for fast growth school districts. 
 
Background: 

• Texas is spending 15.6% less per student, in constant dollars, today than it was in 2010. 
• Over the past decade, the percentage of state funding relative to local funding for our schools 

has decreased. 
o In 2008, the school finance funding allocations were: Local/44.8%; State/44.9%; 

Federal/10.3%. 
o In 2018, the school finance funding allocations were: Local/ 55.5%; State/35%; 

Federal/9.5%. 
• From 2008 to 2018, our school population in Texas has grown from 4,500,000 to 5,200,000. 
• This decade of decreases by the State has shifted fiscal responsibility from the State to the local 

ISD’s. 
• The average Wealth per Average Daily Attendance (‘WADA’) funding from the State for school 

districts in Bell County is $6,095 per student 
o The average WADA funding for all Districts in Texas is $6,383 per student 
o The average WADA funding for Austin ISD is $6,797 per student 
o The average WADA funding for the wealthiest ISD’s in the state is $7,375 per student 

• Fast growth school districts like Belton ISD are carrying the extra burden of adding facilities 
without adequate support from the State. 

o Texas public schools enroll an average of 75,000 new students every year, with roughly 
80% of the new students are spread among just 75 of the state’s more than 1,200 public 
school districts statewide. 

o Instructional Facilities Allotment (IFA) and Existing Debt Allotment (EDA) are in statute 
to provide equalized funding assistance for facilities. However, EDA and IFA have not 
been adequately funded to meet the needs of our growing student population. 

 
Position Statements & Asks: 

• Despite a 13.7% growth in student population over the past decade, the State’s funding, on a 
per student basis, has declined by 12.6% per student. This is wrong and should stop. The State 
must meet and fulfill its constitutional obligations for the support and maintenance of an 
efficient system of public free schools. 



Proposed 02/21/19 
 

• The current public school funding system is overly complex, confusing and inefficient. Billions of 
dollars each biennium are wasted on funding elements that do not address any state recognized 
cost. This is wrong and should stop.  

• Pass legislation that adopts and implements recommendations presented to the Texas 
Commission of Public School Finance in 2018, to include: 

o Begin school finance reform by recognizing that the solution begins with eliminating 
inefficiencies. 

o Increase the basic allotment/equalized wealth level to address inequities in the system. 
• Support a shift from funding based on average daily attendance (to student enrollment) only if 

the State increases funding to the schools. 
• At a minimum, return to the 2008 funding allocation percentages of equal funding from the 

State and local ISD’s. 
• Fully funding Instructional Facilities Allotment (IFA) and Existing Debt Allotment (EDA) would 

have a direct impact on reducing property taxes, especially for fast growth school districts like 
Belton ISD. 

• Continue funding for New Instructional Facilities Allotment (NIFA). 
 

Resource Points of Contact: 
• Dr. Susan Kincannon, Belton Superintendent, susan.kincannon@bisd.net (254.215.2004) 
• Dr. Michael Novotny, Salado ISD Superintendent, Michael.novotny@saladoisd.org (254.947.6905) 
• Dr. Bobby Ott, Temple ISD Superintendent, bobby.ott@tisd.org (254. 215.6760) 

mailto:susan.kincannon@bisd.net
mailto:Michael.novotny@saladoisd.org
mailto:bobby.ott@tisd.org


Legislative Position Statement 
Revenue Caps 

 

In collaboration with Bell County, the City of Belton, Belton ISD, and other area cities, ISDs and chambers 
of commerce, the Belton Area Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors approved the following 
legislative position statement. 
 
The Texas State Legislature should not impose any further restrictions on local control by imposing 
lowered revenue caps. Proposed revenue caps will have a detrimental effect on the ability of local 
communities to meet the needs of their community, including public safety. Changes to revenue caps 
should not be implemented prior to public school finance reform. 
 
Background: 
Current law provides for a ‘revenue cap’ (also known as a ‘rollback rate’), which limits local government 
tax rate increases. The current revenue cap for local governments is 8%. Currently, if a city or county 
increases the property tax rate by more than 8% over the previous year, voters can petition for an 
election to ‘rollback’ the increase. In recent legislative sessions, bills have been introduced to replace 
the ‘rollback rate’ with a lower threshold and require mandatory elections on an increase over the 
‘rollback rate.’ The efforts to lower the current revenue cap have been proposed as a measure to 
provide property tax relief. 
 
The City of Belton issued tax-supported bonds in 2013, 2015 and 2018 and made no changes to its 
overall tax rate to pay for the new debt. Instead, Belton lowered its M&O rate in the short-term (with 
plans to rebalance in future years) to accommodate a larger Debt Service Rate while maintaining a 
consistent overall tax rate. With a 2.5% revenue cap placed on M&O tax rates, this sort of management 
would become impractical, as Belton would not have had the ability to ‘rebuild’ its M&O rate following a 
decrease.  
 
In the last five years, the City of Belton’s adopted tax rate has averaged 2.2% above the Effective or “No 
New Revenue” tax rate. That means that the burden to taxpayers has increased at a pace slower than 
inflation and below the 2.5% mark. However, due to the way the truth-in-taxation calculation works, 
Belton would have exceeded a 2.5% M&O revenue cap each of the last five years. 
 
Calculations of the impact on Belton ISD indicate that substantial additional funding from the State 
would be needed to offset lost revenue if revenue caps were set at 2.5%. Models run for past years 
indicate that it would have required an additional $12 million in 2017, and $72 million over the past 10 
years if the lowered cap was in place. Statewide, the required funding to offset losses is calculated at 
$30-43 billion over a 10 year period. While such local property tax relief is desirable, without identified 
revenue sources to offset these losses it is premature to set arbitrary caps. 
 
Position Statements: 

• A lower revenue cap is a misguided, ‘one-size fits all’ solution. Locally elected governmental 
bodies are in the best position to determine the right policy decisions, and to determine the 
revenue and expense requirements for their own localities for the issues and challenges that 



Proposed 02/21/19 

they face. Our local governments need to be able to provide the services that local residents 
need and desire in areas such as health care, streets and roads, and public safety. What’s right 
or desired in one part of our diverse state might not be what’s right or desired in Belton. 

• A lower revenue cap does not address costs outside the control of the local government. 
Unfunded mandates, emergencies, and demand for services caused by rapid population growth 
can all require additional revenue in order to meet costs. 

• A lower revenue cap can negatively affect the fiscal health of local governments by increasing 
the costs of debt through lower bond ratings. Lower revenue caps will result in the inability to 
raise the revenue necessary to adequately fund bond requirements for needed infrastructure. 

• A lower revenue cap hurts the ability of local governments to spur economic development by 
diminishing the flexibility to provide economic incentives. Cities and counties are the economic 
engines of the State and lower revenue caps limit their ability to offer economic incentives. 

• A lower revenue cap restricts the flexibility of local governments not just to raise their tax rates, 
but to balance their community needs responsibly. 

• Local governments are fiscally responsible and are in the best position to know what their 
respective communities need and desire. 

• Establishing lower unrealistic ‘revenue caps’ will push local governments to seek a maximum 
level annually to stay ahead of inflation and unknown future expenditures. 

• Decreasing the current revenue cap is, at best, misguided public policy and will not achieve 
property tax relief. 

• The proposed revenue cap would remove the ability of Belton’s local leaders to manage the 
needs of the City and the burden to taxpayers in the responsible manner in which they have 
proven works, and would ensure that any future bond issue came with a tax increase. 

 
Ask: 

• Leave the revenue cap where it is – at 8%. 
• Recognize that local governments are fiscally responsible and are in the best position to know 

what their respective communities need and desire. 
• Recognize that a solution already exists if local residents believe their local governments have 

not been fiscally responsible or responsive… it’s called an election. 
• Address public school finance reform prior to revenue caps. 

 
Points of Contact: 

• Bell County Judge David Blackburn, David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105) 
• Belton City Manager Sam Listi, slisti@beltontexas.gov (254.721.5522) 
• Belton ISD Superintendent Dr. Susan Kincannon, susan.kincannon@bisd.net (254.215.2000) 
• Temple City Manager Brynn Myers, Bmyers@templetx.gov (254.298.5600) 

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:slisti@beltontexas.gov
mailto:susan.kincannon@bisd.net
mailto:Bmyers@templetx.gov


Proposed 02/21/19 

Legislative Position Statement 
Unfunded Mandates 

 

In collaboration with Bell County, the City of Belton, Belton ISD, and other area cities, ISDs and chambers 
of commerce, the Belton Area Chamber of Commerce Board of Directors approved the following 
position statement. 
 
The Texas State Legislature should cease the practice of passing state laws that require a local entity 
to perform certain actions with no provision for funding to fulfill the mandate being imposed. 
 
We further request the Texas State Legislature pass legislation prohibiting the practice of passing 
unfunded mandates and that the legislation requires that any and all bills being considered by the 
Legislature include a fiscal impact note for both the State of Texas and any and all local entities that will 
be subjected to the proposed legislation. 
 
Background: 
Unfunded mandates are state laws or regulations that require a local entity to perform certain actions 
with no provision for funding to fulfill the mandate being imposed. 
 
Examples of the impact of unfunded mandates on our local area: 

• Indigent Health Care mandate – Bell County cost = $4,080,500 (3.66 cents on property tax rate) 
• Indigent Legal Defense mandate – Bell County cost = $3,600,000 (2.65 cents on property tax rate) 

 
Position Statements & Asks: 

• Unfunded mandates are poor public policy, and the State policy and practice of imposing 
unfunded mandates should stop. 

• Imposing unfunded mandates on local entities contribute to local property tax rate increases. 
• Do not support a bill that imposes a duty or obligation on a local entity to perform a certain 

action without providing the full measure of resources to fulfill the duty or obligation being 
imposed.  

• Pass legislation prohibiting unfunded mandates. This legislation should include a requirement 
that any legislation being proposed also include a fiscal impact note for both the State of Texas 
and any and all local entities that will be charged with a duty or obligation to enforce, perform, 
and/or comply with the proposed legislation.  

 
Resource Points of Contact: 

• Bell County Judge David Blackburn, David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov (254.933.5105) 
• Belton City Manager Sam Listi, slisti@beltontexas.gov (254.721.5522) 
• Harker Heights City Manager David Mitchell, dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us (254.953.5600) 
• Temple City Manager Brynn Myers, bmyers@templetx.gov (254.298.5600) 

mailto:David.Blackburn@bellcounty.texas.gov
mailto:slisti@beltontexas.gov
mailto:dmitchell@ci.harker-heights.tx.us
mailto:bmyers@templetx.gov


RESOLUTION 2019-08-R 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, BELL COUNTY, 
TEXAS SUPPORTING BELL COUNTY’S 2019 TEXAS LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES; AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACT AS THE CITY’S EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE IN ALL MATTERS PERTAINING TO THESE 
PRIORITIES. 
 
WHEREAS, the 86th Session of the Texas State Legislature is currently in session in Austin; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Belton’s 2019-2023 Strategic Plan emphasizes working with our local legislators 
on locally determined priorities; and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to the start of the Session, Belton communicated several priorities to Senator 
Dawn Buckingham and Representative Hugh Shine; and 
 
WHEREAS, Bell County Judge David Blackburn drafted Legislative Position Statements on 
four related topics and has solicited area support to achieve a consensus on these critical 
matters; and 
 
WHEREAS, we have incorporated Belton impacts into the drafted Position Statements; and 
 
WHEREAS, Temple, Bell County, the Belton Area Chamber of Commerce, and others have 
endorsed or plan to endorse similar Position Statements; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, 
BELL COUNTY, TEXAS, THAT THE CITY OF BELTON: 
 

1. Endorses the attached four Position Statements including: 
a. Avoiding Changes to Revenue Caps 
b. Avoiding Unfunded Mandates 
c. Expanding Assistance to Cities affected by the Disabled Veterans Tax Exemption 
d. Addressing School Funding 

 
2. Encourages our State Legislators, Senator Dawn Buckingham and Representative 

Hugh Shine, to respect local community sentiments and avoid imposing “one size fits 
all” legislation that impedes local governmental authority. 

 
Passed and approved this 26th day of February, 2019. 
 
 

_________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
______________________ 
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 


	Agenda - 022619
	City Manager's Memo
	#3 - Minutes - 021219
	#4 - City Manager's Employment Agreement
	#5 - Staff Report - CDBG Grant Resolution
	#5 - Attachments
	#6 - Staff Report - FIG 112 Central Avenue
	#6 - Attachments
	#7 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 406 N Loop 121
	#7 - Attachments
	#8 - Staff Report - Zoning Change 795 E. Central Ave
	#8 - Attachments
	#9 - Staff Report - Final Plat Three Creeks VI
	#9 - Attachments
	#10 - Staff Report - Final Plat Three Creeks VII
	#10 - Attachments
	#11 - Staff Report - Final Plat Eagles Bend
	#11 - Attachments
	#12 - Staff Report - Final Plat Sherwood Shores IX
	#12 - Attachments
	#13 - Staff Report - Final Plat Lopez Addition
	#13 - Attachments
	#14 - Staff Report - Atmos Franchise
	#14 - Attachments
	#15A - Staff Report - FIG 106 W. Central North Facade
	#15A - Attachments
	#15B - Staff Report - Appeal of HPC Decision
	#15B - Attachments
	#16 - Staff Report - Halff Amendment SBSS Phase 2
	#16 - Attachments
	#17 - Staff Report - Settle Liens 915 S Pearl
	#17 - Attachments
	#18 - Staff Report - Legislative Priorities
	#18 - Attachments



